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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

Chair
The Most Rev Dr Richard Clarke, Archbishop of Armagh*

Committee Chairpersons

Executive Mr Henry Saville
Canon Graham Richards (Deputy) "The Most Rev
Allocations Canon Graham Richards Dr Richard Clarke
Investment Mr Kevin Bowers
Property Mr Keith Roberts
Stipends Mr Michael Johnstonf
Library and Archives Ms Ethne Harkness}
Legal Advisory Mr Lyndon MacCann SC
Audit Canon Graham Richards

Chief Officer and Secretary
Mr David Ritchie

The Representative Church Body (RCB) was incorporated by Charter in 1870 under the
provisions of the Irish Church Act, 1869. Its legal structure is that of charitable trustee or
trust corporation with perpetual succession.

The main activities of the RCB involve management of investments, administration of
trusts and Gift Aid, payment of stipends and pensions, property and legal transactions and
treasury management as well as supporting the core work of the Church by providing
finance for the sustentation of the clergy and pensioners, training of ordinands, education,
youth, communications etc. The RCB Library is the repository for the archives of the
Church and the Library for the Church of Ireland Theological Institute and the Church at
large. The committee structure is designed to reflect these activities and responsibilities.

Office Library
Church of Ireland House Braemor Park
Church Avenue Churchtown
Rathmines  Dublin 6 Dublin 14

Tel 01-4978422 Fax 01-4978821
Email <office@rcbdub.org>
Website <https://rcb.ireland.anglican.org>

Tel 01-4923979
Fax 01-4924770
Email <library@ireland.anglican.org>

The Representative Church Body is Registered Charity Number 20003623.
CHY (Revenue) Number: 2900.

* retired February 2020 (Rt Rev John McDowell elected successor March 2020)
T appointed September 2019 in place of Mr William Oliver
1 appointed September 2019 in place of Dr Michael Webb
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

In accordance with the Charter of Incorporation (1870) the Representative Body is composed of
ex-officio, elected and co-opted members. The ex-officio members are the archbishops and bishops,
the elected members consist of one clerical and two lay representatives for each diocese and the co-
opted members consist of persons equal in number to the number of dioceses. (See also Constitution
of the Church of Ireland Chapter X).

The Representative Body is composed of the following sixty members, shown with recorded
attendance figures for the four meetings held during 2019. Two Honorary Secretaries of the
General Synod are in attendance at meetings.

A Archbishops and Bishops: ex-officio members (12)

The Most Rev Dr Richard Clarke*, Archbishop of Armagh
The Most Rev Dr Michael Jackson, Archbishop of Dublin
The Most Rev Pat Storey, Bishop of Meath and Kildare

The Rt Rev John McDowell, Bishop of Clogher

The Rt Rev Andrew Forstert, Bishop of Derry and Raphoe
The Rt Rev David McClay}, Bishop of Down and Dromore
The Rt Rev Alan Abernethyq], Bishop of Connor

The Rt Rev Ferran Glenfield, Bishop of Kilmore

The Rt Rev Patrick Rooke, Bishop of Tuam

The Rt Rev Michael Burrows, Bishop of Cashel, Ferns and Ossory
The Rt Rev Dr Paul Colton, Bishop of Cork, Cloyne and Ross
The Rt Rev Kenneth Kearon, Bishop of Limerick and Killaloe

AN LWWOSORDNDWRASRM

==}

Elected members (36)

The date in brackets after a member’s name denotes the year in which he/she is due to retire
(Constitution Chapter X Section 3). Outgoing members are eligible for re-election provided they
have not reached 74 years of age by 1 January preceding election.

Ven Terence Scott (2021)
Mrs Ethne Harkness (2022)
Mrs Jane Leighton (2020)

Armagh

Clogher Ven Brian Harper (2021)
Mr William Allen§ (2022)

Mr Henry Robinson (2020)

Rev Canon Henry Gilmore (2020)
Mr Stanley McFarland (2021)
Mr John Junkin|| (2022)

Derry and
Raphoe

— NN D=0 N D

* retired February 2020 (Rt Rev John McDowell elected successor March 2020)

T consecrated Dec 2019 in place of Rt Rev Kenneth Good (retired May 2019), formerly a co-opted member
I consecrated January 2020 in place of Rt Rev Harold Miller (retired September 2019)

9| retired December 2019 (Ven George Davison elected successor February 2020)

§ elected September 2019 in place of Mrs Julie Parker (retired September 2019)

|| elected October 2019 in place of Miss Elaine Sproule (retired October 2019)
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Down and
Dromore

Ven Roderic West (2021)
Mr Basil O’Malley (2022)
Mr Michael Johnston (2020)

4

2

4
Connor 4 Ven Stephen McBride (2021)

3 Mrs Cynthia Cherry (2022)

4 Mr Oswyn Paulin* (2020)
Kilmore, 2 Very Rev Nigel Crossey (2020)
Elphinand 1 Miss Maud Cunningham (2021)
Ardagh 3 Mrs Deborah Davitt (2022)
Tuam, 2 Very Rev Alistair Grimason (2020)
Killalaand 2 Prof Paul Johnston (2021)
Achonry 4 Mrs Heather Pope (2022)
Dublinand 2 Ven David Pierpoint (2021)
Glendalough 2 Mr Robert Neill (2022)

4 Mr Geoffrey Perrin (2020)
Meath 3 Ven Leslie Stevenson (2021)
and 3 Mr Ronald Colton (2022)
Kildare 3 Mr Kevin Bowers (2020)
Cashel, 3 Rev Canon Brian O’Rourke (2020)
Ferns and 1 Mr William Galloway (2021)
Ossory 4 Mrs Hazel Corrigan (2022)
Cork, 4 Ven Adrian Wilkinson (2020)
Cloyne and 3 Mr Keith Roberts (2021)
Ross 3 Mrs Helen Arnopp (2022)
Limerick 4 Ven Wayne Carney (2020)
and 2 Ms Yvonne Blennerhassett (2021)
Killaloe 4 Mr Roy Benson (2022)

C Co-opted members (12)

0  Mr Henry Algeo (2021) 2 Mrs Judith Peters§ (2022)

1 Ms Julie Beckt (2020) 3 Ms Hilary Prentice (2021)

0  Sir Paul Girvani (2022) 4 Canon Graham Richards (2021)
1 Mr David Loweq (2022) 4 Mr Henry Saville (2021)

3 Mr Lyndon MacCann SC (2021) 1 Mrs Wendy Taylor (2020)

4  Mr William Oliver (2020) Vacant|| (2020)

* elected February 2019 in place of Mrs Pauline High (retired December 2018)

T elected September 2019 in place of Mr Richard Milliken

i elected September 2019 in place of Mr Terence Forsyth

9| elected May 2019 in place of Dr Michael Webb

§ eligible to attend three meetings maximum due to triennial retirement (re-elected May 2019)
|| arising from the consecration of Rt Rev Andrew Forster to the episcopate (December 2019)
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COMMITTEES OF THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY
The Executive, Allocations, Investment, Property, Stipends, Library and Archives, Legal Advisory
and Audit Committees are elected triennially from the members of the Representative Body. The
current triennium for members and chairpersons ends in September 2022. Membership details

together with numbers of meetings held and record of attendances for the year 2019 are shown below.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
7 meetings

Mr Henry Saville - 7

(Chair)
Mr Henry Saville
Most Rev Dr Richard Clarke* 5 Rev Canon Henry Gilmore 7
Most Rev Dr Michael Jackson 5 Ven Terence Scott] 0
Rt Rev Dr Paul Colton 2 Ven Adrian Wilkinson 5
Canon Graham Richards 7 Mr Henry Algeof 1
Mr Kevin Bowers 6 Mrs Ethne Harkness§ 1
Mr Keith Roberts 7 Mr Lyndon MacCann SC 5
Mr Michael Johnstont 2 Mr Geoffrey Perrin 6
Adviser: Mr Robert Neill 7

The Executive Committee has an overall responsibility to protect the interests of the
Representative Body and its trusts, to consider and, if thought fit, to give approval to the
recommendations of the subsidiary committees, to give formal approval to routine property and
trust transactions, to formulate legislative proposals and policy for approval, to liaise with other
central organisations and dioceses and to deal with all matters affecting the employment and
remuneration of staff including specialist appointments where the Representative Body is a party
to any contract of employment.

The Archbishops and the Chairpersons of the Allocations, Investment, Property and Stipends
Committees are ex officio members of the Executive Committee. Mr Robert Neill was appointed
as an Adviser to the Executive Committee following his retirement from the Chair in September
2016. During 2019 Ven George Davison attended Executive Committee meetings as an
Honorary Secretary of the General Synod.

Prayer read at the commencement of all Executive Committee meetings

Almighty God, we meet in your presence to exercise stewardship of the resources of this
Church. Grant to us a clear mind and judgement in all things, a willingness to seek your will
for the Church and an awareness of the trust and responsibility given to us. Guide us with your
wisdom and lead us in the paths of truth. This we ask through Jesus Christ, our Lord. Amen.

* retired February 2020 (Rt Rev John McDowell elected successor March 2020)

T appointed September 2019 in place of Mr William Oliver (retired September 2019)
1 elected December 2019 in place of Rt Rev Andrew Forster (retired December 2019)
9| elected September 2019 in place of Mr Terence Forsyth (retired May 2019)

§ elected September 2019 in place of Dr Michael Webb (retired May 2019)
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ALLOCATIONS COMMITTEE
3 meetings

Canon Graham Richards - 3

(Chair)
Canon Graham Richards
Ms Helen Armopp 3 Rt Rev Andrew Forster 3
Most Rev Dr Richard Clarke* 3 Mr Robert Neill 2

The function of the Allocations Committee is to investigate requests for financial support
and make recommendations to the Executive Committee or the Representative Body for
the annual allocation; to maintain a ‘watching brief” on the use and deployment of
resources allocated to committees and organisations including their budgetary procedures
and accounting policies; to anticipate financial pressures ahead and plan forward
accordingly, to ensure that trust limitations are observed in the use of Representative Body
funds and to co-ordinate with other financial bodies (Priorities Fund Committee,
Investment Committee, Stipends Committee, Pensions Board etc).

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

4 meetings

Mr Kevin Bowers - 4 .
(Chair) N

—
Mr Kevin Bowers

Mr Henry Algeo 2 Mr David Lowet 2
Mr Roy Benson 3 Ms Hilary Prentice 4
Mr William Galloway 3 Ms Wendy Taylor 3
Advisers: Mr Terence Forsythi 4

Mr Tim McCormick 3

The function of the Investment Committee is to undertake oversight and supervisory
duties in relation to the investment of funds managed by the Representative Body (RB).
The Committee reports to the RB through the Executive Committee and conducts its
business in accordance with the Constitution of the Church of Ireland, the Committee’s
Terms of Reference, applicable legislation or regulation, the RB’s policy in relation to
Environmental and Social Governance (ESG) and the RB’s general policies, principles
and values.

* retired February 2020 (replacement to be elected)
T appointed September 2019 in place of Mr Terence Forsyth (retired May 2019)
1 appointed June 2019 following retirement as a member of the Committee
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PROPERTY COMMITTEE
5 meetings

Mr Keith Roberts - 5

(Chair)
Mr Keith Roberts
Mr Ronald Colton 3 Mr Stanley McFarland 5
Miss Maud Cunningham 3 Mr Henry Robinson 4
Ms Deborah Davitt 1 Ven Terence Scott* 2
Mrs Jane Leighton 5 Ven Roderic West 5
Adviser: ~ Mr Sam Harper 5

The function of the Property Committee is to process all matters affecting glebes,
churches, parochial buildings and graveyards vested in the Representative Body in
accordance with statutory responsibilities as laid down in the Constitution of the Church
of Ireland, to manage the buildings directly under the control of the Representative Body,
to co-ordinate with diocesan see house committees and care for see houses and all
residences provided for the use of church officers, to care for all properties assigned by
the Representative Body for the use and occupation of retired clergy and surviving
spouses, to assist and provide guidance in the planning and disposal of redundant churches
and the contents thereof, to provide technical support and advice to parishes and dioceses,
to maintain property records and registers and generally to report to the Executive
Committee or to the Representative Body as appropriate.

Note: Representatives of the dioceses who are members of the Representative Body are
entitled to attend meetings of the Property Committee when relevant diocesan
property matters are under consideration.

* appointed March 2019 in place of Ms Pauline High (retired December 2018)
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STIPENDS COMMITTEE

2 meetings

Mr Michael Johnston*- 1 { “F
(Chair) NaalEA

Mr Michael Johnston
Rt Rev Dr Paul Colton 1 Mrs Jane Leighton 2
Ms Hazel Corrigan 2 Mr Basil O’Malley 1
Ven Brian Harper 1 Mr Geoffrey Perrin 2
Prof Paul Johnston 2 Ven David Pierpoint 1
Adviser: Mr William Olivert 1

The function of the Stipends Committee is to make recommendations concerning Minimum
Approved Stipends, mileage rates for locomotory expenses, and the remuneration, expenses
and budgets for the episcopate and other church officers, to monitor changes in taxation and
State legislation insofar as clerical remuneration matters are concerned, to investigate and make
recommendations in relation to grant aid requests from dioceses for the support of the Ministry
and the training of newly ordained clergy, to consult with dioceses and make recommendations
to provide for the better maintenance of the Ministry generally, to monitor and report on the
implementation of the recommendations of the Clergy Remuneration and Benefits Committee
as approved by General Synod in 1990 and report to the Executive Committee or to the
Representative Body as appropriate.

LIBRARY AND ARCHIVES COMMITTEE

4 meetings

Mrs Ethne Harkness] - 4 ‘
(Chair) o »
Mrs Ethne Harkness

Prof Paul Johnston 3 Mr Oswyn Paulin 1
Rt Rev John McDowell 3 Rt Rev Patrick Rooke 1
Advisers: Rev Canon Dr Maurice Elliott 4

Rev Dr Adrian Empey 4

Dr Kenneth Milne 1

Rev Robin Bantry White 3

The function of the Library and Archives Committee is to oversee the management of the RCB
Library and its resources having regard to trusts and objectives; to oversee the maintenance of the
archives and Church records generally (including records of contents of churches and of church
plate); to co-operate with the Theological Institute and committees using the Library premises and
to provide a cost-effective service to the Church and the public at large subject to the approval of
the Executive Committee or the Representative Body as appropriate and budget limitations.

* appointed September 2019 in place of Mr William Oliver (retired May 2019)

T appointed October 2019 following retirement as a member of the Committee

} appointed September 2019 in place of Dr Michael Webb (retired May 2019)

9 appointed December 2019 in place of Mrs Ethne Harkness (appointed to Chair September 2019)
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LEGAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

0 meetings
Mr Lyndon MacCann SC
‘ (Chair)
Mr Lyndon MacCann
Mr Anthony Aston SC Mrs Judith Peters
The Hon Mr Justice Declan Budd Mr William Prentice
Rt Rev Dr Paul Colton Mr Andrew Walker

The function of the Legal Advisory Committee is to advise the Representative Body on
any legal or trust matter which the Executive Committee or the Representative Body may
properly refer to it.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
3 meetings

Canon Graham Richards - 3
(Chair)

PN
Canon Graham Richards

Mr Roy Benson 2 Ms Hilary Prentice 3
Mr Michael Johnston* 3

The Audit Committee’s primary function is to assist the Representative Body in fulfilling
its oversight responsibilities by reviewing the financial statements, the systems of internal
control, the audit process and the risk register. The Committee meets twice yearly with
the auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, to review the scope of the audit programme prior
to audit, the outcomes for the year when the audit is completed and any issues arising
from the audit. The Committee reviews the risk register annually.

* retired December 2019 (replacement to be elected)
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REPORT ON THE YEAR 2019

The Representative Church Body (RCB) is the charitable trustee of the Church of Ireland
for dioceses and parishes in the Republic of Ireland and Northern Ireland.

The RCB exists to inform, to support and to manage resources for the advancement of the
mission and ministry of the Church of Ireland.

The services provided include:

Investment management

Property and trust administration

Clergy payroll and pension administration

Safeguarding and human resource advisory

Legal, GDPR and charities advisory

Library and archive management

Synod, communications, education and committee support

YVVVVVYYVY

The cost of providing these services are predominantly derived from income generated
from the RCB General Funds.

A particular focus for 2019 was the further development of both child and adult
safeguarding. A new Safeguarding Officer for the Republic of Ireland, Robert Dunne, was
appointed in March. The two safeguarding officers provide a co-ordinated approach to
safeguarding reporting jointly to the Safeguarding Board, with the Safeguarding Board
comprising representatives from the House of Bishops, the RB Executive Committee,
Honorary Secretaries of the General Synod and clergy. During 2019 training was provided
to parish panels, diocesan support teams, and students of the theological institute. The
Safeguarding Officers also supervise PSNI and Garda vetting for which we are continually
seeking to improve the service provided to the Church of Ireland.

Following the introduction of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) on 25 May
2018 the RCB provided training and advice to parishes and dioceses in relation to these
regulations and their implication. During 2019 the RCB Data Protection Policy was
approved. This governance framework defines Data Controllers and Data Processors for
the Church of Ireland. Further information is available on the parish resources website at
<https://www.ireland.anglican.org/parish-resources/>

Financial performance

During 2019 the total funds of the RCB increased by 13% to €203.0m (2018: €179.3m), this
increase is attributed to positive market performance and is after expenses and allocations.

General Funds invested assets peaked at €238m at the end of 2006 just before the recession
low of €122m at the end of 2008. Between 2010 and 2014 €25m of General Funds was
transferred to the clergy defined benefit pension scheme. Yet despite this exceptional
withdrawal General Funds have steadily recovered, despite a decline during 2018, to reach
the current high of €190.7m. The expectation is that any short-term growth will be modest

13
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as the portfolio is conservatively positioned including a 9% cash holding (2019: 6%) so as
to provide a hedge against any market correction and to allow for re-investment at more
attractive valuation levels.

During 2019, a review was undertaken with regard to the performance of the externally
managed funds. Following consideration of four short-listed fund managers the RCB took
the decision to transfer the externally managed equity portfolio from Lazard Asset
Management to a segregated global equity fund with Sarasin & Partners. The decision to
select a segregated fund was driven partly by the requirement to be able to ensure
compliance with current and future ESG requirements.

General Funds invested assets

250
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Budgeted withdrawal

The RCB uses Total Return as our budget mechanism in order to determine the long term
sustainable maximum withdrawal from General Funds. In 2017 the RCB set the following

Total Return withdrawal formula to be applicable for the following five years until the end
of 2021.

Total Return max withdrawal = 3.5% of previous S year average opening funds

During 2019 the RCB managed to achieve a Total Return surplus. Although this is a
commendable achievement, we would note caution as the portfolio has not recovered to pre-
2008 levels, global markets are at elevated levels, and market return expectations are reducing
due to the current and prevailing low interest rate environment and high valuation multiples.

Allocations
The RCB General Funds are the unrestricted funds for which the RCB is the trustee. The

Total Return withdrawal is used to cover the cost of providing services to both parishes and
dioceses and also to finance other activities funded by the Representative Church Body.

14



The Representative Church Body — Report 2020

During 2019 expenditure from RCB General Funds and other central funds was as shown
below:

Allocation of funds

RCB Service
Delivery Costs
49%

General Synod
14%

Misc Ministry
Support
2%
Chaplaincy
4%
Theological Episcopacy
Training Clergy Pension 12%
17% Costs
2%
2019 2018
RCB service delivery including staff costs €3.6m  €3.4m
Episcopacy including maintenance of See Houses €09m  €0.9m
Theological Institute including grants and housing €12m €12m
Chaplaincy including Belfast and Dublin €03m  €0.3m
Clergy pension costs €0.lm  €0.lm
Miscellaneous ministry support €0.lm  €0.lm

General Synod including CIYD, education and press office €1.0m  €1.0m

Total expenditure €72m  €7.0m
The expenditure of the RCB above remains broadly in line with previous years.
Church Fabric and Development Fund

In 2016 the Church Fabric and Development Fund was broadened to allow the application
of some of the central Church Fabric and Development Fund towards initiatives that would
facilitate the strategic growth of the Church of Ireland. The guidelines for application to
the central fund were that initiatives should:

Develop the strategic advancement of Church and mission
Be applicable to more than one diocese

Raise the public profile of the Church of Ireland

Be sustainable in the medium term

YV VYV
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During 2017 the Church Fabric and Development Fund sub-group approved:
» Funding for review for Dioceses of Meath and Kildare €7,500

During 2018 the Church Fabric and Development Fund sub-group approved:

» Three year funding to support Ordained Local Ministry €36,000
» Five year funding to support Pioneer Ministry £35,000
» Funding for an external review of the Church of Ireland €10,000
» Housing study — Dublin and Glendalough Dioceses € 5,000

During 2019 the Church Fabric and Development Fund sub-group approved:

» Commission on Ministry — Clergy vocations €10,000
» CIYD youth development bursaries €10,000
» Ploughing Championship grant € 5,000
» Commission on Ministry — Lay vocations € 7,000
» Armagh Deanery redevelopment £20,000

The funding above is total funding which may be spread across the term of each initiative.
RB General Unit Trusts

Parishes, Dioceses and other Church of Ireland charitable organisations may invest in the
RB General Unit Trusts. There are two separate unit trusts one for Euro investments the
RB General Unit Trust (RI) and one for Sterling investments the RB General unit Trust
(ND).

At the end of 2019, the RB General Unit Trust (RI) was valued at €244m (2018: €210m)
and the RB General Unit Trust (NI) was valued at £60m (2018: £55m).

During 2019 the decision was made to change the year end for the unit trusts from the end
of June to the end of December. This decision will simplify reporting as well as the audit
process as their year ends will coincide with that of the financial statements for the RCB.

The yield and dividends paid during the year were:

Dividend yield June dividend December dividend
RB General Unit Trust (RI) 2.74% 7.3c 4.2¢
RB General Unit Trust (NI) 2.76% 6.3p 4.5p

The objective of the Unit Trusts is to provide a stable, sustainable and competitive
distribution rate. During 2019 the RB Executive Committee took the decision not to
increase the dividend per unit for either fund. During 2019 net additional units valued at
€1.5m and £0.5m were issued by the RB General Unit Trust (RI) and the RB General Unit
Trust (NI) respectively.

16
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Clergy Pensions
There are three clergy pension schemes in operation.

The Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Fund was closed to future accruals in May 2013.
This defined benefit pension scheme is administered by the RCB. The most recent triennial
valuation of the Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Fund was completed as at 30 September
2018. The conclusion of the scheme actuary was the scheme was on track to achieve its
funding standard objective by 2023.

At the 2019 year end the value of the fund was €190m (2018: €167m). During the year the
proportion of de-risked assets, as defined by the Pensions Authority, were increased from
15% to 29% so as to take advantage of recent market growth and to protect the Fund from
future market vulnerability. During 2019, the RCB introduced processes to report in
accordance with Central Bank statistical reporting.

In addition to any pension benefits accrued under the Clergy Pensions Fund, current
serving clergy who are members of either the Clergy Defined Contribution Pension
Scheme NI or the Clergy Defined Contribution Pension Scheme ROI, accrue pension
benefits on a defined contribution basis. With a defined contribution scheme the final
pension will be determined by a number of factors including investment choice and any
additional benefit derived from additional voluntary contributions.

Property and trusts

The RCB acts as trustee for the property of the Church of Ireland. There are over 2,000
properties vested in the RCB for which the RCB safeguards the title documentation,
reducing trustee liability and removing the need to have local trustees.

In May 2019, Trevor Stacey, the Head of Property and Trusts, retired from the RCB. The
Property and Trusts department has been managed on an interim basis by the Property and
Trusts Manager, Fern Jolley.

During 2019, a project was initiated to review the property and trust processes. The
objective of this initiative is to improve the efficiency, accessibility and effectiveness of
the Property and Trusts Department. The property and trusts processes have been mapped
and the review is continuing to determine the optimum processes.

In February 2020, Pauline High joined the RCB as Property Manager and will be jointly
responsible, with the Property and Trusts Manager, for the Property and Trusts Department.

The first phase of the project to digitise the over 23,000 trusts held by the RCB on behalf
of parishes, dioceses and other Church of Ireland bodies was completed. All the trust files
have been digitised and are accessible on the RCB network greatly improving staff access.
During 2020, the trust master file which provides summary trust details will be reviewed
and addition information added to further improve the usability of the trust information.

17
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During the year the RCB received the following trusts to be administered in accordance
with the trust objects:

» Rev AE Crotty Will Trust for retired clergy medical needs. (£138k)
»  The Boake memorial Fund for clergy widows. (€498k)

The RCB is the trustee of the Church of Ireland College of Education Fund Trust. The
income from the trust supports the work of the Church of Ireland Centre at DCU and the
trust lands at 96 Upper Rathmines Road are currently licenced to Alexandra College
Dublin.

Library and archives

The RCB Library houses parish records, church plate and other material of historical
interest to the Church of Ireland. The Library also supports the Theological Institute by
providing study resources and a place of study for both theological students and the public
at large.

The Library sourced core reading materials for ministerial training, and processed a wide
variety of parish, diocesan, central Church records and manuscript material. In
collaboration with national cultural institutions including the Irish Architectural Archive
and the wider Church of Ireland, it extended its reach to external audiences through online
presentations, lectures and the staging of a major public exhibition entitled 4 Visual
Window to an Ecclesiastical World featuring its collection of architectural drawings.

Detailed grant application submissions for State funding were rewarded with an initial
€100,000 received from the Department of the Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht to
commence the process of digitizing parish registers of baptisms, marriages and burials.
Additionally, the Library received a grant from the Department of Foreign Affairs of
€28,355 to enable completion of the digitisation of the Church of Ireland Gazette as a
contribution to reconciliation. The RCB is grateful to the Irish government for both these
grants.

Climate change

The RCB has continued its commitment to address the problem of climate change.
Initiatives undertaken include:

» Impact investment, where we invest in environmentally supportive companies

» Improving urban pollination, through locating bees on RCB premises

» Encouraging energy efficiency, when approving building works

» Reducing travel, through encouraging use of public transport and remote meetings
» Reducing waste, by adopting reusable coffee cups, using recycled products

» Building awareness, through our support of Eco-Congregation

The RCB is committed to divesting from companies involved in fossil fuel extraction by
2022 as per the motion passed by General Synod in 2018.

18
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Parish Resources and communications

During 2019 the RCB continued to update and develop the Parish Resources section of the
Church of Ireland website <www.ireland.anglican.org/parish-resources>. New topics are
added to the Hot Topics section, during 2018 extensive additional information of particular
use to parishes was added covering:

»  Brexit preparation information for parishes
»  General Data Protection Regulation guidelines for parishes
»  Latest RCB environmental initiatives

DEU A member of the Anglican Communion Document Library  Directory  Vacancies Legals Confact Q -)]

About Owr Faith Children & Youth Prayer & Worship Find a Church FParish Resources MNews

'welc Ome to ﬁ%ﬁ?;ﬁ?;ﬁiﬂg the mission and
Parish Resources

Handbook
New Members

Roles & Dufies and Effective T Generous Giving Programme
Meetings 3
Encouraging Generpsity
Guidelines :
Leqgacy Giving
Chuarity Trusteeship

. Advice for Treasurers ¥-a”’ . Environmental Sustainability
Parish y :
Fil’lancgs Accounts & Budgets (NI} . _ { Brexit Fact Sheet for Parishes

2 L 1 Accounts & Budgets (RI) | b4 General Data Protect
1 . Requlation {(GDPR) for
o Managing Investments Parishes
P— (hyje] ?
— = Funding & Grants . . Guidelines concerning Parish
F Records & Memorials in Burial
Grounds

Guidelines & Policies
Forms & Questionnaires
i Common Questions

Property Grants

; E
L a,f_ a;  Environmental Sustainability
e i i

If you have suggestions as to additional content that would be useful for your parish please
provide feedback through the Contact Us tab at the bottom of the Parish Resources webpage.

The RCB is grateful for the generosity of Allchurches Trust in support of this project.
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Organisational and staff development

During 2019 the RCB commenced an initiative to rebuild trust within the RCB and between
the RB Executive Committee and the RCB following the wind-up of the RCB staff defined
benefit pension scheme. This initiative is ongoing and will continue into 2020.

Acknowledgements

The membership of the Representative Body and its committees comprises clergy and lay
volunteers who give generously of their time and expertise, without whom the work of the
RCB could not be achieved.

The Representative Body and its committees acknowledge the dedication of the staff in
Church of Ireland House Dublin, Church of Ireland House Belfast and in the RCB Library.
In particular we would like to thank Trevor Stacey who retired as Head of Property and
Trusts after 46 years of service with the RCB, and also Vicki Hastie who resigned from the
RCB to take up the position of Assistant Diocesan Secretary for the Dioceses of Dublin
and Glendalough.

FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL REVIEW 2019
The accounts of the Representative Church Body commence on page 55.
e Commentary

A) The Statement of Financial Activities (SoFA) of the Representative Church Body
is shown on page 66. While the RCB has moved to a Total Return model for
managing General Funds and for budgeting the annual withdrawal from General
Funds, the SoFA is presented in the traditional format in line with generally
accepted accounting standards and recognises actual income.

The SoFA shows the income and expenditure, investment and currency gains or
losses and capital receipts or withdrawals of funds. The SoFA layout shows the
income generated from General Funds and Parish, Diocesan and Other Trust Funds
along with the costs of operations and distributions which support the wider Church.

The column showing RCB activities is the cost of operations for central service, trustee
and governance costs of the RCB. In the General Funds column these costs represent
the charge out of costs from the RCB to General Funds, central Church allocations,
investment and currency gains and losses and the opening and closing value of funds.

The Parish, Diocesan and Other Trust Funds column shows the income and
expenditure relating to trusts, cash managed for the wider Church, Gift Aid claimed
for and repaid to parishes, investment and currency gains or losses and opening and
closing value of the funds.
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RCB activities and General Funds

General Funds total funds increased in value by €23.70m to €202.98m. This is due
to unrealised gains on investment revaluation, gains on the sale of investments and
currency gains on favourable currency exchange.

Incoming resources

The RCB operates a Total Return model which recognises income and capital
appreciation. The Total Return model facilitates a more diversified longer-term
investment focus and moves away from a pure income focus.

Total incoming resources under the traditional income model of €5.16m shows a
decrease on the prior year of €0.38m (2018: €5.53m). Investment income of €4.52m
sees a decrease on the prior year of €0.48m (2018: €4.99m), mainly due to a more
conservative investment strategy with the exiting of certain property positions, the
sale of certain high yielding bonds and more cash held within the Fund.

Grants and other income of €0.23m include €0.14m from Allchurches Trust to
support specific projects for which the RCB is most grateful and €0.08m of
investment income generated from the proceeds of the sale of St Mary’s Home to
support ministerial training. The RCB also received €0.03m under the VAT
compensation scheme in 2019 relating to VAT paid in 2018 on goods and services.

Grants from the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht for €0.10m to
support the digitisation of Church of Ireland Parish Registers and from the
Department of Foreign Affairs Reconciliation Fund for €0.03m to support the
digitisation of the Church of Ireland Gazette were received by the RCB library during
2019. The RCB is most grateful to the Irish Government for this valuable support.

Resources expended

Expenditure for 2019 shown in the SoFA is analysed in greater detail on page 77
(Note 5).

The cost of generating funds includes payroll costs of investment management,
legal and accounting services (which includes services available to the wider
Church), other investment professional service costs and allocated overheads.

Charitable activities costs include payroll and allocated overheads charged to trust
and property management, communications, education and the RCB Library.

Governance costs include payroll and allocated overheads to support General
Synod, central committee expenses and episcopal electoral expenses.

Other operating costs are those relating to professional fees (which include

professional services to support the clergy defined contribution pension schemes)
and payroll payments to retired staff.
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Total cost of operations of €3.56m show an increase of €0.21m on the prior year
(2018: €3.35m). Payroll and related costs less recharges see a marginal increase on
the prior year mainly due to a lower recharge for legal services to the wider Church
which was partly offset by a reduction in payroll costs as a result of staff vacancies.
Other operating costs of €0.50m see an increase on the prior year of €0.16m (2018:
€0.34m) due to the provision of professional services including investment
management, pension, legal, taxation and accounting advice. A portion of other
operating costs is represented by pension advice, administration and trustee fees to
support the clergy defined contribution pension schemes.

The total resources expended which are chargeable against General Funds of
€2.96m show an increase year on year of €0.22m (8.1%).

Allocations expended

Allocations expended in the year of €3.55m (2018: €3.61m) show a decrease on
the prior year by €0.06m mainly due a reduction in the allocation required to
support training for the ministry. Total underspent allocations for the year
amounted to €0.12m (2018: €0.09m).

Special pension charges

Included under special pension costs are final professional actuarial advices of
€0.04m (2018: €0.29m) relating to the wind-up of the Staff Defined Benefit
Pension plan in 2018.

General Funds gains and losses

General Funds results for the year shown in the SoFA sees the total fund value of
General Funds increase by €23.70m (13.2%) to €202.98m (2018: €179.28m). This
increase is accounted for by unrealised gains on revaluation of invested assets of
€20.35m, a realised gain on the sale of investments of €3.40m and a currency gain
on favourable exchange rates of €1.25m. These gains have been partly off-set by
the excess of expenditure over incoming resources of €1.40m.

Parish, Diocesan and Other Trust Funds gains and losses

Incoming resources in relation to the RB General Unit Trusts are represented by
investment income, deposit income and Gift Aid refunded. All incoming resources net
of expenses are distributed to parishes, dioceses and other trusts. Total funds increased
by €43.88m (13.1%) to €378.30m (2018: €334.42m). This increase is accounted for by
unrealised gains of €37.28m on investment revaluations, realised gains on the sale of
invested assets of €0.30m and currency gains of €4.06m. Net receipts and withdrawals
amounted to €2.25m (2018: €6.26m) of both capital and reserve movements.
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B) Balance Sheets

The net assets shown in the Balance Sheets (page 68) belong to three separate fund
groupings.

- RCB activities are the assets and liabilities which are used to provide services from
the central Church. The net current balance on these is offset against General Funds.

- General Funds are the funds available for the operating expense of the RCB and
for funding allocations. Total fund values increased by €23.70m to €202.98m as
detailed above in General Funds. Invested fund assets increased from €167.74m
to €190.67m (an increase of 13.6%) due to a recovery during 2019 in world equity
markets from the broad based fall in quarter four 2018. Fixed Assets, loans, cash
and bank balances, debtors and creditors make up €12.31m of net other assets.

- Parish, Diocesan and Other Trust Funds investments and deposits income shown
in the SOFA belongs to parishes, dioceses and to other Church of Ireland trusts.
Total fund values increased by €43.88m to €378.30m as detailed above in
Parish, Diocesan and Other Trust Funds. Invested fund assets increased from
€271.32m to €314.91m (an increase of 16.1%), due to a recovery during 2019
in world equity markets from the broad based fall in quarter four 2018. Fixed
Assets and cash balances make up €63.40m of other assets.

Allocations (page 66)

Allocations budgeted for 2020 are provided for in 2019 as a reserve and will be drawn
down in 2020. The amount provided is €3.64m and is gross of subventions. A detailed
table of the 2020 budget is available on page 27. Allocations have been supported by a
subvention from the Stipends Fund of €0.14m (2018: €0.12m). The Allocations
Committee is most grateful to the Stipends Committee for this valuable support.

Simplified income and expenditure
A simplified table is included below to aid understanding of RCB income and expenditure

for 2019 with comparatives for 2018. This is based on the traditional income and expenditure
model. Analysis under the Total Return model is included in the table on page 25.

23



The Representative Church Body — Report 2020

Simplified RCB and General Funds (GF) income and expenditure

2019
RCB GF
€000 €000

Investment Income 4,516
Other Income 639
Total Income 5,155
Expenditure

Payroll (less recharges) and related costs  (1,841)

Central Office costs (429)

Depreciation (277)

RCB Library Costs (236)

External Investment Managers costs (81)

Professional Fees (general) (314)

Professional Fees (Clergy DC Pension Funds)  (110)

Payroll to retired staff (75)

Central Committee Expenses (118)

Audit Fees (75)
Total expenses (3,556)
Expenses to be charged to Parish, Diocesan

and Other Trust Funds 592
Total expenses to be charged to GF 2,964 (2,964)
Allocations expended (3,555)
Pension wind-up professional fees (36)
Total expenditure and allocations (6,555)
Decrease in resources (1,400)
Other recognised gains and losses

Investment gain /(losses) 23,745

Other reserve movements 1,356
Net gain/(loss) in funds 23,701
Total funds brought forward 179,283
Total funds carried forward 202,984

2018
RCB GF
€000 €000

4,999

533

5,532
(1,897)
(390)
(246)
(216)
81
(107)
(145)
(90)
99
74
(3,345)
602

2,743 (2,743)

(3,613)

(287)

(6,643)

(1,111)

(13,089)

(440)

(14,640)

193,923

179,283

Note: This table will reconcile to the SOFA (page 66) under the General Funds column.
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Total Return

The RCB adopted a Total Return based approach to managing withdrawals from
General Funds in 2012. After a review of Total Return in 2016 and 2017, the RCB set
a sustainable target return from invested assets in 2017 0of 3.5% (2016: 4.0%). For 2019
the long-term sustainable target return was 3.5%, with the target withdrawal or spend
set at 3.5% (based on the five-year average fund value) to meet cost of operations and
allocations in 2019 of €6.03m (2018: €5.77m). The actual withdrawal required to
support cost of operations and allocations net of other income was below the target
withdrawal of 3.5% at 3.43% (2018: 5.57%). On a total return basis 2019 recorded a
small surplus of €0.12m.

The RCB remains committed to delivering the services required by the wider Church
while seeking to encourage efficiency, best practice and the prudent management of
costs. The table below presents the Total Return model for year ended 31 December
2019 with prior year comparison.

Total Return 2019 2018
€m €m
Permitted withdrawal from invested assets under Total Return ~ €6.03m  €5.77m
Other operating income €0.64m €0.53m
Total incoming resources €6.68m €6.30m
Cost of operations and allocations (€6.52m) (€6.36m)
Surplus/(Excess withdrawal) from invested assets before €0.16m (€0.06m)
pension payments
Pension wind-up professional fees (exceptional) (€0.04m) (€0.29m)
Pension related costs (exceptional) - (€2.30m)
Provision for DC Pension payment to staff who are former
members of DB Pension Plan (exceptional) - (€0.76m)
Surplus/(Excess withdrawal) from invested assets after €0.12m (€3.41m)

pension costs
Note: It is not intended that this table will reconcile back to the SoFA on page 66.
Currency translation rates

Year end sterling balances have been translated into euro a rate of €1 = £0.8459 or £1
=€1.182 (2018: €1 = £0.8989 or £1 =€1.112).
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ALLOCATIONS BUDGET PROVIDED FOR 2020

Allocations provide financial support for Church-wide activities. The detailed allocations
analysis for 2020 with 2019 comparisons is provided overleaf. The table shows the net
amounts to be allocated after taking into account income from endowment funds, the
episcopal levy, the safeguarding levy and any other sources of funding which offset the

costs of financing ministry and other central commitments.

The summary position of 2020 allocations budget is set out below and is net of subventions.
Sterling balances have been exchanged at 0.8459 for 2020 budget and 2019 comparisons.

2020
€

A. Maintenance of the stipendiary ministry
e Episcopal costs 859,975
e Chaplaincy costs 289,936
e Miscellaneous 98,661
B. Pension related costs 109,700
C. Training of ordinands 1,211,365
D. General Synod activities 1,050,936
E. Miscellaneous 16,047
3,636,619

26

Y%

23.6
8.0
2.7
3.0

333

28.9
0.5

2019
€

907,421
286,446
136,975
115,020
1,195,384
1,016,209
16,047

3,673,500

%

24.7
7.8
3.8
3.1

325

27.6
0.5
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2020 ALLOCATIONS BUDGET

A. Maintenance of the stipendiary ministry

Episcopal Stipends and Expenses
less Episcopal Levy

Deans of Residences/University Chaplains

Queen’s University, Belfast, Bursar
C of I in Queen’s University, Belfast
C of I in Trinity College, Dublin

Clerical Relief - Children’s Allowances
- Central Church Fund
- Discretionary Grants

Stipends Related Costs
St Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin

B. Pension related costs

Clergy Pensions Fund
Supplemental Fund Benefits

- Retired Clergy, Surviving Spouses
Discretionary Grants

- Retired Clergy

- Surviving Spouses

C. Training of ordinands
Training of Ordinands
Theological Institute

Stipends Fund

Bishops’ Selection Conference

D. General Synod activities
General Synod/Standing Committee
Board of Education

Church of Ireland Youth Department
Safeguarding Officers

E. Miscellaneous
RCB Library
Regular Sunday Services in Irish

2020 2019 2020 2019
€ € £ £
1,107,825 1,153,792 675,161 662,976
(477,160)  (472,430)  (481,188)  (471,753)
630,665 681,362 193,973 191,223
98,668 97,973 141,109 139,056

- - 16,147 15,836

- - 2,000 2,000

3,000 3,000 - -
35,000 44,000 33,000 28,000

- . - 30,000

4,000 4,000 3,000 3,000
16,102 15,862 - -
1,000 1,000 - -
788,435 847,197 389,229 409,115
50,000 50,000 44,500 45,000

- - 6,000 10,000

50,000 50,000 50,500 55,000
396,091 382,844 - =
790,000 790,000 - -
(100,000)  (100,000) (15,000) (30,000)
25,274 22,540 - -
1,111,365 1,095,384 (15,000) (30,000
465,753 377,827 210,679 257,221
27,480 28,927 94,477 91,712

- - 145,000 145,000

11,000 11,000 12,300 12,300
504,233 417,754 462,456 506,233
12,000 12,000 3,000 3,000
500 500 - -
12,500 12,500 3,000 3,000
2,466,533 2,422,835 890,185 943,348
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Commentary
A. Maintenance of the stipendiary ministry — €1,248,571

The total cost of Group A is budgeted at €1,248,571 and is the cost relating to financing
the episcopacy, university chaplaincy, clerical grants and stipends related costs.

The cost of financing the episcopacy is the largest part of this allocation at €859,975.
The episcopal costs are shared on a percentage basis between central Church and
dioceses. Dioceses contribute to episcopal costs through the episcopal levy, which is
calculated based on the number of cures multiplied by a percentage of Minimum
Approved Stipend (MAS). Episcopal costs include stipend, pension, state taxes, travel
costs, office and administration costs and financing cost of see houses.

The total gross episcopal costs are budgeted for 2020 at €1.91m (2019: €1.94m). The
episcopal costs net of episcopal levy contributions are budgeted at €0.86m or 69% of
Group A costs (2019: €0.91m or 68%). The episcopal levy for 2020 is set at 6.4% of
MAS, this remains unchanged from 2018. The episcopal levy for 2020 is budgeted to
contribute €1.05m or 54.9% (2019: €1.03m or 53.2%) of the total episcopal costs. The
cost per cure for 2020 is £1,932 and €2,446 (2019: £1,894 and €2,422). A more detailed
breakdown of episcopal costs is shown on page 35.

Other amounts included in Group A support university deans of residence and
children’s and discretionary allowances paid to clergy. Funding is provided to support
a Belfast city-wide university chaplaincy project which will run up to 31 August 2023.
Total allocation to support chaplaincy is budgeted at €0.29m for 2020 (2019: €0.29m).

B. Pension related costs — €109,700

The total cost of Group B is budgeted at €109,700 and is made up of Clergy Pensions
Fund costs and discretionary grants to retired clergy and spouses.

Total support through allocations to the Clergy Pensions Fund for 2020 is budgeted at
€50k and £45k. This represents the amount committed annually to the Fund as part of
the long-term funding proposal to restore solvency over a ten-year period to 2023.

C. Training of ordinands — €1,093,632

Total costs budgeted for Group C represents the costs of training for the ministry. These
costs include the running costs of the Theological Institute, training of ordinands costs
and the cost of the selection process for entering training.

The total budgeted for 2020 which is net of subvention from the Stipend Fund, shows
an increase of €0.03m to €1.09m on the 2019 cost of €1.06m. The increase in costs is
due to a marginal reduction in subventions on 2018.
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The training of ordinands budget includes the cost of student grants, student
accommodation, fees paid to Trinity College Dublin and external lecturer fees. Married
students in 2019/20 receive a personal grant of €7,970 and single student’s grant is
€6,360. Accommodation grants and travel allowances are provided to students in their
final intern year. The total budgeted costs for 2019/20 of training of ordinands are
€396,091 (2018/19: €382,844). For the academic year 2019/20 total student numbers
are 20 ordinands in full-time training and 8 in part-time training.

The cost category Theological Institute includes the costs of running the Institute and
includes academic, administration and facilities costs. The total budgeted for the
academic year 2020/21 is €790,000 (2019/20: €790,000).

Extracts from the accounts of the Church of Ireland Theological Institute for the year
ended 30 June 2019 are included as Appendix A (page 85).

D. General Synod activities — €1,050,936

The General Synod budget of €1,050,936 is made up of costs relating to General Synod
and its Standing Committee, the Boards of Education, the Church of Ireland Youth
Department and the centrally funded portion of the Safeguarding Officers.

Total costs show an increase on prior year of €35k. This increase is mainly due to an
increase in specific committee costs.

The cost of the Board of Education in the Republic of Ireland and the Church of Ireland
Youth Department are supported by grants from the Irish government. The RCB on
behalf of the Church of Ireland wishes to acknowledge its appreciation for this support.

E. Miscellaneous — €16,047

The total cost of Group E is €16,047, and represents an allocation of €15,547 to the
RCB Library. €500 is provided for the maintenance of the Irish language as part of
regular Church of Ireland worship.
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INVESTMENTS AND MARKETS
e Economic environment and 2020 outlook

Globally, economic growth marginally decreased in 2019 according to Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) estimates (3.3% in 2019 versus
3.6% in 2018) with lower growth returns across the three major geographical blocs.
Growth decreased in the US 2.6% versus 2.9% a year earlier Europe (1.0% v 1.8%)
and China (6.2% v 6.6%) in 2019 from 2018. In 2020 world growth is forecast to
increase to 3.4%, however of the three only Europe is also expected to increase (1.2%),
with decreases to 2.2% and 6% forecast for the US and China.

In the US a mid-year U-turn by the Federal Reserve in regard to interest rate policy and
quantitative easing together with continued political support were all helpful in
addressing increased fears of an economic slowdown. Despite strong jobs data and
historically low levels of unemployment (below 4% in the US) there continues to be
an unusual lack of wage inflation. This in turn has led to little or no inflation in official
numbers, thus allowing a continuation of very low interests rates and ‘cheap money’
to support equity markets.

In Europe, monetary policy has remained very accommodative and expectations that
Quantitative Easing (QE) would be phased out have not materialised. As in previous
years a pattern of economic growth failing to meet expectations emerged as the year
progressed and while the European economy underperformed once again, renewed
monetary stimulus is the backdrop for higher growth forecasts in the year ahead.

e Main investment asset classes
Equities

Following a tough end to 2018, equity markets rebounded strongly in 2019 with returns
0f 34% in the S&P and 28% in the European (Stoxx 600).

US equity performance was driven by monetary stimulus support both by way of
interest rate cuts and the impact of asset purchase programmes, whilst political support
was evidenced by both presidential rhetoric and an increasing budget deficit (now
expected to exceed $1 trillion (5% of GDP) in 2020.

Once again a narrow group of market leaders (the principal names in this group are the
so-called FAANG’s — Facebook, Apple, Amazon, Netflix and Google — significantly
outperformed and contributed (22% of 34% market performance). Furthermore, it is
observed that the markets performance is almost all due to an increase in the valuation
multiple of the market (e.g. Price/Earnings multiple at close to 19 times versus mid-
teens a year previously), as earnings growth was more or less negligible for the year.

European equites reached multi-year highs as the year ended fuelled by monetary support
and an easing in trade tensions, however while not as expensive as the US on valuation
metrics (P/E 15 times versus 12 a year ago), European equites are not cheap either.
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UK equities also performed strongly although index returns were lower than in the US
and Europe. A decisive general election result and Brexit progress were catalyst for a
quarter four rally, however the markets resolve to hold onto these gains is likely to be
tested by progress in trade treaty negotiations (or lack of) in 2020.

One year ago, the cheaper valuation metrics following the quarter four sell-off offered
some support for equities markets as the year began. Subsequently the strength of the
rally was greater than anticipated mainly due to Central Bank support. As we enter
2020 the outlook for US equities appears modest in view of the valuation multiple and
ongoing geopolitical risk factors. In Europe forecasts face similar risks and will be
further challenged in the event of growing EU strife, and any unfavourable
developments in Brexit related trade negotiations.

US markets remain ‘more expensive’ than European markets and while this does not
necessarily make this market more likely to underperform in 2019, it is likely to
continue to be a prohibitive factor for RCB funds to significantly increase allocation to
this market in the near-term.

Interest rates and bonds

A renewal of Central Bank support for economies and markets was the key event of
the year in terms of both equity and bond market performance. We continue to believe
interest rates will remain low for the foreseeable future. This is based on our assessment
of the global economy for which we would argue the risk for slower growth is high,
but the risk of recession a lot lower. Although inflation is subdued, clearly European
bonds offer no real yield, while negative nominal yields (if owned), would represent a
liability for funds. In this environment the office has been compelled (as in prior years)
to seek out higher yielding bonds that carry a degree of credit risk and non-euro
denominated bonds that carry currency risk (when not hedged). Also, a sub-category
of bond proxy, or Bond Substitutes, has been developed.

Property

Property has acted as a useful diversifier versus conventional bonds and equities. Its
advantages are relatively high yield and inflation protection as a tangible real asset. Its
drawbacks are illiquidity and cyclicality. We have partially countered the liquidity
problem through owning globally diversified quoted REITs (Real Estate Investment
Trusts) in addition to IPUT and PITCH, while addressing cyclicality through specialist
sectors such as student accommodation and social housing funds. Exposure to Property
was reduced in 2019 as we are further along the economic cycle and yields fell further
from a year ago. Despite these disposals, it is recognised that the fundamental economic
backdrop remains generally supportive in terms of demand/supply and low interest rates.
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Currencies/precious metals

The policy of hedging non-base currency exposures at extremes of valuation (based on
observed long-term trading range and purchasing power parity) remains the core strategic
approach to managing currency risk. In terms of valuation extremes, the Investment
Department see Euro/USD in a 1.075 to 1.175 range in 2020, with a move below 1.05 or
close to 1.20 or above as extreme. In terms of valuation extremes, the Investment
Department see Euro/STG in a 0.8 to 0.9 range in 2020, with a move close to 0.8 or below
or close to 0.95 as extreme. Clearly sterling has potential to trade at the extremes or
‘through’ depending on the outcome (if any) of the UK trade deal negotiations.

The uncertain nature of all the world’s major currencies highlights the attraction of
gold/precious metals as a safe haven. The cost of holding this real asset is minimal due
to the near zero interest rate policy. As well as a hedge against inflation, it also gives
protection against political/economic change.

Fund valuations and performances

Valuations of the various portfolios as at 31 December 2019 along with three- and five-
year fund performance figures are included as Appendix B (page 87).

General Funds performance 2019

Total return for the year was 17% versus the benchmark return of 21%. The Fund
adopted a more defensive stance as the year ended with approximately 13% of the fund
in Gold and Cash at the year end 2019.

Unit Trusts

The RB General Unit Trust (RI) delivered a total return for the year end 315 December
2019 of 18.6% versus the benchmark return of 21.3%.

The RB General Unit Trust (NI) delivered a total return for the year ended 31%
December 2019 of 12.4% versus the benchmark return of 15.3%.

Once again, this outturn was achieved in the context of the agreed investment strategy
to adopt a lower risk profile in equities relative to the benchmark.

The distribution rate for the RB General Unit Trust (RI) was 11.5¢ for the calendar year
to 31 December, representing a yield of 2.74%. The distribution for the RB General
Unit Trust (NI) was 10.8p for the calendar year for an equivalent yield of 2.76%. It was
agreed to maintain the distributions in 2019 for both trusts at the same level as 2018.

The financial statements for the RB General Unit Trusts (RI) and (NI) and extracts
from the investment manager’s reports for the period ended 31 December are set out
in Appendix C (page 88).
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Clergy Pensions Fund

The Clergy Pensions Fund achieved a return of 17% for the year versus the benchmark
return of 16%. The passive element of the Fund managed by ILIM represented 41% of
total assets at the end of 2019 compared to 43% at the end of 2018. ILIM investments
were split 59% equities, 41% bonds.

The overall fund was split 71% Growth assets (including equities and real assets) 29%
‘De-risked assets’ (including cash and bonds) versus 85% Growth assets 15% ‘De-
risked assets’ from a year previously.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) review

In 2019 the Investment Committee conducted its usual annual assessment of individual
stock holdings within the various portfolios and reported to the Representative Body
in December that its holdings are consistent with the RCB’s ESG and Climate Change
policies. The Committee also undertook a specific review of its Fossil fuel exposure
and climate related risk within its investment portfolios.

The RCB has already taken several steps to address climate related risk in its portfolios
and to mitigate the climate change impact of its investments including collaborative
engagement, investments in renewable energy, and the implementation of negative
screening for companies involved in thermal coal extraction and/or oil sands
production.

The RCB is committed to divesting from companies involved in fossil fuel extraction
by 2022 in line with the motion passed by General Synod in 2018 and the Investment
Committee, with input from the Portfolio and ESG manager, have been reviewing best
available screening options and methodology. The ESG and Climate Change Policy
statements have been updated to reflect this commitment and there has been significant
progress made in this area.

Environmental, Social and Governance issues remain at the forefront of the Committee’s
mind and was an important factor when selecting a new investment manager for part of
the General Funds. Following several meetings, Sarasin was selected by the Investment
Committee to replace Lazard. Detailed discussions regarding ESG took place with
Sarasin prior to their on-boarding and they are managing the GF Global equity mandate
consistent with the RCB’s current ESG policy.

The RCB’s ESG Policy statement is included as Appendix D (page 99) and its Policy
on Climate Change is included as Appendix E (page 101).
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CLERGY REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

Minimum Approved Stipends (MAS) 2020

The Standing Committee determines levels of MAS annually on behalf of the General
Synod in accordance with Section 51(1) of Chapter IV of the Constitution. MAS levels
are determined in September for the following year, taking into account economic data,
conditions, earnings trends and indices at 30 June. Recommendations on MAS levels
are initially brought to the Representative Body by the Stipends Committee, which
considers movements in inflation and general earnings levels as well as the ability of
parishes in both jurisdictions to pay.

Republic of Ireland — The average inflation for the 12 month period to 30 June 2019
was +0.90% (+0.27% to June 2018) with year on year inflation for the same period at
+1.1% (0.4% at 30 June 2018). Statistical indices on a month to month basis since the
start of 2019 show a very much roller-coaster movement ranging from +0.6% to 1.7%.
As in 2018 driving factors in this trend are fuel and housing costs. The Lansdowne
Road agreement which relates to public servants was extended under a Public Service
Stability Agreement to run from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. The agreement
was designed to ease the pension levy and give a partial reversal of the 2010 public
service pay cuts. The agreement provides a minimum increase of 3.8% over the two
year period to salaries of people working in the public service. There was a 1% increase
applied to the Republic of Ireland MAS for 2019.

The Stipends Committee in reviewing the Republic of Ireland MAS recommendation
for 2020 agreed to recommend a 1% increase in MAS for 2020.

Northern Ireland — Annual inflation in August 2018 peaked at +2.7% with a gradual
decline during the remainder of 2018. Since the start of 2019 annual inflation has
remained somewhat static. Averaging the annual Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the
12 month period to 30 June 2019 produces a figure of +2.18% (+2.75% to June 2018)
with year on year inflation for the same period at +2.0% (+2.4% to 30 June 2018).
Whereas the main driver behind the inflationary trend for 2017/2018 period was
transport costs these have now been contributing to a downward trend.
Accommodation services and hobbies are now currently the main drivers. It was noted
that the Church of England stipends were increased by 2% from 1 April 2019. MAS
for Northern Ireland was increased by 2.5% in 2019. It was agreed to recommend a 2%
increase in the Northern Ireland MAS for 2020.

The Standing Committee received and agreed with a recommendation from the
Representative Body that a 1% increase be applied to the Minimum Approved Stipend
for 20209 in the Republic of Ireland and a 2% increase be applied in Northern Ireland.
Consequently, levels of Minimum Approved Stipend for 2020 are:

2020 2019
Northern Ireland £30,195 £29,603
Republic of Ireland €38,234 €37,855
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Episcopal costs

The breakdown of total episcopal costs is summarised as follows:

Republic of Ireland Northern Ireland

€ € £ £

2020 2019 2020 2019

(1) Stipends together with state insurance costs 512,546 515,612 318,764 312,541
(2) Pension costs 110,783 111,010 64,149 60,819
(3) Offices of the Sees expenses 326,270 325,216 184,495 183,123
(4) See Houses and other costs 351,618 398,740 174951 173,170
Totals (gross) 1,301,217 1,350,578 742,360 729,654

(5) Less endowment income (221,963)  (225,053) (41,364) (41,364)
Totals (net of income) 1,079,254 1,125,525 700,996 688,289

Note: Amounts are denominated in the currency relating to the jurisdiction of the See. For allocations

purposes, amounts are denominated in the currency in which expenditure will occur.

Notes relating to the figures above:

(M

@
)

“4)

)

Gross stipend and employer’s state insurance contribution.
(ie costs that relate to the bishops on a personal basis)

Stipends are multiples of Minimum Approved Stipends as follows:

Archbishop of Armagh  2.45
Archbishop of Dublin 2.25
All Bishops 1.75

Contributions towards episcopal pensions.

Secretarial and office services and allowances relating to expenses of travel and hospitality.
(ie costs that relate to the running of the office of the See)

Heating, grounds and house maintenance, insurance and service charges, secretary to
the House of Bishops.
(ie property maintenance and other costs that are shared across all the Episcopacies)

Income from investments and rent of See House lands.
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Locomotory allowances 2020

It was agreed by the Representative Body in 2016 that from 1 January 2017, the rate of
locomotory allowances be set at the relevant revenue authority rates for each jurisdiction,
plus an additional rate which would be subject to social insurance payments. In either
jurisdiction there has been no change in the revenue authority rates and therefore the
locomotory rates for 2020 remain the same as those for 2019 as follows:

Republic of Ireland — Revenue Commissioners approved rates:

Engine Engine Engine
Distance bands capaci%y up to Addtl capicity Addtl capilcity Addtl
1200cc ™' 1201-1500cc "' 1501cc & over "°
1 0-1,500km 37.95¢ 40c 39.86¢ 40c 44.79¢ 35¢
2 1,501-5,500km 70.00¢ 18¢ 73.21¢c 15¢ 83.53¢ Tc
3 5,501-25,000km 27.55¢ 15¢ 29.03¢ 13¢ 32.21c¢ 8¢
4 25,001km & over 21.36¢ 14c 22.23¢ 12¢ 25.85¢ 8¢

Northern Ireland — Clergy are now requested to submit, annually, a return of mileage
carried out in the course of their ministerial duties. Should the locomotory allowance
paid exceed the HMRC permitted allowance by the number of miles travelled (45p
per mile for NIC purposes) there will be a calculation for NIC on the excess.

Northern Ireland — HMRC approved rates (liability to income tax on any allowance
paid which exceeds business miles travelled by HMRC rates):

first 10,000 miles @ 45p per mile

after 10,000 miles @ 25p per mile

Allowance per

Miles HMRC rates at miles Addtl rate  Addtl allowance Total
A allowance
figure in bold
up to 10,000 £4,500 12.7p £1,270 £5,770
10,001 to 15,000 £5,750 5.6p £840 £6,590
15,001 & above £6,250 3.9 £663 £6,913
(allowance @17,000)

Children’s Allowances 2019/2020

The Children’s Allowances Scheme is designed to assist clergy and surviving spouses
with the cost of secondary school education or higher level education leading to
primary qualifications including certificate, diploma and degree.

Grants are paid on a per capita basis, without any form of means test, in respect of each
child as follows:
Academic year starting 1 September 2019
Republic of Ireland Northern Ireland

Over 11 attending secondary school €600 £100
Third level students (up to age 23) €300 £400
Eligible orphans €600 £400
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Grants may be paid in respect of a child under 11 years of age where that child is in
residence at a boarding school or, in exceptional cases, in respect of a student who may
be over age 23. In either case, grants are at the sole discretion of the Representative Body.

Grants are also available from other sources and a list of such possible sources is
available on the Church of Ireland website at
<www.ireland.anglican.org/cmsfiles/pdf/AboutUs/EducationAssistance.pdf>

Clergy car loans

Car loans for clergy are available from the RCB in accordance with the following
formula, linked to the statutory Minimum Approved Stipend (MAS):

New Cars Used Cars
Maximum loan MAS x 2/3 MAS x 1/2
Maximum term 4 years 3 years
Interest rate per annum 8% 8%

This ratio of maximum loan to minimum stipend is designed to maintain a reasonable
relationship between borrowing capacity and ability to pay. At 31 December 2019 there
were 33 loans outstanding with a total value of €258,167.

Central Church Fund — removal (relocation) grants

Grant assistance is available to clergy towards the cost of moving household
belongings to/from a rectory/curatage on a new appointment or retirement. Grants are
generally not made to any one individual more frequently than at a three year interval
other than in exceptional circumstances or on appointment as a dean or
bishop/archbishop.

The approved level for an individual relocation grant is limited to 2/3 of actual cost and
is subject to a maximum of €4,000 or £2,000 in the case of moves within the island. In
the case of moves to the island the maximums are €5,000 and £4,000.

With prior approval an equivalent grant amount may be paid towards the procurement
of furniture in lieu of the cost of a move into the island. Claims for such grants must
be supported by receipted documentation.
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CLERGY PENSIONS

There are three separate schemes providing pension benefits for Church of Ireland clergy.
Contributions in relation to service from 1 June 2013 onwards are held in the Church of
Ireland Clergy Defined Contribution Scheme, Northern Ireland and the Church of Ireland
Clergy Defined Contribution Scheme, Republic of Ireland. The Clergy Pensions Fund
holds assets to fund the pension benefits earned by clergy up to 31 May 2013.

The RCB acts as Sponsor of all three schemes.
e The Church of Ireland Clergy Defined Contribution Schemes (NI and RI)
Details of the operation of the schemes are set out in the members’ handbooks and at:

Northern Ireland members: <www.scottishwidows.co.uk/save/churchofirelandclergy/>
Republic of Ireland members: <www.zurich.ie/connect/coi/home/>

The annual reports of the scheme trustees are included in Appendix F (page 103).

Since 1 January 2017 clergy who remain in the service of the Church of Ireland after
reaching their normal retirement age may continue to make contributions to their
pension scheme. If a member continues to make such contributions their parish must
also make the appropriate contribution. Such contributions put the member on equal
footing with the colleague who has not yet reached normal retirement age.

Members of both Schemes are encouraged to review their pension scheme to ensure
that it is invested in the most appropriate funds to suit their requirements especially as
they approach retirement age.

e The Clergy Pensions Fund (defined benefit scheme)

The annual report of the Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Trustee Designated
Activity Company (DAC), which in accordance with Chapter XIV of the Constitution
of the Church of Ireland is the Trustee of the Clergy Pensions Fund, is included as
Appendix G (page 105). The RCB is the sole member of the Trustee Company.

Supplemental Fund and other funds

The Church of Ireland Pensions Board administers the Supplemental Fund and certain
other funds on behalf of the RCB. A report on the administration of these funds during
the year ended 31 December 2019 is attached as Appendix H (page 147).

Further information on clergy pensions is available from:
The Pensions Administration Manager

Church of Ireland House, Church Avenue, Rathmines, Dublin 6
Email <pensions@rcbdub.org>  Tel +353-(0)1-4125630
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PROPERTY AND TRUSTS

Summary

2019 was a year of change for the Property and Trusts Department at Church of Ireland
House.

The retirement of Trevor Stacey, former Head of Property and Trusts, at the end of May
brought with it both challenges and opportunities to a department that had been guided by
the same steady hand for a period in excess of 25 years. When Trevor retired he had been
with the Representative Church Body for a little over 46 years, working his way up through
the ranks and serving in every section except Synod, giving him a unique overview of the
organisation and its operations. While Trevor’s unique insight has been missed, it has
challenged remaining staff to step up to the plate to live up to his legacy.

While the Property and Trusts Department adjusted to the changes, change was afoot
in other areas of the Church affecting their work; by May 2020 there will have been
five see house vacancies to manage within one calendar year, in conjunction with the
various See House Management Committees and Dioceses; ensuring that the individual
requirements of the dioceses and the incumbents are met to the highest standards
possible while maintaining a watchful eye on areas such as cost, both church and
statutory requirements, health and safety and future requirements, and endeavouring to
ensure that any work carried out and materials used are as environmentally friendly
and as energy efficient as possible.

Of course it is not only See Houses that require such care and attention. The Church of
Ireland has a considerable number of historic and/or listed buildings and sites under its
care, including churches, rectories, parish halls and graveyards together with the
monuments and structures within their curtilage. Without the support of numerous
agencies such as government, local authorities, and various grant funding bodies
including Allchurches Trust, National Churches Trust and the various National Lottery
funds, the care required to maintain these properties would be
nearly impossible. To illustrate the support provided by these
agencies, parishes in the Republic of Ireland received
€540,000 from the Historic Structures Fund and €208,000
from the Built Heritage Investment Scheme administered by
local authorities on behalf of the Department of Culture,
Heritage and the Gaeltacht in 2019. St John’s Parish,
Newecastle in Dromore Diocese was successful in accessing
funds of nearly £180,000 from the Heritage Lottery Fund for
the repairs to the tower and spire of their church. Their
journey started in 2017 and only finished with the completion
of the project in the run up to Christmas 2019.

Refurbished tower and spire of

Parishes up and down the island of Ireland are to be StJohn's Newcastle at night

commended in their efforts to protect and maintain
these valuable, historic and treasured resources.
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Roles and responsibilities
Property

The Property and Trusts Department team, when at full strength, is a small unit of 5
members, 2 of whom are part time. Their main function is to support the work of the
RCB Property Committee, the dioceses and by extension parishes, by providing
information and in-depth knowledge of the many facets of property related matters and
endeavouring to protect parishes from potential pitfalls through this knowledge and
guidance through the various approval processes. Going forward into 2020, it is
intended that the service provided by the Property and Trusts Department will be
enhanced through increased communication and education initiatives via the Parish
Resources online platform and diocesan property workshops.

The guiding principles for the work of the department are primarily laid down in the
Constitution of the Church of Ireland, and are to be found particularly in Chapters X,
XII, XTIT and sections of Chapters III and IX. This is carried out in conjunction with
adherence to both statutory and charity legislation in the two jurisdictions and general
duty of care under common law, and the department would like to acknowledge the
support and work of their colleagues in the RCB Legal Department without whom
much of the work would be so much more difficult.

The department undertook a body of work over the summer months to gain an in-depth
understanding of their current and longstanding processes and procedures with a view
to seeing if they needed amending or refining together with the interaction and impact
on other departments, and also to see if the perception by those not directly involved
of a cumbersome and bureaucratic process can be altered through the communication
and understanding of the rationale of the processes. At the time of writing, work is
continuing on this project and thanks must go to all staff involved for both their time
and input.

Trusts

Another area of responsibility for the department is that of the management and
administration of Trusts vested in the RCB, many of which are invested in the RB
General Unit Trusts. A project to digitise over 23,000 individual trusts commenced in
2018, and 2019 saw the completion of the electronic scanning of these paper files that
can now be viewed, searched and added to from a staff computer, negating the
necessity of physically retrieving a paper file and leafing through its contents and
thereby reducing the risk of potential loss of valuable information or damage to
valuable trust records.

40



The Representative Church Body — Report 2020
Items for noting
Insurance

The issue of adequate insurance on parish properties remained and remains an area of
considerable concern for the RCB. It is incumbent on all parishes through their select
vestries to ensure that all their properties are covered by adequate insurance at all times,
irrespective of whether the property is used regularly, occasionally or not all by the
parish. ‘Property’ includes churches (consecrated or deconsecrated), church/
graveyards, parish halls, glebe or parish land, rectories and parish houses, remote burial
grounds; irrespective of whether they are vested in the RCB or local trustees. Failure
to do so, in the event of an incident, could have implications of the funding of
restoration/reinstatement of the property, or in the event of an injury could render the
members of the select vestry personally liable for any claim.

In the case where a property is let to a third party, the parish must ensure that the party
has adequate insurance including public liability at a minimum and if applicable,
employer’s liability insurance to indemnify the parish against any possible claims. If a
parish has any queries in respect of this topic, they should contact their insurance broker
or the Property Department, particularly if it is related to a church property matter.

Maintenance and Health and Safety

The old adage of “a stitch in time saves nine” is a very good motto to live by when it
comes to property maintenance. The RCB would encourage parishes to be proactive in
their maintenance activities and establish an annual inspection maintenance
programme so that problems can be identified and dealt with in a timely manner. This
will also have an impact on health and safety matters, hopefully preventing a possible
health and safety issue at a later date.

Local Property Tax (Republic of Ireland)

The Local Property Tax (LPT) which is applied to residential properties in the Republic
of Ireland and came into effect in 2013, was due to be revalued as of 1 November 2019
was deferred by Ministerial Order in April 2019 until 1 November 2020. It is unlikely
that this will be deferred again and parishes should make arrangements for any
habitable residential property to be revalued prior to this date.

Church Fabric and Development Fund

The Church Fabric Fund has been held for the repair of certain church buildings since
1930 and is governed by Chapter X Part IV of the Constitution of the Church of Ireland
and managed by the RCB. In 2016 it was renamed ‘Church Fabric and Development
Fund’ with Chapter X being amended to extend the scope of the Fund to include the
development of initiatives supporting the long-term mission of the Church. These
changes allows the Fund to be used more widely than before, in order to more
effectively serve the wider life, outreach and witness of the Church into the long term.
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The amended provisions:
«¢ allow central funds to be used for:

o the existing purpose of giving fabric grants for the restoration or repair of
certain church buildings (the ‘Fabric application’); and

o the development of the best examples of mission initiatives, and enable scaling
of these initiatives across the whole island of Ireland, for the strategic benefit
of the wider Church (the ‘Central Development application’); and

++ provide parishes which have capital under the Church Fabric Fund provisions with
access to their capital, allowing these funds to be used for the purposes of approved
mission (the ‘Local Development application’).

Fabric grants of €89,300 and £38,100 were allocated by the RCB during 2019 from the
income of the Fund on the recommendation of the Primate. Please see below for a list
of the churches who were awarded grants in 2019.

Diocese Church Grant awarded
£ €
Clogher Carrickmacross 1,600
Raphoe Killea 300
Down Belfast, St Clement 7,100
Connor Derriaghy 31,000
Kilmore Ashfield 1,200
Tuam Tuam Cathedral 1,000
Dublin Dublin, St Ann 8,600
Dublin, St Audoen 21,850
Dublin, St Bartholomew 28,550
Glendalough Athy 1,300
Meath Trim Cathedral 5,400
Cork Ballymodan 7,700
Limerick Limerick Cathedral 1,300
Killaloe Roscrea 3,600
Clonfert Creagh 5,100
Emily Abington 300
Kilmacduagh Ardrahan 1,500
38,100 89,300

Further details of grants awarded under the Central Development application are set

out on page 15.
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Marshal Beresford’s Fund

Grants of €54,600 and £42,400 for repairs to churches were made from the Fund in
2019. The allocation of the income, in accordance with the trusts, is made by the
Archbishop of Armagh who does so in conjunction with his recommendations for grant
assistance from the Church Fabric and Development Fund. Please see below for a list
of the churches who were awarded grants in 2019.

Diocese Church Grant awarded
£ €
Connor Ballyscullion 10,150
Derry Ballynascreen 1,100
Edenderry 250
Learmount 3,300
Down Carrowdore 7,600
Knockbreda 3,750
Dromore Seagoe 16,250
Kilmore Dernakesh 1,800
Elphin Roscommon 1,000
Achonry Collooney 1,600
Dublin Dublin, St Bartholomew 2,900
Tullow 8,000
Glendalough Kilberry 1,400
Rathdrum 9,100
Waterford Waterford Cathedral 12,900
Ossory Lacca 1,200
Cloyne Little Island 14,200
Ardfert Kilgobbin 500

42,400 54,600

Further information

Please see below for weblinks to further information on the topics noted above together
with additional useful information. Most of the information is general in nature and has
application in either jurisdiction; where it is specific to a jurisdiction, this will be noted
on the website.

» Property Grants

Church of Ireland Parish Resources
<www.ireland.anglican.org/parish-resources/land-buildings/property-grants>

» Protected Structures and Listed Buildings

National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (Ireland)
<www.buildingsofireland.ie/resources/>
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Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht - ‘Advice for Owners’
<http://bit.ly/2SY98YK>

Historic Environment Scotland
<www.historicenvironment.scot/advice-and-support/>

Historic England
<www.historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/assistanceforowners/maintenance/>

» Local Property Tax (Republic of Ireland)

Citizens Information — Local Property Tax
<http://bit.ly/3ap4Z66>

» Health and Safety

Ecclesiastical Insurance
<www.ecclesiastical.com/risk-management/church-health-and-safety/>

Presbyterian Church in Ireland - ‘A Guide to Health and Safety’
<http://bit.ly/2UAa9Ye>

» Maintenance

National Churches Trust
<www.nationalchurchestrust.org/caring-your-building/regular-maintenance>

Church of England - ‘Building Maintenance and Repair’
<http://bit.ly/2UDPrXn>

» Trusteeship

Church of Ireland Parish Resources
<www.ireland.anglican.org/parish-resources/select-vestry#section-88>

» Miscellaneous Information

Church of Ireland Parish Resources
<www.ireland.anglican.org/parish-resources>

LIBRARY AND ARCHIVES

e Summary

The principal focus of the Library’s work continues to be the provision of resources
for ministerial training by sourcing, accessioning and cataloguing new books and other
reading materials; re-cataloguing the existing book stock and weeding duplicate
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materials as appropriate; managing the borrowing facility; providing study/research
space; and promoting and making more accessible the Library’s varied collections.

During 2019, the work of cataloguing new books and converting the card catalogue of
printed books to the online catalogue through the Library section of the Church of Ireland
website continued, and by the end of 2019 the bibliographic details of 52,372 printed
resources were available online at <www.ireland.anglican.org/about/rcb-library>

The Library manages and makes available to researchers, records from 1,160 parishes,
chapels of ease and chaplaincies, 20 dioceses and 20 cathedrals as well as 1,202
collections of ecclesiastical manuscripts and the non-current records of the General
Synod and the RCB.

Assisted by the IT Department, further progress was made to enhance the Library’s online
presence, with direct links to a variety of information and with more facilities, including
lists and indexes of available archives and manuscripts. The newer version of Liberty, the
online cataloguing system, has operated well with the attractive homepage and many new
user-friendly functions making it more accessible and easy to use.

The ‘Archive of the Month’ initiative continued to be a valuable promotional platform
about specific aspects of the collections. Stories of particular public interest included
marking the 400" anniversary of the ‘Earliest Parish Register in Ireland’ — from St
John’s (Dublin) — in February 2019, and two Disestablishment-specific features: ‘A
Month is a Long Time in Politics: Disestablishment as Covered by the Church of
Ireland Gazette, 1869’°, in August, and ‘The Last Established Church Clergyman:
Tracing the Life of William Somerville-Large), in December, both in collaboration
with historians Prof. Alan Ford and Dr Miriam Moffitt. A complete list of ‘Archive of
the Month’ titles is included as Appendix I (page 155). Additionally the Library’s
Twitter account: @rcblibrary continued to allow more immediate interaction with a
public audience, with 700 followers by January 2020.

During 2019, the Library continued to discharge its curatorial responsibilities for
church plate and episcopal portraits; the management of publishing projects for Church
of Ireland Publishing and the editorial dimension of the Church of Ireland Directory.

Donations received

The RCB again allocated €12,000 and £3,000 for the purchase of new books and
conservation work. Additionally a grant of €12,160+VAT at 23%, was allocated to
pilot the archiving and ongoing records management of the diocesan collection of
Tuam, Achonry and Killala.

State funding amounting to €92,054.33 of the total of €100,000 capital grant by the
Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht representing all of the costs incurred
to date associated with the Parish Registers Digitization Project was also received.
Additionally, following an application to the Department of Foreign Affairs
Reconciliation Fund, a further €28,355 was granted to finish the digitization of the
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Church of Ireland Gazette (from 1950 to 2003), as a contribution to reconciliation by
deepening understandings of the Church of Ireland’s journey through the Troubles,
Peace Process, Good Friday Agreement and beyond, thus completing its availability as
a digital resource from 1856. (This work will be carried out in 2020).

Welcome donations were further received from:

APCK (€5,000)

Cashel, Ferns and Ossory diocese (€800)

Clogher diocese (€500)

Dublin & Glendalough diocese (€1,000)

Huguenot Society of Great Britain & Ireland Irish section (€100 towards Huguenot-
related publications)

Holy Trinity, Killiney parish (Dublin) (€200)

Dr Edward King and Mrs Brigid Clesham (€800 to provide for the conservation of
the earliest Cong register)

Limerick and Killaloe diocese (€500)

Smyly Trust (€200)

Tuam, Killala and Achonry diocese (€500)

Monkstown parish (Dublin) (€200)

Accessions

Books and periodicals were purchased to meet the requirements of those in training for
ministry and the needs of the wider Church. In particular, continued purchasing was
required to meet the needs of ordinands in the Church of Ireland Theological Institute.
These purchases were augmented by donations of books from publishers, authors and
from several individuals.

The Library received the generous bequest of the theological and historical library of
the late Arthur Edward Charles Jury, comprising approximately 3,000 books
(facilitated by his executor Jack Anderson, and the parish of Malone (Connor)).
Additionally the Library welcomed books donated by the Revd Dr Paul Barlow; Carole
Bell (from the collection of the late Canon JC Bell’s library); Mr Allan Brook; Christ
Church Cathedral, Dublin; Mrs Hazel Crawford; Rachel Harris; Dr Heather Jones and
Dr Mark Jones from the collection of their mother, the late Dr Valerie Jones); Canon
Billy Marshall; Mrs Janet Maxwell; Mrs Noelle McGannon (from the collection of the
late Dean JEB Ashton); Michael O’Donnell; Dr Suzanne Pegley; Dr Andrew Pierce;
the Ven. David Pierpoint; Ms Imelda Prendergast; Ms Cate Turner (from the collection
of her father, the late Canon RE Turner); Andrew Wallace; Helen B. Wayde; Primrose
Wilson OBE.

Additional tranches of parish and diocesan records were transferred to the Library from
local custody. The principal archival accessions were records from 57 parishes,
including several Northern Ireland parishes which is a most welcome continued trend
- the most recent transferred being the collection from the Church of the Pentecost,
Mount Merrion, Belfast (Dromore). There were transfers of records from two dioceses
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(Kilmore and Ardagh) and four cathedrals (St Patrick’s Dublin, Christ Church Dublin,
Kildare, and Limerick). There were 26 new accessions of manuscript materials, notable
among which were the correspondence, scrapbooks, and memoirs of Canon Claude
Lionel Chavasse (1897-1983) covering his ministry, particularly his pioneering
outreach in the areas ecumenism and remarriage after divorce, 1938-80; the diaries of
Canon Brian Lougheed documenting his life and clerical career to date; the extensive
collection of over 1,700 sermons by the Rt Revd David McClay, with related papers,
prior to his consecration as Bishop of Down and Dromore for the period of his ministry
from 1987 to 2018; and finally the lantern slides of an excavation of graves in St Peter’s
burial ground (Dublin), which it has transpired capture the search for the remains of
Robert Emmett, in 1903.

A list of accessions of archives and manuscripts to the Library during 2019 is included
as Appendix J (page 156).

Ministerial training

In support of ministerial training, which is one of the core functions of the Library,
induction sessions were provided for ordinands in the Theological Institute, for those
in part-time training, for students on the Foundation Year programme, those training
for Reader ministry, and for those considering ministerial training in the Fit for the
Purpose programme. The pre-ordering book system to facilitate the reading needs of
part-time students in advance of their study weekends in residence continued to work
well. More regular, but smaller “book giveaways” became a feature of engagement
during 2019, with immediate processing of donated book collections taking place in
the Library, and the residue from same passed on to CITI for ordinands and staff.

Cataloguing

Work continued on converting the catalogue of printed books from cards to computer.
Almost 1,500 books were processed during 2019, while 175 duplicate books were
weeded from the system.

Records from 57 parishes were processed and listed, with the summary lists updated
and posted on the website. Detailed descriptive lists were also provided for the 26 new
manuscript collections. The project to digitize, catalogue and make available online the
Library’s collections of architectural drawings of churches completed all outstanding
diocesan portfolios, see <www.archdrawing.ireland.anglican.org> paving the way to
prepare the Visual Window exhibition to showcase a selection of these (covered in more
detail under Community engagement below).

The Library’s extensive collection of parliamentary papers, many of them relating to
Disestablishment and its aftermath, were re-organised, re-shelved and listed.
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Conservation

With welcome support from Christ Church Cathedral Dublin, the first two of a total of
16 Guard Books in the cathedral archive have been conserved by paper conservation
expert Liz D’Arcy. The Guard Books are miscellaneous loose papers bound into
volumes on a thematic basis by the antiquary and canon of St Patrick's Cathedral,
Dublin, the Revd John Lyon (1702-1790) and a most important source for multiple
aspects of Dublin’s history. It is hoped that with the continued support of the Dean and
Chapter of Christ Church, further volumes may follow to complete this project.

Additionally, six volumes of parliamentary papers relating to Disestablishment and a
copy of the Irish Church Act of 1869 were rebound, as was the earliest register for
Cong (Killala) 1745-1785 with the support of Dr Edward King and Mrs Brigid
Clesham, while the map of the Earl’s Gift Demesne, showing lands in the parish of
Donagheady and diocese of Derry, 1830, transferred as part of the Derry and Raphoe
diocesan archive, was conserved and framed.

A rare complete set of the journal The Gaelic Churchman 1919-1927 inclusive (part of
which had been donated by the family of the late Dr Valerie Jones) was rebound in
conjunction with the development of Cuinne Caird (the Caird Corner). The 2019
editions of the Church Review (Dublin and Glendalough diocesan magazine) were
rebound with the generous support of the Church Review.

Parish register digitization project

Much 0f 2019 was taken up in fulfilling the procurement and accountability obligations
of the Service Level Agreement with the Department of Culture, Heritage and the
Gaeltacht to digitize the Library’s extensive collection of parish registers. The Library
took custody of the Lizard Book Scanner which was delivered and installed in the
conference room, on 4 July 2019. A tendering process was also undertaken to provide
“Project Management of Pilot Project to Digitize 300 Volumes of Parish Registers and
Development of a Searchable Index”, and the submission from Dr Michael O’Neill
(who previously completed the architectural drawings digitization) was successful. Dr
O’Neill commenced the pilot programme in September and by year end had completed
four counties’ worth of registers (Meath, Laois and Offaly and Westmeath, in total
approx. 250 volumes).

The scanner fulfils all of the stringent archival standards set by the National Archives of
Ireland, and the quality of the images is superb. Images for the volumes covered to date -
together with interactive maps of parish locations and links to the in-house parish lists -
are now available to view (in PDF form) on four OPAC workstations in the Library with
preservation copies (TIFF files) saved on mirrored external disks. Progress has also been
made developing and customising the transcription software required for indexing of the
data, which is expected to commence during 2020. The commitment of Library staff, and
support from the IT Department and the Director of Finance of the RB for these exciting
but also challenging developments is gratefully acknowledged.
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Church plate

Progress continued to be made with the church plate inventory. Following agreement
by the Property Committee, new arrangements are now in place to allow for the loan
of 18th-century pieces in good condition, giving a greater degree of flexibility and
variety of loans for parishes who require this support.

During 2019, additional transfers of plate were received from local custody in Abbeyleix
(Leighlin), Aghabog (Clogher), Donard (Glendalough), Down Cathedral (Down) and
Rathfarnham (Dublin). Additionally there were donations from the private collection of
the late Very Revd Ernon Perdue by his family and the collection of the late Venerable
Edward Brian Snow by his son David Snow. Items were loaned to the following
parishes: Aghabog (Clogher), Down Cathedral (Down) and Tinahely (Ferns).

The Library facilitated the transfer of a number of items that had originated in the
parish of St Michael’s (Dublin) — part of the Christ Church Cathedral group of
parishes - for permanent exhibition in the cathedral’s Treasury. The Library sincerely
acknowledges the co-operation of the Revd lan Berry, Canon Patrick Harvey, and the
Very Revd Henry Hull in these transfers.

Community engagement
In 2019, the Library collaborated with:

- The wider Church community and others by staging the exhibition A Visual Window
to an Ecclesiastical World, featuring some of the extensive collection of original
architectural drawings. The exhibition was curated by Dr Michael O’Neill,
architectural historian, assisted by Library staff, and ran for three months between
May and August in the gallery of the Irish Architectural Archive, Dublin. Over 1,000
people viewed the collection either as walk-in visitors or guests at specific events,
including the formal opening of the exhibition in May 2019, which was the first event
in the Church’s anniversary of Disestablishment. Additionally the Library ran a series
of lectures during Heritage Week, in August 2019, around the themes of identity,
architecture and liturgical space which drew additional external interest.

- Cumann Gaelach na hEaglaise (the Irish Guild of the Church) and the family of the
late Bishop Donald Caird (1925-2017) for the formal opening of Cuinne Caird
(Caird Corner) the dedicated space in the Library for the Irish-language and related
objects of Bishop Caird, by Bishop Michael Burrows, Patron of Cumann Gaelach
na hEaglaise.

- The parish of Taney (Dublin) for inclusion of early editions of the Book of Common
Prayer in its broadcast of Service on Sunday (RTE television) to mark the
publication of reprinted edition of the BCP.

- Mullingar Union (Meath) for the digitization of the Parochial History of Mullingar,
compiled by the Revd William Reynell, 13th — 19th centuries.
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- Beyond 2022: Ireland’s Virtual Record Treasury (which aims to recreate, virtually,
the collections of the Public Record Office of Ireland (PROI) destroyed on 30 June
1922). The Library is a participating institution in this initiative.

In addition to hosting visits by all student groups at CITI, a seminar entitled “Introduction
to Referencing & Writing Style-Guide” was provided for ordinands in CITI by the
Assistant Librarian. Presentations entitled “The Benefits of Technology for Reaching a
Wider Audience”, and “Keeping the Records Safe: Next Steps on the Journey at the RCB
Library” were delivered respectively to the Association of Church Archives of Ireland
AGM, and to the Church of Ireland Historical Society, by the Librarian and Archivist.

The Library also hosted visits by the staff of Church of Ireland House, Dublin; the Dublin
and Glendalough Retired Clergy Fellowship; archival and digital imaging staff from the
Public Records Office of Northern Ireland; and the study visit of the MA in Archives class
at the Library School and the Archives School University College Dublin, each of whom
interacted with specific exhibits of records, and/ or equipment. A further briefing on
records management for diocesan offices was provided for diocesan secretaries.

The Library staff, alongside the staff of the RB IT Dept. received training on the new book
scanning equipment from German supplier Book2Net’s engineer who was on site for two
days. The Assistant Librarian attended all online user groups training on development of
the Library’s cataloguing management system. Additionally individual members of staff
attended the AGM and Annual Seminar of the Rare Books Group of the Library
Association of Ireland; the seminar “Opening up Cultural Collections and Providing
Access in a Digital Environment” organised by the Council of National Cultural
Institutions sub-committee on digitization; and the conference “History, Preservation and
Use of Religious Libraries in Ireland” at the Armagh Robinson Library.

The Library’s display cases in Church House continued to feature a regular rotation of
artefacts, books and archives throughout the year.

DONATIONS AND BEQUESTS TO THE CHURCH OF IRELAND
e Trustee role of the Representative Church Body

The RCB was incorporated by Charter to hold property and funds in trust for the
Church. As a permanent trustee body it administers a large number of trusts donated or
bequeathed for specific Church purposes, parishes and dioceses. The RCB, on behalf
of the Church of Ireland, wishes to express its gratitude to all those who have made a
donation or bequest in this way and are thus supporting the Church in the fulfilment of
its work on an ongoing basis.

There is considerable advantage in donating or bequeathing in trust to a permanent

trustee body such as the RCB rather than to local trustees. For instance, with a
permanent trustee body there is no need to appoint new trustees from time to time.
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Donations and bequests can be in the form of money, stocks and shares, securities,
chattels, houses or lands or the whole or part of the residue of an estate. They can be
left to the RCB in trust:

- for the general purposes of the Church of Ireland; or
- for any particular funds of the Church or any diocese or parish; or
- for any particular Church purpose.

The RCB applies funds arising from a specific donation or bequest strictly in
accordance with the purposes declared in the trust instrument or Will. However, the
Church of Ireland is in great need of unfettered funds to help finance its ongoing
responsibilities — training ordinands, providing retirement benefits for clergy and their
spouses and generally maintaining ministry. An unfettered donation or bequest can be
given or left to the RCB in trust “for such charitable purposes in connection with the
Church of Ireland as the Representative Body of the Church of Ireland may from time
to time in its absolute discretion approve”, giving the Church the flexibility to finance
its most pressing needs from time to time. (Please see suggested Form of Bequest
below.)

Tax relief on charitable donations
Northern Ireland

The Gift Aid scheme gives tax relief on charitable donations and is available to all
taxpayers resident in Northern Ireland. Tax can be reclaimed on donations of any
amount, provided the amount reclaimed does not exceed the total amount of tax paid
that all Charities and Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs) will reclaim on
donations made by the donor in the relevant tax year. Information on how to avail of
Gift Aid is available from Church House Dublin.

The total value of donations collected under Gift Aid on behalf of parishes in 2019 was
£4,894,785 to which the income tax recovered by the RCB added £1,223,698 to give a
total of £6,118,483 compared with £6,822,530 in 2018. Parishes are increasingly
adopting electronic accounting methods as an aid to SORP compliance and filing their
own claims directly with HMRC.

Since 6 April 2013, charities that receive small cash donations of £30 or less are able
to apply for a Gift Aid style repayment, without the need to obtain Gift Aid
Declarations for these donations, under the Gift Aid Small Donations Scheme
(GASDS). The RCB assists parishes who wish to make claims through GASDS. From
6 April 2017 the amount of small donations on which the repayment can be claimed is
capped at £8,000 per tax year per church. The value collected under GASDS on behalf
of parishes in 2019 was £517,760 to which the income tax recovered by the RCB added
£129,440 to give a total of £647,200 compared with £743,116 in 2018. Information on
how to claim under GASDS is available from Church House Dublin and under ‘Advice
for Treasurers’ at <www.ireland.anglican.org/parish-resources/parish-finances>
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Republic of Ireland

Effective from 1 January 2013, tax relief for donations to approved bodies under
Section 848 A of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 is applied as follows:

e  All donations of €250 or more from individuals (PAYE and Self-Assessed) are
treated the same, with the tax relief in all cases being repaid to the charity.

e Tax relief is available at a blended rate of 31% in respect of all taxpayers,
regardless of their marginal rate.

e  An annual limit has been introduced of €1m per individual, being the amount
which can be tax relieved under the scheme.

Further information is available from Church House Dublin and under ‘Advice for
Treasurers’ at <www.ireland.anglican.org/parish-resources/parish-finances>

Form of Bequest

The following suggested Form of Bequest grants the Representative Body, as Trustee,
permission to invest in any investments or securities at its sole discretion.
Circumstances may alter from time to time and this Form of Bequest gives the Trustee
freedom to act in the best interests of the parochial or other fund concerned.

The Representative Body also recommends consulting a Solicitor to ensure that any
bequests made under Will are valid and satisfy legal requirements.

“I GIVE, DEVISE AND BEQUEATH ........ [here insert clear particulars of the
benefaction ie, a particular sum of money, specific property, a share of the residue etc]
to the Representative Body of the Church of Ireland in trust for ........ [here insert clear
particulars of the object for which the benefaction is to be applied eg, parochial funds of
the parish of ........ in the diocese of ........ or, as a perpetual endowment for the stipend of
the incumbent of the parish of ........ in the diocese of ........ or, for such charitable purposes
in connection with the Church of Ireland as the Representative Body of the Church of
Ireland may from time to time in its absolute discretion approve].

I direct that any funds received by the Representative Body in pursuance of this my
Will may be invested in any investments or securities whatsoever in its sole discretion
and in all respects as if it were absolutely and beneficially entitled thereto.”

Donations, bequests and funds received

A full list of funds received by the RCB in 2019 on behalf of parishes, dioceses and
special trusts is included as Appendix K (page 167).
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o Trusts for graves

The RCB does not accept any trust for the provision, maintenance or improvement of
a tomb, vault, grave, tombstone or other memorial to a deceased person unless a
specific benefit will accrue to the parish concerned.

MISCELLANEOUS AND GENERAL

e Deposit interest (rates)

The rates of interest allowed or charged by the RCB are linked to the rates ruling from
time to time in the money market. The following rates of interest were applied in 2019:

€ £
Dr Cr Dr Cr
QUARTER ENDED % % % %
31 March 3.50 0.05 1.50 0.50
30 June 3.50 0.05 1.50 0.50
30 September 3.50 0.05 1.50 0.50
31 December 3.50 0.05 1.50 0.50

These rates only apply to revenue balances to credit of diocesan and other accounts and
not to permanent capital other than in cases where, for some reason, there may be a
delay in making a long-term investment (eg proceeds of sales of glebes). Interest is
calculated on daily balances and time weighted.

o Inflation statistics (5-year review)

Year on year (December) UK (CP Index) Republic of Ireland (CP Index)
2015 0.2% 0.2%
2016 1.6% 0.0%
2017 3.0% 0.4%
2018 2.1% 0.7%
2019 1.3% 1.3%
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RESOLUTIONS RECOMMENDED TO THE GENERAL SYNOD

The Representative Body recommends that the following resolutions be adopted by the

General Synod:

1. Allocations

That the General Synod hereby authorises the Representative Body to make the following

allocations from General Funds in 2020:

A. Maintenance of the stipendiary ministry
e Episcopal costs
e Chaplaincy costs
e Miscellaneous

B. Pension related costs

C. Training of ordinands

D. General Synod activities

E. Miscellaneous

54

€

859,975
289,936
98,661
109,700
1,211,365
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND OTHER INFORMATION PAGE 3

CHAIRMAN
- Mr HJ Saville

MEMBERS (ex officio)
- The Archbishop of Armagh - Mr K Bowers (Investment Committee)
- The Archbishop of Dublin - Mr JK Roberts (Property Committee)
- Canon GC Richards (Allocations Committee) - Mr M Johnston* (Stipends
(Deputy Chairman) Committee)
MEMBERS (elected)
- Rt Rev Dr WP Colton - Mr H Algeoi
- Ven T Scottf - Mr LJW MacCann
- Rev Canon H Gilmore - Mr DG Perrin
- Ven AM Wilkinson - Ms E Harknessq
BANKERS
- Bank of Ireland - Bank of Ireland
College Green, Dublin 2 Talbot Street, Dublin 1
CUSTODIANS

- Northern Trust
Canary Wharf, London E14 SNT
AUDITORS

- PricewaterhouseCoopers
One Spencer Dock, North Wall Quay, Dublin 1

OFFICERS

- Chief Officer and Secretary Mr D Ritchie

- Head of Finance Ms K Williams

- Head of Synod Services and Communications Mrs JM Maxwell
- Head of Investments Mr R Asher

- Senior Solicitor Mr M McWha

OFFICE: Church of Ireland House, Church Avenue, Rathmines, Dublin 6.

appointed September 2019 in place of Mr William Oliver (retired September 2019)
elected December 2019 in place of Rt Rev Andrew Forster (retired December 2019)
elected September 2019 in place of Mr Terence Forsyth (retired May 2019)

elected September 2019 in place of Dr Michael Webb (retired May 2019)
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORT PAGE 4

The Representative Body of the Church of Ireland is an incorporated trust established by royal
charter to hold property and financial assets on behalf of the Church.

General Funds are used to support the general mission of the Church, with parish, diocesan and
other funds held for the benefit of the particular Church entity which is the beneficial owner.
The outcomes for the year ended 31 December 2019 for General Funds and for other trust funds
are set out in the financial statements. Total funds employed increased by €23.70m to €202.98m
as a result of a recovery in world equity markets during 2019 from the broad base fall in markets
in quarter four 2018.

After a review of Total Return in 2016 and 2017, the RCB set a sustainable target return from
invested assets of 3.5%. For 2019 the long term sustainable target return was 3.5% on invested fund
assets, with the target withdrawal or spend set at 3.5% or €6.03m (based on the five-year average
invested asset value) to meet cost of operations and allocations in 2019 of €6.03m (2018: €5.77m).
The actual withdrawal required to support cost of operations and allocations net of other income
was less than targeted with at €5.92m, recording a surplus of €0.12m. The RCB seeks to continue
to manage its withdrawal from General Funds prudently over the short and medium term to
preserve capital for the present and future Church. Funds held for the benefit of individual Church
of Ireland trusts increased in value by €43.88m to €378.30m as a result of the recovery in world
equity markets in 2019 from the broad based fall in quarter four 2018. Net receipts and withdrawals
from these funds amounted to €2.25m (2018: €6.26m). Distribution of income is made biannually
from these funds and together with the refund of Gift Aid reclaimed for NI parishes amounted to
€10.27m.

Statement of Trustee’s Responsibilities

The Representative Body, as Trustee, is responsible for preparing the annual report and the
financial statements in accordance with the accounting policies of the Representative Body. In
preparing the financial statements the Representative Body is required to:

o select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
e make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

o disclose and explain material differences from applicable Accounting Standards;

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that it will continue in business.

The Representative Body, as Trustee, confirms that it has complied with the above requirements
in preparing the financial statements.

The Trustee is responsible for keeping proper books of account which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the organisation. It is also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the organisation and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

HJ Saville
Chair, Executive Committee
10 March 2020
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND
REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS PAGE 5
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Independent auditors’ report to the trustees of The Representative
Church Body of the Church of Ireland

Report on the audit of the non-statutory financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, The Representative Church Body of the Church of Ireland’s non-statutory finaneial statements (the
“financial statements”) for the vear ended 31 December 2019 have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the basis of preparation and accounting policics in the Accounting Policics.

We have audited the financial statements, which comprise:
e the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019;
e the Statement of Financial Activities for the year then ended;
e the Cash flow statement for the year then ended;
e the accounting policies; and

* the notes to the financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordanee with International Standards on Auditing (Ircland) (“18As (Ircland)”) including 1SA
(Ireland) 8oo.

Our responsibilities under [SAs (Ireland) are further deseribed in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidenee we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Ireland, which ineludes TAASA’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation

In forming our apinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we draw attention to the accounting policies of
the finaneial statements which describe the basis of preparation. The financial statements are prepared for the trustees for
the specific purpose as deseribed in the Our responsibilities and those of the trustees paragraph below. As aresult, the
financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose.

Conclusions relating to going concern

‘We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which [SAs (Ireland) require us to report to you
where:

+ the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or
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* the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the entity’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period
of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are anthorised for issue.

Howcver, beeause not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Reporting on other information

"The other information comprises all of the information in the Financial Statements other than the financial statements and
our auditors’ report thercon. The trustees are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, exeept to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In conneetion with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conelude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the trustees for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Trustee’s Responsibilities Statement set out on page [5], the trustees are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they have
been properly prepared in accordance with the basis of preparation and accounting policies in the Accounting Iolicies and
for determining that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are acceptable in the circumstances.

"The trustees are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to frand or error,

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the trustees either intend to liquidate the entity or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issuc an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs (Ireland) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further deseription of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the [AASA website at:

h2380013-1cf6-458b-0b8f-a08202degeza/Description of auditors responsibilities for

www.iaasa.ie/getmedia
audit. pdf

This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
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Use of this report

"L'his report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the trustees as a body in accordance with the
Aecounting policies and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, aceept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, including without
limitation under any contractual obligations of the entity, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants
Dublin

20 March 2020
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The significant accounting policies adopted by the Representative Church Body (RCB) are as
follows:

(i)  Basis of preparation

The RCB was incorporated by Royal Charter in 1870 under the provisions of the Irish
Church Act, 1869. Its legal structure is that of charitable trustee or trust corporation with
perpetual succession. The RCB undertakes the following activities:

e The administration of trusts together with the provision of investment and treasury
management services. A charge is recovered from the beneficial owners of the
investments under the RCB’s management in respect of the costs incurred by the RCB
in providing the investment and treasury management services.

e The provision of other management services including payroll services provided for the
dioceses, property and legal services to parishes, dioceses and the wider Church, and the
provision of support to the core work of the Church generally. The costs incurred by the
RCB in providing these services are recovered from the investment income earned on
investments managed by the RCB on behalf of the General Synod.

The financial information in relation to the activities of the RCB and the assets under its
management is presented in columnar format in the Statement of Financial Activities
(SoFA) on page 12 and the Balance Sheet on page 13.

o RCB activities

The SoFA represents the costs which are incurred directly by the RCB in providing
investment, administrative, legal, property and other services to the dioceses and
parishes of the Church of Ireland. A charge in respect of the costs of investment and
treasury management services is recovered from the beneficial owners of the
investments. Other costs are recovered from the investment income earned on
investments managed by the RCB on behalf of the General Synod.

The column headed ‘RCB Activities’ on the Balance Sheet represents the assets and
liabilities of the RCB. Church and other related property assets are held by the RCB
as trustee on behalf of the wider Church, but the RCB is not the beneficial owner.
Such assets are not reflected on the Balance Sheet.

e General Funds

The column headed ‘General Funds’ in the SoFA represents the investment income
earned from investments which are under the management of the RCB but are held
for the benefit of the wider Church of Ireland. The costs incurred by the RCB in the
provision of investment and other services are recovered from the General Funds
investment income earned. Allocations represent amounts expended on wider Church
activities as detailed in Note 6.

The column headed ‘General Funds’ in the Balance Sheet discloses the assets which
are under the management of the RCB, but which are held for the benefit of the wider
Church of Ireland.
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e Parish, diocesan and other trust funds

The column headed ‘Parish, diocesan and other trust funds’ in the SOFA shows the
investment and deposit income earned from investments which are under the
management of the RCB but which are beneficially owned by the dioceses, parishes
and specific trusts. It also shows income tax reclaimed on behalf of parishes in
Northern Ireland under the Gift Aid scheme. A charge to the beneficial owners is
made in respect of investment and management services provided by the RCB.

The column under this heading in the Balance Sheet discloses, for information
purposes, the assets which are under the management of the RCB, but which are
beneficially owned by the dioceses, parishes and specific trusts.

(i) Valuation of investments — The RCB has classified investments as financial assets at fair

(iif)

value.
Initial measurement

Purchases and sales of financial assets (including investments, options and futures) are
accounted for at trade date for financial statement purposes. Realised gains and losses on
disposals of financial assets are calculated based on the difference between the average
cost of the assets sold and the sale proceeds at the date of sale. Transaction costs for
financial assets are recognised directly and included in the cost of the investment.
Transaction costs associated with the disposal of a financial asset are offset against the
sales proceeds received.

Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement the RCB measures financial assets at fair value, including financial
instruments (put and call options and futures). Fair value is the amount for which an asset
could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s
length transaction. On the last business day of the year when markets are open for business,
the fair value of financial assets is based on their official closing prices on a recognised
exchange. Both realised and unrealised gains and losses on arm’s length transactions are
recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities on page 12.

In the case of financial assets not traded on an exchange, fair value is based on a value
determined by the investment managers. These valuations are subject to review by the
RCB to ensure the valuations used are appropriate.

Securities lending — The RCB participates in a securities lending programme operated by
the RCB’s custodian, Northern Trust. The securities are loaned to external counterparties
for a set period of time and in return the RCB recognises as income the fee received for the
loaned securities. Under the terms of the securities lending agreement the RCB retains all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the loaned securities.
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

ACCOUNTING POLICIES PAGE 10

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vi)

(viii)

(ix)

Financial instruments — Financial instruments are used as part of the RCB’s portfolio
risk management strategy and as part of the portfolio investment return strategy. The use
of financial instruments includes stock options and futures.

The stock options and futures are stated at market value at year end.

The market value of contract positions is recognised either as an invested fund asset or as
a current liability in the Balance Sheet and gains and losses on the contract are recognised
in the Statement of Financial Activities.

Income recognition — Income includes interest and dividends receivable during the
financial year and, in the case of General Fund assets, reflects bought and sold interest on
bond transactions in the accounting period and fees received from the stock lending
programme.

Foreign exchange translation — The Functional and Presentation currency of the RCB is
euro. This is considered to be the currency of the primary economic environment.

Assets and liabilities in currencies other than the functional currency of the RCB are
translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of the RCB are translated into euro at the
rates ruling at the transaction date. Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions are
recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities on page 12. Sterling is the most
significant currency other than euro for transactional and balance sheet purposes, and at
the year end the rate was €1 = £0.8459 (2018 €1 = £0.8989).

Taxation — The RCB has been granted charitable taxation status by the Revenue
Commissioners and by HM Revenue and Customs in the tax jurisdictions of Ireland and
the United Kingdom respectively. It is recognised as a charity under section 207 of the
Taxes Consolidation Acts, 1997, with the registration number CHY2900, and under
Section 505 of the Income and Corporation Tax Act 1988, under registration number
XN45816.

Neither the RCB nor any other entity for which results are shown is generally chargeable
to Irish and UK taxation on its income or capital gains. Withholding tax refunds received
are recognised at the point when they are recovered.

Loans — Loans in the General Funds Balance Sheet are stated at book cost at the balance
sheet date.

Financial Risk — The RCB manages a variety of risks, including market price, interest
rate, foreign currency and liquidity, through the maintenance of a widely diversified
portfolio of actively traded financial assets. Note 12 to the financial statements sets out
the exposure and the detail of treatment adopted.
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

ACCOUNTING POLICIES PAGE 11

x)

(xi)

(xii)

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation — Land is stated at cost. Other fixed assets are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and are depreciated over the period of their
expected useful economic lives. Depreciation is calculated using the following annual
rates: Premises: 2% to 10%; Furniture and fittings: 8% to 10%; Office equipment: General
20%, System software 10%, Other software 20%.

On 1% January 2016 the RCB added properties to its Balance Sheet, which although
owned, had not previously been included in the financial statements. These properties
were valued at 1% January 2016 and these valuations will be considered the properties
deemed cost for future accounting periods.

On 31% December 2017 the RCB added a property to its Parish, Diocesan and Other Trust
Funds Balance Sheet. This property relates to the Church of Ireland College of Education
Fund Trust property at 96 Upper Rathmines Road. Depreciation is not provided as the
current estimated residual value is not less than the carrying value and the remaining
useful life currently exceeds 50 years.

Church buildings and silverware are not considered to be beneficially owned by either the
RCB or General Funds, and hence are not included as either Tangible Fixed Assets or as
Heritage Assets.

Allocations — Allocations are recognised in the General Funds column in the year in which
they are expended.

Included in Reserves is an amount provided for allocations in 2020.
Cost of operations

The cost of generating funds comprises the payroll costs of investment management, legal
and accounting services, including those made available to the wider Church, external
fund management costs and associated allocated overheads.

The cost of charitable activities comprises the payroll and associated allocated overheads
charged to trust and property management, communications, education and the RCB Library.

The cost of governance activities relates to the payroll and associated allocated overhead
costs incurred in supporting General Synod, central committee expenses and episcopal
electoral expenses.
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PAGE 15
1 (a) TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - RCB
Premises Furniture Office Total
and fittings equipment
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost
At beginning of year 8,572 618 2,147 11,337
Additions - 5 181 186
Disposals - - - -
Currency adjustment 169 - 10 179
At end of year 8,741 623 2,338 11,702
Depreciation
At beginning of year 1,782 504 1,680 3,966
Charge for year 182 13 84 279
Disposals - - - -
Currency adjustment 12 - 6 18
At end of year 1,976 517 1,770 4,263
Net book value
At beginning of year 6,790 114 467 7,371
At end of year 6,765 106 568 7,439

1 (b)

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - PARISH, DIOCESAN AND OTHER TRUST FUNDS

Cost

At beginning of year
Additions

At end of year

Premises Furniture Office Total
and fittings equipment

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

30,000 - - 30,000

30,000 - - 30,000

Property to the value of €30m was brought onto the Parish, Diocesan and Other Trust Funds
balance sheet under fixed assets during 2017. The property relates to the Church of Ireland
College of Education Fund Trust property at 96 Upper Rathmines Road, which has been
independently valued by a professional valuer. This valuation has been used as deemed cost
for the purposes of inclusion in the financial statements. Depreciation is not provided as the
current estimated residual value is not less than the carrying value and the remaining useful

life currently exceeds 50 years.
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 16
2(a) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial Instrument (negative) (538) (124)

2(b)

General Funds use derivatives as part of its portfolio risk management strategy
and as part of the portfolio investment return strategy. The use of financial
instruments includes stock options and futures.

As at 31st December 2019, the market value of sold equity options amounted to
€0.34m (2018: nil).

The market value of purchased futures amounted to €0.22m (2018: €0.016m) and
is shown in invested assets on the balance sheet. The market value of the sold
futures amounted to €0.19m and is shown as a financial liability on the balance
sheet (2018: €0.12m). Realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on derivatives are
included in the columns profit on investment sales and revaluation movements in
note 4.

Sold call options are covered by quoted equity positions and cash collateral. Sold
put options and futures are covered by cash collateral. The market value of
collateral and margins amounts to €7.57m, and this includes a margin buffer for
market fluctuations and a margin buffer for potential future investments.

INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE

Best practice requires the classification of fair value measurements using a fair
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs used in making the
measurements.

The fair value hierarchy in use in the entity has the following levels:
Level 1 - Values based on quoted prices in an active market.

Level 2 - Values based on inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable (i.e. developed using market data).

Level 3 - Inputs for the value of the asset or liability are not based on observable
market data.
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 17

2(b, INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)

The following is an analysis of the RCB's financial assets measured at fair value as
at 31 December 2019.

2019 Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2019
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Financial assets at fair value

Bonds 17,735 - - 17,735
Equity 91,580 - 5,475 97,055
Externally Managed Funds - 12,223 24,628 36,851
Alternatives - - 15,063 15,063
Precious Metals 6,776 - - 6,776
Cash 17,192 - - 17,192
133,283 12,223 45,166 190,672

2018 Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Financial assets at fair value

Bonds 22,209 - - 22,209
Equity 75,445 - 5,295 80,740
Externally Managed Funds - 15,177 18,562 33,739
Alternatives - - 12,054 12,054
Precious Metals 7,296 - - 7,296
Cash 11,702 - - 11,702
116,652 15,177 35911 167,740

The RCB invests the majority of its assets in investments that are traded in an
active market and can be readily disposed of. The underlying investments of Level
3 Externally Managed Funds are mainly made up of quoted investments.
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 18

2(c) SECURITIES LENDING

The invested assets of General Funds include securities on loan at year end with a
market value of €5.6m (2018: €15.5m). The loaned securities continue to be
carried as investment assets in General Fund investments in the Balance Sheet.
The lending agreement requires collateral to be provided by the borrowers of the
securities. General Funds hold non cash collateral of €5.9m (2018: €16.6m) in
respect of these securities. This collateral is not recorded as an asset with a
matching liability in the Balance Sheet. The income received due to securities
lending activities is included in income from investments in the SoOFA and totals
€87k for the year (2018: €69k).

3 PARISH, DIOCESAN AND OTHER TRUST FUNDS

2019 2018
€'000 €'000
RB General Unit Trusts 314,682 271,109
Cash 224 214

314,906 271,323
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 20
5  COST OF OPERATIONS 2019 2018
€'000 €'000
Cost of generating funds
Payroll and related costs 1,501 1,572
Less - payroll & other costs recharged (293) (393)
1,208 1,179
External Investment managers and other costs 81 81
Office supplies, repairs and taxes 225 204
Depreciation 145 129
1,659 1,593
Cost of charitable activities
Payroll and related costs 685 754
Less - payroll costs recharged (253) (246)
432 508
Office supplies, repairs and taxes 141 128
Depreciation 91 81
RCB Library 236 216
900 933
Cost of governance activities
Payroll and related costs 412 415
Less - payroll costs recharged (211) (205)
201 210
Office supplies, repairs and taxes 63 58
Depreciation 41 36
Audit fees 75 74
Central committee expenses 118 99
498 477
Other operating costs
Professional fees 424 252
Payroll payments to retired staff 75 90
499 342
Total cost of operations 3,556 3,345
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 21

5  COST OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

RCB cost of operations arising are recovered from General Funds and Parish,
Diocesan and Other Trust Funds where appropriate.

The activities falling under each function heading are set out in Accounting
Policies (xiii), on page 11 of the financial statements.

6  ALLOCATIONS

2020 2019 2018
€'000 €'000 €'000
(a) Reserve for following year
Maintenance of the stipendiary ministry 1,249 1,332 1,278
Retired clergy and surviving spouses 110 115 111
Training of ordinands 1,211 1,195 1,306
General Synod activities 1,051 1,016 990
Miscellaneous financing 16 16 16
Reserve for following year (see Note 4) 3,637 3,674 3,701
2019 2018
€'000 €'000
(b) Expended in year
Allocation Expended in Year 3,674 3,701
Less - allocations (unexpended) (119) (88)
3,555 3,613

The reserve for 2020 Allocations included in designated reserves in Note 4, is the
gross amount committed by General Funds to be spent on wider Church activities
in 2020.
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 22

7 PARISH, DIOCESAN AND OTHER TRUST FUNDS

Currency Capital  Profit/ Balance
Balance at translation changes/ (loss) on Revaluation at
1.1.19 movements movements sales movements 31.12.19
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
(a) INVESTED
CAPITAL
Parish trusts and
glebe sales 157,195 2,235 623 300 20,204 180,557
Diocesan stipend and
general funds 32,471 715 60 - 4,260 37,506
Diocesan miscellaneous
trusts 12,682 195 (92) 6) 1,733 14,512
Diocesan episcopal
funds 8,310 85 (98) - 1,169 9,466
Less: diocesan
car loans (215) 2) (10) - - (227)
210,443 3,228 483 294 27,366 241,814
Sundry trusts 90,840 632 834 4 7,890 100,200
General Synod
funds 11,204 125 (34) - 1,545 12,840
Trusts for retired
clergy and spouses 3,871 76 565 - 475 4,987
316,358 4,061 1,848 298 37,276 359,841
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 23

7 PARISH, DIOCESAN AND OTHER TRUST FUNDS (CONTINUED)

(b) PARISH, DIOCESAN AND OTHER FUNDS RESERVES

2019 2018
€'000 €'000
Designated
Diocesan stipend & general funds 5,924 5,943
Parish endowments 79 196
Miscellaneous diocesan trusts 648 630
General Synod trusts 150 31
Other trust funds 9,251 8,834
Clergy pensions & related funds 530 467
Trust creditors 860 1,080
17,442 17,181
Undesignated
Auxiliary and Sundry Projects Funds 1,020 883
Summary - reserves
Designated 17,442 17,181
Undesignated 1,020 883
18,462 18,064

(c) SUMMARY - PARISH, DIOCESAN AND OTHER TRUST FUNDS

2019 2018
€'000 €'000
Capital funds invested 359,841 316,358
Designated and undesignated reserves 18,462 18,064

378,303 334,422

Net receipts/(withdrawals)

Capital receipts (7a) 1,848 3,772
Movement in reserves (7b) 399 2,487
2,247 6,259
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 25

12

(a)

(b)

FINANCIAL RISK

The main risks to the RCB relating to its holding of investments and other financial
instruments are market price, foreign currency, interest rate, liquidity and credit risk.

Market Price Risk

Market risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of investments and other
financial instruments held. It represents the potential loss the RCB might suffer
through holding market positions in the face of price movements. The Investment
Committee considers the asset allocation of the portfolio in order to minimise the risk
associated with particular countries or industry sectors whilst continuing to follow the
RCB's investment objective.

Foreign currency risk

A portion of the financial assets/net assets of the RCB is denominated in currencies
other than euro with the effect that the Balance Sheet and total return can be affected
by currency movements.

The following sets out the RCB's total exposure to foreign currency risk.

2019 2018

Total Total

€'000 €'000
Currency
Sterling 34,928 39,767
US Dollars 64,374 34,651
Canadian Dollars 2,231 4,348
Swiss Francs 3,329 3,758
Swedish Krone - 2,511
Danish Krone - 1,184
Norwegian Krone - 1,064
Turkish Lira - 187
Japenese Yen 1,607
Total of other currencies 5,740 875

112,209 88,345

The rates of exchange used at 31 December 2019 for significant currency exposures:

Sterling 0.8459
US Dollars 1.1213
Canadian Dollars 1.4567
Swiss Francs 1.0856
Swedish Krone 10.5008
Norwegian Krone 9.8426
Danish Krone 7.4709
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THE REPRESENTATIVE BODY OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED PAGE 26

12 FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

(c) Interest Rate Risk
The RCB has interest bearing assets but does not have interest bearing liabilities.

The interest profile of the RCB's interest bearing financial assets at 31 December
2019 was:

2019 2018
Total Interest Total Interest
interest bearing at interest bearing at
bearing fixed rate bearing fixed rate
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
Euro 17,735 5,978 22,209 8,573
Total 17,735 5,978 22,209 8,573

Fixed interest rate financial assets

2019 2018
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
average  average period average average
interest rate for which rate interest rate for which
% s fixed (years) % is fixed
Euro 7.70 19.38 7.37 13.36

(d) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting
obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The RCB invests the majority of its assets in investments that are traded in an active
market which can be readily realised.

(e) Credit Risk

The RCB may be exposed to a credit risk in relation to parties with whom it trades
and will bear the risk of settlement default. The RCB minimises concentrations of
credit risk by undertaking transactions with a number of brokers and counterparties
on recognised and reputable exchanges.

13 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Since the year end we acknowledge the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
its impact on the global financial markets. We continue to monitor its impact on our
investments. As of 20 March 2020 we are satisfied that there has been no material
long term effect on the investment portfolio.
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APPENDIX A

Extract from the accounts of

THE CHURCH OF IRELAND THEOLOGICAL INSTITUTE

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

As at 30 June 2019

Income

Grants from the RB

Divinity student fees

Receipts from guests and conferences
Non-stipendiary ministry training

Clergy study courses

Foundation course

CME/lay training

CME/lay training - release of deferred income
Priorities Fund

Expenditure

Academic expenses
Administration expenses
Operating expenses
Establishment expenses

Surplus for the year

Balance at beginning of the year

Funding adjustment in respect of previous year surplus

Balance at the end of the year

2019

845,000
88,776
155,129
4,936
2,310
25,285
46,175
(27,000)
30,000

1,170,611

445,239
118,631
340,008
211,116

1,114,994

55,617

133,707
(133,707)

55,617

2018

883,560
87,766
145,115
3,000
2,040
22,288
26,983
37,500

1,208,252

441,634
124,124
295,371
213,416

1,074,545

133,707

38,556
(38,556)

133,707

There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those dealt with above.

85



The Representative Church Body — Report 2020

Extract from the accounts of

THE CHURCH OF IRELAND THEOLOGICAL INSTITUTE

BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 June 2019

Current assets

Sundry debtors

Bank deposit accounts
Bank current accounts
Cash on hand

Creditors — amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year

Net assets

Capital and trust funds

Accumulated surplus
Ferrar Memorial Fund for Liturgical Library
Gregg Memorial Fund for College Library

86

2019 2018
€ €
148,664 213,721
3,321 3,319
37,293 20,375

7 14

189,285 237,429
(130,287) (99,358)
58,998 138,071
58,998 138,071
(3,321) (3,319)
55,677 134,752
55,617 133,707

4 58

56 987
55,677 134,752
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APPENDIX B

ANNUALISED FUND PERFORMANCES — COMPARATIVE TOTAL RETURNS

valuation valuation
(millions) (millions)

2019 2018
General Funds (Combined) €190.2 €167.7
Benchmark
Relative Performance
Parochial, Diocesan Funds etc
RB General Unit Trust (RI) €243.7 €210.3
Benchmark
Relative Performance
RB General Unit Trust (NI) £60.1 £54.7
Benchmark
Relative Performance
Clergy Pensions Fund €190.3 €166.8

Benchmark

Relative Performance

Bond Market Indices /Benchmark Components
ML Irish Govt Bond Index (€)

ML European Broad Mkt Bond Index (€)

ML Sterling Broad Mkt Bond Index (£)

Equity Market Indices /Benchmark Components
Dow Jones Stoxx 600 (€)

S&P 500 ($)

FTSE 100 (£)

All values shown are as at end of calendar year.
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2019
%

17.5
213
-3.8

18.6
213
-2.7
12.4
153
-2.9

17.1
15.9
1.2

6.9
6.0
8.0

27.7
31.5
17.2

3-year
annualised
2017-2019
%

54
73
-1.9

5.6
73
-1.7
6.1
7.2
-1.1

6.6
5.7
0.9

2.7
2.3
34

8.4
153
6.2

5-year
annualised
2015-2019
%

6.2
7.2
-1.0

7.0
7.2
-0.2
8.2
8.9
-0.7

6.5
5.0
1.5

2.6
23
4.2

1.5
11.7
7.1
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APPENDIX C
GENERAL UNIT TRUSTS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
EXTRACTS FROM INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORTS

SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Page
RB General Unit Trust (Republic of Ireland) 89
RB General Unit Trust (Northern Ireland) 94
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (REPUBLIC OF IRELAND)
INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT FOR SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

FUND OBJECTIVE

To maintain and ideally grow the capital value of a unit over time while paying a stable,
sustainable and competitive distribution rate.

PERFORMANCE

Total Returns as at 31 December 2019 (3 Years & 5 Years Annualised):

Annualised Total Returns %: 6 Months 1 Year | 3 Years | 5 Years
RB General Unit Trust (RI) 8.3 18.6 5.6 7.0
Benchmark* 7.3 21.3 7.3 7.2
RB General Unit Trust (RI) Capital 7.0 15.1 2.3 3.5
ROI Inflation (CPI) -0.1 1.5 0.9 0.5

* Benchmark from 1 January 2019: Equities 65%, Bonds 30%, Cash 5% (50% Stoxx Europe
600, 15% S&P 500, 20% Euro broad market, 10% Sterling broad market, 5% Cash).

During the calendar year 2019, the capital value of the Fund increased by 15.1% while the total
return (capital and income) was 18.6%. Performance is below benchmark given the Fund’s lower
risk profile in the midst of the on-going bull market in global equities and a lack of exposure to
growth stocks e.g. high multiple Tech stocks.

During the six months under review, the total return of the fund was 8.3% versus a benchmark
return of 7.3%. Performance was ahead of benchmark mainly as a bias in exposure to certain
UK and Irish stocks which had performed poorly in the earlier part of 2019 recovered strongly
as Brexit uncertainty dissipated.

The Investment Committee, as part of its oversight and supervisory duties, has endorsed this
strategy, which has continued to deliver against the fund’s objective. The Fund manager believes
that the Fund is better positioned for a market downturn relative to the benchmark.

The historic price of a unit is detailed in the below chart.

Unit Price
550

500 -

450 -

400 -

350 -

Cent

300 -

250

200 -

150 -

100

Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Dec
02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 19

Unit Price | 345.1|311.9  350.0 425.8 462.9 | 532.1|352.5 234.3 | 253.8|253.1|271.9|303.2|336.2 | 383.2 |378.0|391.7|394.4  392.2| 419.6
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (REPUBLIC OF IRELAND)
INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT FOR SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

TRUST ASSET DISTRIBUTION

The market value of the investments, including the value of the capital deposit account was
€243.7m.

The ten largest holdings at 31 December 2019 were:

% of Fund % of Fund
1. Cash 9.3% 6. Evonik 1.8%
2. Irish Property Unit Trust 3.0% 7. AIB 12.5% 2035 1.7%
3. BOI 10.1% Pref 2.7% 8. Group Bruxelles Lambert 1.6%
4. NAMA Equity 2.1% 9. Anglo International Shipping  1.6%
5. Vaneck Gold Miners ETF ~ 1.9% 10. IAG 1.6%

The investment profile in terms of distribution of the assets (by value) at 31 December
2019 is displayed in the following chart:

High-Yield Irish
Bonds Equities
11.1% 10.6%

Alternatives
5.8%

'\ UK Equities
Bond 5.1%
Substitutes
6.2% 1
__—FEuropean

Equities
Property_/ \ 18.0%
7.4%
Cash <
9.3% ROW

Precious Investment Equthes
Metals / Grade 16.7%
Mining Bonds

7.2% 2.7%

INCOME DISTRIBUTION TO UNIT HOLDERS

During the 6 months under review a distribution of 4.2 cent per unit was paid in December,
unchanged from the prior year. This gave a combined total distribution for the calendar
year of 11.5 cent per unit.

The Trust has a dividend reserve policy that targets a level of 2% of Fund value. The
Dividend Equalisation Reserve (DER) will not be allowed to exceed 4% of Fund value and
at least 80% of net income in any individual year will be distributed to unit holders. A
healthy reserve aids the management of a stable and sustainable distribution going forward.
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (REPUBLIC OF IRELAND)
INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT FOR SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Based on the value of a unit at 31 December 2019 of €4.196, and a full year distribution of
11.5 cent, the distribution yield was 2.74%. (The comparative figures for 30 June 2019
showed a yield of 2.93% based on a unit value then of €3.92 and a full year distribution of
11.5 cent). At 30" June 2019 a transfer of €0.35m was made to the Dividend Equalisation
Reserve resulting in a DER of €5.35m or 2.34% of the net asset value of the fund.

There were net outputs of €0.4m from the Fund for the six months to 31 December 2019,
reflecting new cash of €1.4m less redemptions of €1.8m.

Environmental and Social Governance (ESG)

In the reporting period, the Investment Committee monitored and carried out an assessment
of individual stock holdings within the various portfolios and reported to the
Representative Body that it was satisfied that the investment managers remain sensitive to
the Church’s concerns and expectations with regard to Environmental, Social and
Governance (ESG) issues. Environmental sustainability remains high on the agenda and
the Committee is continuing to monitor best practice and developments in this area and to
seek to lower the climate change impact within its portfolios.

Income Distributions (2009 — 2019) - Financial Year-End 30 June (2009-2019)
& 31 December 2019

RBGUT(RI) Financial Year Distributions
14

12

i

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2019H2

1

Cent Per Unit
IS o © S

~

=)

O Interim December M Final June

In-house Investment team
The Representative Church Body
January 2020
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (REPUBLIC OF IRELAND)

STATEMENT OF TOTAL RETURN SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

6 months 12 months
31-Dec-19 30-Jun-19
€'000 €'000
Income 3,009 7,436
Expenses 21) (38)
Net income 2,988 7,398
Distributions (2,613) (7,048)
Transfer to dividend equalisation reserve 375 350
Net gains / (losses) on investment activities
- Net realised gains 6,043 6,567
- Net change in unrealised gains/(losses) on
investments 9,845 (7,799)
Net increase/(decrease) in net assets from
investment activities 16,263 (882)
Funds brought forward 233,566 232,760
Proceeds from units issued 1,378 3,155
Cost of units redeemed (1,813) (1,467)
Funds carried forward 249,394 233,566

Signed on behalf of the Trustee: HJ Saville
K Bowers
Date: 10 March 2020
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (REPUBLIC OF IRELAND)

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

6 months 12 months
31-Dec-19 30-Jun-19
€'000 €'000
Investments 221,809 207,339
Current assets
Debtors 27,330 24,693
Cash at bank 1,363 2,128
28,693 26,821
Current liabilities
Financial instruments 869 373
Creditors (amounts falling due within one year) 239 221
1,108 594
Net current assets 27,585 26,227
Total assets 249,394 233,566
Trust capital fund 249,394 233,566

Signed on behalf of the Trustee: HJ Saville
K Bowers
Date: 10 March 2020
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (NORTHERN IRELAND)
INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT FOR SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

FUND OBJECTIVE

To maintain and ideally grow the capital value of a unit over time while paying a stable,
sustainable and competitive distribution rate.

PERFORMANCE

Total Returns as at 31 December 2019 (3 Years & 5 Years Annualised):

Annualised Total Returns %: 6 Months 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years
RB General Unit Trust (NI) 34 124 6.1 8.2
Benchmark* 3.1 15.3 7.2 8.9
RB General Unit Trust (NI) Capital 2.0 8.9 2.8 4.7
UK Inflation (CPI) 0.6 1.3 2.1 1.6

* Benchmark from 1 January 2019: Equities 65%, Bonds 25%, Cash 5% (25% Stoxx Europe 600,
25% FTSE All- Share, 15% S&P 500, 10% Euro broad market, 20% Sterling broad market, 5% Cash

During the calendar year 2019, the capital value of the Fund increased by 8.9% while the total
return (capital and income) 12.4%. Performance is below benchmark given the Fund’s lower
risk profile in the midst of the on-going bull market in global equities and a lack of exposure to
growth stocks e.g. high multiple Tech stocks.

During the six months under review, the total return of the fund was 3.4% versus a benchmark
return of 3.1%. Performance was ahead of benchmark mainly as a bias in exposure to certain
UK and Irish stocks which had performed poorly in the earlier part of 2019 recovered strongly
as Brexit uncertainty dissipated.

The Investment Committee, as part of its oversight and supervisory duties, has endorsed this
strategy, which has continued to deliver against the fund’s objective. The Fund manager believes
that the Fund is better positioned for a market downturn relative to the benchmark.

The historic price of a unit is detailed in the below chart.

Unit Price
400
350
300
g
c 250
[
a
200 -
150 -
100
Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Jun | Dec
02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 19
Unit Price | 184.4 | 171.5 | 190.6 | 224.0 |257.5 | 292.7 | 245.9 |202.4 | 227.3 | 263.6|258.8 | 295.0 | 305.9 |310.1 | 344.6 | 370.9 | 380.6 | 383.2 | 390.9
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (NORTHERN IRELAND)
INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT FOR SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

TRUST ASSET DISTRIBUTION

The market value of the investments, including the value of the capital deposit account was
£60.6m.

The ten largest holdings at 31 December 2019 were:

% of Fund % of Fund
1. Cash 8.5% 6. BOI 10.1% Pref 1.9%
2. Avenue Properties (NI) 3.5% 7. Irish Property Unit Trust 1.8%
3. AIB 12.5% 2035 2.4% 8. Vaneck Gold Miners 1.8%
4. Viridian 4.75% 2024 2.1% 9. Evonik 1.8%
5. Barclays 1.9% 10. Brit Ins 6.625% 2030 1.7%

The investment profile in terms of distribution of the assets (by value) at 31 December
2019 is displayed in the following chart:

. cash Irish
Precious 8.5% Equities
Metals/Mining 7.5%
8.2% UK Equities
9.5%
Alternatives
57%
— FEuropean
High-Yield Equities
Bonds 16.7%
11.8% \
Bond %
ROW
Substitutes | - Equities
6.4% Property 15.3%
10.4%

INCOME DISTRIBUTION TO UNIT HOLDERS

During the 6 months under review a distribution of 4.5 pence per unit was paid in
December, unchanged from the prior year. This gave a combined total distribution for the
calendar year of 10.8 pence per unit.

The Trust has a dividend reserve policy that targets a level of 2% of Fund value. The
Dividend Equalisation Reserve (DER) will not be allowed to exceed 4% of Fund value and
at least 80% of net income in any individual year will be distributed to unit holders. A
healthy reserve aids the management of a stable and sustainable distribution going forward.
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (NORTHERN IRELAND)
INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT FOR SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Based on the value of a unit at 31 December 2019 of £3.91, and a full year distribution of
10.8 pence, the distribution yield was 2.76%. (The comparative figures for 30 June 2019
showed a yield of 2.82% based on a unit value then of £3.83 and a full year distribution of
10.8 pence). At 30th June 2019 a transfer of £0.08m was made to the Dividend Equalisation
Reserve resulting in a DER of £1.2m or 2.0% of the net asset value of the fund.

There were net inputs of £0.3m to the Fund for the six months to 31 December 2019,
reflecting new cash of £0.46m less redemptions of £0.16m.

Environmental and Social Governance (ESG)

In the reporting period, the Investment Committee monitored and carried out an assessment
of individual stock holdings within the various portfolios and reported to the
Representative Body that it was satisfied that the investment managers remain sensitive to
the Church’s concerns and expectations with regard to Environmental, Social and
Governance (ESG) issues. Environmental sustainability remains high on the agenda and
the Committee is continuing to monitor best practice and developments in this area and to
seek to lower the climate change impact within its portfolios

Income Distributions (2009 — 2019) - Financial Year-End 30 June (2009-2019)
& 31 December 2019

RBGUT(NI) Financial Year Distributions
12

A,

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2019H2

Pence
[=)]
.

Olnterim December W Final June ‘

In-house Investment team
The Representative Church Body
January 2020
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (NORTHERN IRELAND)

STATEMENT OF TOTAL RETURN SIX MONTH ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

6 Months 12 Months

31-Dec-19 30-Jun-19

£'000 £'000
Income 792 1,862
Expenses 9) (16)
Net Income 783 1,846
Distributions (750) (1,767)
Transfer to dividend equalisation reserve 33 79
Net gains / (losses) on investment activities
Net realised gains 2,186 859
Net change in unrealised (losses) on investments (1,009) 477)
Net increase in net assets from investment
activities 1,210 461
Funds brought forward 59,768 57,589
Receipts on issue of units 463 2,153
Payments on withdrawals of units (167) (435)
Funds carried forward 61,274 59,768

Signed on behalf of the Trustee: HJ Saville
K Bowers
Date: 10 March 2020
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THE RB GENERAL UNIT TRUST (NORTHERN IRELAND)

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Investments
Total assets

Current assets

Debtors

Cash at bank

Current Liabilities

Financial instruments

Creditors (amounts falling due within 1 year)
Net current assets

Total assets

Trust capital fund

Signed on behalf of the Trustee: HJ Saville
K Bowers

Date: 10 March 2020
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6 Months 12 Months
31-Dec-19 30-Jun-19
£'000 £'000

55,195 55,341
5,588 3,718
825 871
6,413 4,589

207 130

127 32

334 162

6,079 4,427
61,274 59,768
61,274 59,768
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APPENDIX D

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE POLICY -
INTEGRATING ESG INTO INVESTMENT DECISIONS 2020

As the Trustee of the Church of Ireland, The Representative Church Body is tasked with
supporting the ministry of the Church for generations to come. This objective is supported
through the prudent management of investments. As a religious organisation, stewardship
obligations are more than purely for financial benefit and the RCB has a responsibility to
invest in a manner consistent with the witness and ethos of the Church of Ireland. This
leads us to consider long term environmental, social and governance factors (ESG) when
we make investment decisions, manage our investments and engage with companies in
which we invest. The RCB takes the view that this approach will also contribute positively
towards the long term sustainability of the asset base.

What is ESG?

Envi I ERES Governance
nvironmenta Human Rights; Eecutive
Climate impact; Ioc.al community compensation;

greenhouse gas impact and .
emissions ; energy employment; independence
I(I-zf?aepcy;t h C:l'rl]d Iagou;; . and composition;
poflution; water €alth and satety voting and other
scarcity and and anti- sy i
biodiversity corruption rights
practices :

The impact of ESG on financial performance tends to emerge gradually over time. These
factors can have clear, direct impacts on a company’s short term profitability, for example,
through greater regulation leading to higher operating costs. They can also have indirect
impacts on a company’s long term performance by influencing branding, customer loyalty,
ability to attract talent etc.

The RCB believes that organisations which manage ESG factors effectively are likely to create
sustainable value over the long term and hence are considered an essential component of
investment analysis. This approach is adopted both by the in-house investment team and by
any active manager appointed by the RCB. The RCB actively seeks to avoid investment in
businesses which would be inconsistent with the ethos and mission of a Christian organisation.

The RCB does not invest in companies where a significant source of revenue (in excess of
10%) is derived from the production of weapons (including key parts and services) and/or from
the manufacture of tobacco products. From time to time companies, or external managers, may
have or acquire exposure to interests which we would prefer to avoid via subsidiaries and/or
takeovers and these are reviewed on a case by case basis by the Investment Committee.

Climate Change and environmental stability are recognised by the RCB as a distinct and critical
responsible investment issue. The RCB supports the transition to a low carbon economy and
has taken significant steps to reduce the climate change impact of its investment portfolios.
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Certain carbon-intensive companies are not considered likely to be able to assist with the
transition to a low carbon economy and on this basis investment exclusions are in place for
companies where more than 10% of turnover is derived from the a) the extraction of thermal
coal and b) the extraction of tar sands. As appropriate within the context of the agreed investment
strategy and risk parameters, the RCB aims to increase its exposure to green alternatives
and to seek companies with good environmental policies that are committed to reducing
their carbon footprint consistent with a 2 degree alignment as laid out in the Paris Pledge.

The RCB considers engagement to be an important component of its ESG policy and
participates in both corporate and public policy engagement in collaboration with other
investors through the Church Investors Group (CIG) and the Institutional Investors Group
on Climate Change (IIGCC) on Climate Change and other ESG issues.

How is ESG implemented?

Integrate ESG into Make an impact through
Investment Decisions Collaboration

e Integrate material ESG e Act as a constructive, ¢ Collaborate with other
factors into due diligence, active owner by like minded global
investment analysis, advocating progress on investors via the Church
monitoring and asset defined areas and Investors Group (CIG) and
management exercising our voting Institutional Investors

rights as shareholders Group on Climate Change

(IIGCC) to advocate for
better performance on
ESG factors in companies
and markets in which we
invest

Individual Companies may also be excluded from time to time because of unethical behaviour
or consistent breaches of core ESG principles. Exclusion should always be a measure of last
resort once the company’s will and commitment to improve its practices have been assessed.

As shareholders, we seek to be active, engaged and informed owners. We endeavour to
monitor ESG factors and to engage (most frequently collaboratively) with companies to
promote improved management of ESG issues in order to enhance long-term outcomes in
the companies for the benefit of Church of Ireland beneficiaries. Third party research is
used to identify companies globally that may be ineligible for investment under our policy.
Such research is not exhaustive and resources are limited, but RCB is committed to having
a strong ‘ethical’ as well as a strong financial ‘balance sheet’.

The Investment Committee monitors ESG issues on an on-going basis and conducts a
detailed ESG review of its investments annually to ensure that the investments held for all
funds remain consistent with the RCB’s ESG policy and that the investment managers
continue to be sensitive to the Church’s expectations on environmental, social and
governance issues in their investment decision-making process.

December 2019
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APPENDIX E
RCB CLIMATE CHANGE POLICY 2020

As Christians and responsible investors, the RCB on behalf of the Church of Ireland seeks
to mitigate and lower the Climate Change impact within its investment portfolios and has
taken several steps in this regard over the past number of years including collaborative
engagement, investments in renewable energy (wind, solar and forestry), the
implementation of restrictions for investments in coal mining and tar sands (most carbon
intensive) and several disposals/divestments.

Given the importance of Climate Change, Fund managers will incorporate these risks,
where material, into their investment decision making and analysis alongside other
financial and Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors with particular regard
to their impact on shareholder returns. The Investment Committee will continue to monitor
and review companies that appear not to be aligned with the long-term transition to a low-
carbon economy and engage and/or divest as considered appropriate.

The RCB supports shareholder engagement in the area of environmental sustainability — it
does this through its membership of the Church Investors Group (CIG) and the Institutional
Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC), who provide investors with a collaborative
platform for engagement with public policy makers and exchange of expertise on Climate
Change issues. Engagement and shareholder resolutions have been undertaken with a
number of companies to achieve increased transparency and reduced CO2 emissions.

The Investment Committee believes that all church investors face a financial and moral
responsibility to take significant steps to address climate change. It has divested from
companies involved in the extraction of thermal coal and tar sands as these companies are
unlikely to be able to align with a future that limits temperature rises to a level that is well
below 2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. It has also sought to increase exposure
to renewable energy assets where the risk/return profile is attractive. Following a recent
review of the remaining energy exposure the Committee has agreed to implement
additional restrictions for fossil fuel companies involved in the extraction of oil and gas
(identified by exposure to Reserves), especially those which are not compatible with a two
degrees alignment, and has set a target to be fully divested from such stocks by 2022.

The RCB joined the Climate Action 100+ initiative at the end of November 2017 as a
founding signatory and supporter. The Climate Action 100+ is an investor initiative to engage
with world’s largest corporate Greenhouse Gas emitters (across various industries and
sectors) to curb emissions, strengthen climate disclosures and improve climate governance.
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The RCB’s investment portfolio is only an element of the wider issue of Climate Change
as the Carbon footprint of the Church as a whole should be considered. Each Diocese is
encouraged by the RCB to reflect on how it may contribute to a more ‘Climate Friendly’
community within the Church of Ireland and suggested actions are available on the website
at www.ireland.anglican.org/parish-resources/509/how-green-is-your-church to support
parishes and/or Dioceses who wish to become more engaged with environmental issues
including Climate Change and Biodiversity.

December 2019
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APPENDIX F

THE CHURCH OF IRELAND CLERGY
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEMES (NI AND RI)
— REPORTS OF THE SCHEME TRUSTEES

The Church of Ireland Clergy Defined Contribution Pension Scheme, Northern
Ireland (“the Scheme”)

Background

The Scheme commenced on 1 June 2013 and is a Defined Contributions Scheme. The
individual member's benefits are determined by reference to the contributions paid into the
Scheme by and in respect of that member and based on the investment return on those
contributions.

Management of the Scheme

Trustee Solutions Limited (TSL) is the professional independent trustee of the Scheme
appointed by the Representative Church Body (RCB) to carry out the purposes of the trust
and represent the best interests of the beneficiaries. TSL is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Pinsent Masons LLP, an international law firm.

The member's rights and obligations under the scheme are managed by the Trustee in
accordance with a Definitive Deed and Rules dated 1 October 2015. The Scheme is a
registered pension scheme for tax purposes under Part 4 of the Finance Act 2004.

Administration

Administration services are provided by Scottish Widows (formerly Zurich) who invest the
Scheme contributions in accordance with the investment options selected by the member.
Members of the Scheme receive annual benefit statements showing the value of their
investment funds, together with an illustration of their benefits at normal retirement age.
Members can also check how their funds are performing by logging into the Scottish
Widow's member website.

Investments

Mercer Limited is appointed by the Trustee as consultant and to manage the Scheme
investments. Mercer provides quarterly investment reports to the Trustee reviewing how
the investments have performed over the previous quarter and since inception. To date, all
of the investment funds available to members have performed at least in line with the
appropriate benchmarks.

The Trustee believes that environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors (such as
climate change) are important when investing Scheme assets. The Trustee considers how
ESG, climate change and stewardship are integrated within Mercer's investment processes
and those of the underlying managers in the monitoring process.
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Governance

As part of the ongoing monitoring, auditing and assessment of Scottish Widow's services
Mercer provide quarterly operational governance reports to the Trustee. Scottish Widow's
products and services are monitored by Mercer each quarter against the required market-
leading position. No issues have arisen during the ongoing monitoring and assessment of
Scottish Widow's services during the year.

Value for Members

The Trustee obtains an annual "Value for Members" assessment of the Scheme. The most
recent review (dated October 2019) confirmed that the costs and charges borne by the
members continued to represent good value for them. Members further benefit from other
services offered by the Scheme including ongoing Trustee oversight and review of the
default investment option and the fund range. The efficiency of the administration
processes and wide-ranging support and governance of the Scheme from the Trustee, the
RCB and their professional advisors are also beneficial to members.

Details of all charges and transaction costs within the Scheme are included in the Trustee
Chair's annual statement (dated 11 December 2019) which is available on the website.

Trustee Solutions Limited
March 2020

The Church of Ireland Clergy Defined Contribution Pension Scheme, Republic of
Ireland (“the Scheme”)

The Scheme is Defined Contribution in nature and commenced on 1 June 2013.
Irish Pensions Trust Limited (“IPT”) is the professional trustee of the Scheme.

The primary role of IPT is to ensure that the Scheme operates efficiently, the trust is
executed correctly, and, at all times, act in the interests of the beneficiaries.

The Registered Administrator and Investment Manager of the Scheme is Zurich Life
Assurance plc. Mercer (Ireland) Limited is the consultant and investment advisor.
PricewaterhouseCoopers audit the financial statements.

The Revenue Approval Number is SF — 3946 and the Pensions Board reference number is
PB —-269291

At the end of the last reporting period (31 May 2019) the Scheme had 198 active members
and 27 deferred members. The value of the assets at that date was € 9.097m (€7.763m at
31 May 2018) and the Scheme was compliant with all Revenue and Pensions Act (as
amended) requirements.

Irish Pensions Trust Limited, as trustee of the Scheme
March 2020
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APPENDIX G

THE CHURCH OF IRELAND

CLERGY PENSIONS TRUSTEE DAC

REPORT ON THE CLERGY PENSIONS FUND

FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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Mr Henry Algeo*

Mr Nigel Bellt
Rev Canon Henry Gilmore} (Chair)
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Mrs Ethne Harknessq
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9 from 17 September 2019, in place of Rt Rev Dr Paul Colton (retired on 30 June 2019)
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INTRODUCTION

The Trustee presents its annual report on the operation of the Clergy Pensions Fund for the
year ended 31 December 2019. The report covers the main areas of Fund activity including
financial statements, actuarial and investment management, and also looks at developments
during the year. The content of this report conforms to the Occupational Pensions Schemes
(Disclosure of Information) Regulations, 2006 prescribed by the Minister for Social
Protection under the Pensions Act 1990.

OPERATIONAL REPORT 2019
Financial position of the Fund

Year on year there was an increase in the Fund assets of €23.5m with a closing value of
€190.4m, having met benefit payments of €7.2m together with administrative and other
costs of €0.2m.

Contributions to the Fund in the year were €2.5m, being the total value of diocesan pension
levies and a contribution from the RCB. Investment return, including income and realised
and unrealised investment gains, totalled €28.4m net of investment management expenses.
The Fund is managed with the objective of meeting the cost of future liabilities from a
combination of contributions, income and growth in investment value.

The return on the Fund’s assets in the year was 17.1% against a benchmark return of 15.9%.

The development of the Fund is monitored by the Actuary and a full Actuarial Valuation is
carried out at intervals of not more than three years and the final results presented to the Trustee.
The most recent triennial valuation was as at 30 September 2018. This was the second full
valuation since a Funding Proposal was agreed with the Pensions Authority in 2013, in
response to the result of the 2012 triennial valuation which had shown that the Fund did not
satisfy the Minimum Funding Standard under Section 44 of the Pensions Act at that date. The
overall objective of the Funding Proposal is to restore the solvency of the Fund by 2023 through
the implementation of a series of funding and cost saving initiatives. A summary of the key
elements of the Funding Proposal is contained in Annex 2 to this report (page 137).

An international environment of continued low interest rates impacts on the calculated
value of the future liabilities of the Fund. The liabilities of the Fund are represented by the
capitalised value of the benefits payable to members now and in the future. They are
calculated by reference to the yield available on highly rated bonds of a similar duration to
the liabilities of the Fund. Yields have fallen considerably which effectively increases the
cost of purchasing such bonds, and thus increases the actuarially calculated liability.

In the 2018 triennial valuation the Actuary confirmed that the financial position of the Fund
had improved since the previous valuation and that the Scheme satisfied the Funding
Standard and Funding Standard Reserve at the valuation date, 30 September 2018.
However, he pointed out that the Scheme remained vulnerable to a correction in market
values or to a strengthening of sterling and advised that it would be premature to consider
any change to the contribution structure as set out in the Funding Proposal.
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The Actuary is also required to undertake an annual assessment of the Fund. In his annual
assessment as at 31 December 2019 he stated that, as at that date, based on the assumptions
employed, the Scheme’s assets were projected to exceed the projected Funding Standard
Liability and Funding Standard Reserve at 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the annual
review confirmed that the Actuary was reasonably satisfied that, as at 31 December 2019,
the funding proposal remained on track to achieve its objective.

The Actuary also noted in his annual assessment that the period since 31 December 2019
to end March 2020 has seen a substantial decline in asset values as a result of the emergence
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The impact of these falls is not reflected in the Actuary’s
annual assessment as at 31 December 2019 but will be considered in the next review, which
is due to be completed as at 31 December 2020.

The Trustee has agreed that the range of initiatives contained in the Funding Proposal
remain appropriate and no adjustment should be made to them at this time. The funding
position will continue to be monitored during the inter-valuation period and will be
formally reviewed again following the next triennial valuation due to take place in 2021.

Copies of the Actuarial Funding Certificate and Funding Standard Reserve Certificate as
submitted to the Pensions Authority following the most recent triennial valuation are
included as Annex 3 to this report (page 138).

A copy of the Actuary’s Statement as at 31 December 2019 is included as Annex 4 (page 141).
Administrative duties

The Trustee is pleased to report that the Fund has been administered in accordance with
regulatory requirements during the year. Various duties in relation to the operation of the
Fund were carried out during 2019 by the RCB administration department, the Church of
Ireland Pensions Board and the RCB Investment Committee. The Trustee wishes to thank
each of these for their assistance and support in its management of the Fund.

Membership

Details on the membership of the Fund are reported by the Church of Ireland Pensions
Board in Annex 1 to this report (see page 131). The Fund was closed to new members and
to future accruals of pensionable service on 31 May 2013.

Pensions in payment

In accordance with the Rules of the scheme, annual discretionary increases to pensions in
payment are permitted, up to a maximum of 5%, as the Trustee, on the advice of the
Actuary and with the approval of the RCB, may determine. In view of the solvency position
of'the Fund and in accordance with the current Funding Proposal it was agreed during 2019
that no discretionary increases in pensions in payment be applied in 2020.

109



The Representative Church Body — Report 2020
Pensionable Stipend

Pensionable Stipend is used to calculate the value of pension benefits payable. In
accordance with the provisions of Chapter XIV of the Constitution of the Church of
Ireland, levels of Pensionable Stipend for Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland are
fixed annually by the Standing Committee on the recommendation of the Representative
Church Body and the Trustee.

In accordance with the Funding Proposal for the Fund, it was agreed by the Standing Committee
in September 2019, on the recommendation of the RCB and the Trustee, that Pensionable
Stipend levels with effect from 1 January 2020 should remain unchanged from 2019 at
£25,498 per annum in Northern Ireland and €36,219 per annum in the Republic of Ireland.

Statutory increases in UK pensions for service post April 1997

Under UK pensions legislation statutory increases must be applied to a pension which
relates to service completed in that jurisdiction for the period (i) 6 April 1997 to 5 April
2005 or normal retirement age, if earlier, by the annualised rate of inflation up to a
maximum of 5% and (ii) 6 April 2005 to date of retirement, whether that be on or before
normal retirement age, by the annualised rate of inflation up to a maximum of 2.5%.

The UK annualised rate of inflation to September 2019 was 1.7%, therefore increases were
applied on 1 January 2020 to the service periods outlined under both (i) and (ii) in the
previous paragraphs.

There is no similar pensions legislation in the Republic of Ireland.

Deferred pensions

Deferred pensions are revalued in accordance with the relevant statutory provisions.
Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC) Fund

The report on the AVC Fund for 2019 is contained in the report from the Church of Ireland
Pensions Board, set out in Annex 1 to this report (see page 134).

CONSTITUTION AND GOVERNANCE OF THE FUND

The Clergy Pensions Fund is a defined benefit scheme and is established under Chapter XIV of
the Constitution of the Church of Ireland as amended from time to time by the General Synod.

The Fund has been approved by the Revenue Commissioners as a retirement benefits scheme
under Part 30, Chapter I of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, and is treated as an ‘exempt
approved scheme’ for the purposes of that Act. In addition, the Fund, has been approved by the
Board of the Inland Revenue of the United Kingdom as a retirement benefits scheme for the
purposes of Chapter I, Part XIV, Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and is treated as an
‘exempt approved scheme’ for the purposes of Section 592 of that Act in relation to its provision
of pension benefits to those members of the clergy who are living in Northern Ireland.
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The Trustee

The Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Trustee Designated Activity Company is the sole
Trustee of the Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Fund and is responsible for the
stewardship of the Fund assets in accordance with the provisions of Chapter XIV of the
Constitution of the Church of Ireland (the Trust Deed and Rules of the Fund).

The powers and duties of the Trustee are set out in section 12(1) of Chapter XIV. In
accordance with the provisions of Chapter XIV certain duties have been delegated by the
Trustee to the Representative Church Body, the Church of Ireland Pensions Board and the
RB Investment Committee. The Statement of the Trustee’s Responsibilities in relation to
the financial statements is set out on page 117.

The Trustee Directors are appointed by the Representative Church Body, in accordance
with the Articles of the company, on the nomination of the Church of Ireland Pensions
Board and the Executive Committee of the Representative Church Body.

There were three retirements of Directors during 2019: Mr Richard Milliken retired from
office on 3 April 2019, Rt Rev Dr Paul Colton — the Trustee Company’s last remaining
founder Director — retired from office on 30 June 2019 and Mr Nigel Bell retired from office
on 31 December 2019. The Trustee wishes to record its appreciation for the contribution of
Mr Milliken, Bishop Colton and Mr Bell to its work during the time of their Directorship.

Rev Canon Henry Gilmore was appointed a Director with effect from 1 January 2019 and
was subsequently appointed Chair of the Trustee. Mr Henry Algeo and Mrs Ethne Harkness
were appointed Directors with effect from 17 September 2019.

Mr Terence Forsyth, who retired as a Director on 31 December 2018, was invited to
continue to attend meetings of the Trustee in an advisory capacity for a period, in the
interests of providing continuity.

The Trustee Directors and the administrators have access to a copy of the Trustee
Handbook and Guidance notes issued by the Pensions Authority. The Trustee Directors
have completed appropriate training for their duties and responsibilities. No costs or
expenses were incurred by the Fund in respect of Trustee Director training during the year.

Management and administration of the Fund

The Representative Church Body was appointed by the Trustee as the Registered
Administrator for the Fund. The duties of a registered administrator include preparing the
Trustee Annual Report and Accounts, which should include at least the specific
information set out in the regulations to the Pensions Act, and providing annual benefit
statements to members. In addition to this, the RCB provides administration relating to
investments, benefits and accounting controls.

The Church of Ireland Pensions Board also carries out certain duties relating to the
administration of the Fund as delegated to the Board by the Trustee in accordance with the
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provisions of Chapter XIV of the Constitution of the Church of Ireland. A report from the
Board is included in Annex 1 to this report (page 130).

Actuarial advice is provided by Mercer Actuarial Services, Dublin.

The RB Investment Committee, in conjunction with the RCB in-house investment team, take
overall responsibility for investment management in furtherance of the investment objectives
and strategy for the Fund, using Irish Life Investment Managers (ILIM) for the passive
management of a proportion of the Fund (41% at year end 2019 compared to 43% at the end
0f2018). Investment management is undertaken by investment managers in accordance with
a formal fund management agreement. The costs in relation to administration, administrative
actuarial advice and investment management are charged to the Fund.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 Northern Trust was the custodian of most of the funds
managed by the RCB for the Fund, and Citibank was the custodian of the unit-linked funds held
by Irish Life Investment Managers (ILIM) for the Fund. In addition to the records maintained
by the custodians, ILIM maintains its own records of securities, and these securities are held
beneficially in the name of Irish Life Assurance plc on behalf of the Trustee of the Fund.

Statement of Risk

Under law, the Trustee is required to describe the condition of the Fund and the risks
associated with the Fund, and disclose these to members.

The Trustee is satisfied that it is taking all reasonable steps, including the appointment of
experienced professional advisers and administrators, to protect the members of the Fund
from the effects of these risks. However, it is not possible to guard against every
eventuality, and it is necessary to take some investment risk and other risks in order to
manage the affordability of the plan benefits and the capacity of the Sponsor and the
Church to meet this commitment.

The full risk statement, which was last updated in 2015 and is reviewed annually, can be
found in Annex 5 to this report (page 142).

Investment policy

The overall investment objective of the Fund is to seek to maximise the total return on the
assets under management over the longer term, while seeking to ensure that, as at 31
December 2023 the CPF is, at a minimum, fully solvent (in terms of both the Funding
Standard and the Funding Standard Reserve) and that the Fund is appropriately de-risked.

The Trustee reviews investment objectives to ensure that they remain appropriate to the
profile of the Fund.

The investment policy for the management of the assets of the Fund is set out in a Statement

of Investment Policy Principles (SIPP), which was last updated in 2015 and is reviewed
annually, and can be found at Annex 6 (page 144).
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Following the closure of the Fund to new members and to future benefit accrual, agreed at
General Synod 2013, a revised investment strategy was adopted by the Trustee. This was
done in consultation with the Sponsor and having taken expert investment and actuarial
advice, in order to satisfy the Funding Proposal agreed with the Pensions Authority.
A review of investment objectives and strategy is currently underway in consultation with
the Sponsor and the RB Investment Committee.

A proportion of the equity and fixed interest elements of the Clergy Pensions Fund is
managed by Irish Life Investment Managers on an indexed (passive) basis replicating the
performance of particular indices. The balance of the Fund is managed by the RCB’s in-
house investment team in accordance with the investment strategy adopted by the Trustee.
Certain equities are excluded in accordance with the Representative Church Body’s
Environmental, Social and Governance Policy.

Internal Dispute Resolution

Under Irish pensions legislation all pension schemes are required to have an Internal
Dispute Resolution (IDR) Procedure. Disputes arising in connection with the
administration of a pension scheme may not be brought to the Pensions Ombudsman unless
they have, in the first instance, been processed through that scheme’s IDR Procedure.

The trustees of every occupational pension scheme are required to establish internal
procedures for resolution of disputes and to set out certain steps which must be included in
those procedures. The Trustee has put in place such an IDR Procedure, which was last
updated in 2015 and is reviewed annually. The Procedure is available at
<www.ireland.anglican.org/clergypensions> or from the Pensions Administration Manager.
Member information

An Explanatory Booklet, designed to give a broad outline of the Fund and the benefits
provided, is available to any member on request from the Pensions Administration Manager.

Benefit Statements as at 31 May are issued annually to all Fund members.

Further information

Queries about the Fund generally, or about individual members’ entitlements should be
directed to The Pensions Administration Manager, Church of Ireland House, Church
Avenue, Rathmines, Dublin 6 (email<pensions@rcbdub.org>, tel +353-(0)1-4125630).
Copies of Chapter XIV of the Constitution of the Church of Ireland, which constitutes the
Trust Deed and Rules, can be obtained at <www.ireland.anglican.org/clergypensions> or
from the Pensions Administration Manager.

Financial statements

The financial statements of the Clergy Pensions Fund are set out in the following pages.
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THE CHURCH OF IRELAND CLERGY PENSIONS FUND

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — PAGE 1

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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THE CHURCH OF IRELAND CLERGY PENSIONS FUND
STATEMENT OF THE TRUSTEE’S RESPONSIBILITIES PAGE 4

The financial statements are the responsibility of the Trustee. Irish pensions legislation
requires the Trustee to make available for each scheme year the annual report of the
scheme, including audited financial statements and the report of the auditor. The financial
statements are required to show a true and fair view, in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland, of the financial transactions for the scheme year
and the assets and liabilities (other than liabilities to pay benefits in the future) at the end
of the scheme year and include a statement whether the financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice - Financial Reports
of Pension Schemes (revised December 2014) (SORP), subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

Accordingly, the Trustee must ensure that in the preparation of the scheme financial
statements:

e suitable accounting policies are selected and then applied consistently;
e reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates are made; and

o the SORP is followed, or particulars of any material departures are disclosed and explained.

The Trustee confirms that it has complied with the above requirements in preparing the
financial statements.

The Trustee is required by law to have appropriate procedures in place throughout the year
under review, to ensure that:

e contributions payable are received by the Trustee in accordance with the timetable set
out in section S8A of the Act where applicable to the contributions and otherwise within
30 days of the end of the scheme year; and

e contributions payable are paid in accordance with the rules of the Fund.

During the year such procedures were always applied on a timely basis and contributions
have been paid in accordance with the rules.

The Trustee is responsible for ensuring that proper membership and financial records are
kept on a timely basis sufficient to enable an Annual Report to be prepared for the scheme
containing the information specified in Regulation 7 of the Occupational Pension Schemes
(Disclosure of Information) Regulations 2006. It is also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the pension scheme and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities, including the maintenance of an appropriate
system of internal control.
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THE CHURCH OF IRELAND CLERGY PENSIONS FUND
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT PAGE 5

_E
pwc

Independent auditors’ report to the trustee of the Charch of
Ireland Clergy Pension Fund

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, the Church of Ireland Clergy Pension Fund'’s financial statements:

¢  give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019 and
of the amount and disposition of the assets and liabilities {(other than liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits
in the future) at that date; and

e have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Lreland (accounting
standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” and Trish law).

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise:
« the statement of net assets available for benefits as at 31 December 2010;
« the fund account for the year then ended;
+ the accounting policies; and

+ the notes to the financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We condueted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”) and
applicable law.

Our responsibilitics under [SAs (Ireland) are further deseribed in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We helieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the scheme in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Ireland, which includes [AASA’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which ISAs (Treland) require us to report to you
where:
+ the trustee’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or

s the trustee has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the scheme’s ability to continue to adopt the going coneern hasis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the scheme’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

118



The Representative Church Body — Report 2020

THE CHURCH OF IRELAND CLERGY PENSIONS FUND
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT PAGE 6

e
pwc

Reporting on other information

"I'he other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The trustee is responsible for the other information. Qur opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

Tn connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or
material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responstbilities of the trustee for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the statement of trustee’s responsibilitics set out on page 4, the trustee is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in aceordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view.

The trustee is also responsible for such internal eontrol as the trustee determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The trustee is also
responsible for ensuring that contributions are made to the scheme in accordance with the scheme’s rules.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustee is responsible for assessing the scheme’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of aceounting unless
the trustee either intends to wind up the scheme or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statenents

Qur objectives arce to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in aceordance with [SAs (Ireland) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further deseription of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Lrish Auditing and
Accounting Supervisory Authority website at:

escription of auditors responsi

This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
1oL
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the trustee as a body in accordance with section 56
of the Pensions Act 1990, as amended and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, aceept or assume
responsibility for any ather purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

of this report
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Other required reporting

Occupational Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) Regulations, 2006

In our opinion:

* The finaneial statements include the information specified in Schedule A to the Oceupational Pension Schemes
(Disclosure of Information) Regulations, 2006 which is applicable and material to the scheme;

s the contributions payable to the scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019 have been received by the
trustee within thirty days of the end of the scheme year; and

+  such contributions have been paid in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Place

Dublin

20 March 2020
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The significant accounting policies adopted by the Trustee are as follows:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™)

(vi)

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with The Occupational
Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) Regulations (2006), and the guidelines
set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice, Financial Reports of Pensions
Schemes (Revised December 2014).

Investments

A proportion of the invested assets is managed by Irish Life Investment Managers
and is held in unitised funds. This fund tracks a range of published equity and bond
indices. The value of the units at the year end reflects the relative performance of
these indices and the value of the relevant underlying stocks. The balance of funds
are managed by the Representative Church Body. The split of the invested assets is
shown in Note 6 to these accounts.

Investment Income

The invested assets managed by Irish Life Investment Managers are held in unitised
funds. The income is attributed to the funds as it arises and is not separately reported.
Income from directly held assets under Representative Church Body management is
paid to the Fund and accounted for in the period.

Financial Risk

The Trustee is responsible for managing financial risk arising in connection with the
invested assets of the Fund. This responsibility is discharged through the
diversification of the investment portfolio across sectors and geographies and focus
on established stocks quoted on published exchanges.

Foreign Currencies

Balances and transactions denominated in foreign currencies have been translated
into euro at the rate of exchange ruling at the year end. (2019 €1 = £0.8459; 2018 €1
=£0.8989).

Benefits

The pension benefits are secured by contributions to a separately administered
defined benefits scheme in accordance with the provisions of Chapter XIV of the
Constitution of the Church of Ireland as amended from time to time by the General
Synod. Benefits are accounted for in the year in which they fall due. Liabilities to
pay pensions and other benefits in the future are not accrued.
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(vii) Contributions

Contributions represent a levy on dioceses in accordance with section 36 of Chapter
XIV of the Constitution of the Church of Ireland.

The levy was imposed from 1 June 2013 and represents 13% of Minimum Approved
Stipend.

(viii) Transfers to and from other Schemes

Transfer values represent the capital sums either receivable in respect of members
from other pension schemes of previous employers, or payable to the pension
schemes of new employers for members who have left the Scheme. They are
accounted for on a cash basis or, where the Trustee has agreed to accept the liability
in advance of receipt of funds, on an accruals basis from the date of the agreement.
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CONSOLIDATED FUND
Notes 2019 2018
€'000 €'000
CONTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER RECEIPTS
Contributions 3 2,532 2,417
2,532 2,417
BENEFITS AND OTHER PAYMENTS
Benefits paid 4 7,232 6,923
Administrative expenses 229 178
7,461 7,101
NET (DECREASE) (4,929) (4,684)
RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS
Investment Income 5 2,692 3,215
Realised and unrealised investment gains/(losses) 25,740 (5,400)
Currency gain/(loss) 50 (12)
Investment management and professional expenses (65) (64)
NET RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS 28,417 (2,261)
NET INCREASE\(DECREASE) IN FUND IN THE YEAR 23,488 (6,945)
BALANCE 1 JANUARY 166,934 173,879
BALANCE 31 DECEMBER 190,422 166,934

Signed on behalf of the Trustee: H Gilmore
H Algeo
Date: 10 March 2020
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PAGE 11
CONSOLIDATED FUND

Notes 2019 2018

€'000 €'000
INVESTMENT ASSETS 6 190,281 166,846
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash due from the
Representative Church Body 141 88
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors - -
NET CURRENT ASSETS 141 88
NET ASSETS 190,422 166,934
Signed on behalf of the Trustee: H Gilmore
H Algeo

Date: 10 March 2020
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1 FUND STATUS

The Clergy Pensions Fund, which is a defined benefit scheme, is established under
Chapter XIV of the Constitution of the Church of Ireland as amended from time to time
by the General Synod. The Fund has been approved by the Revenue Commissioners as a
retirement benefits scheme under Part 30, Chapter I of the Taxes Consolidation Act,
1997, and is treated as an 'exempt approved scheme' for the purposes of that Act. In
addition, the Fund has been approved by the Board of the Inland Revenue of the United
Kingdom as a retirement benefits scheme for the purposes of Chapter I, Part XIV, Income
and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and is treated as an 'exempt approved scheme' for the
purposes of Section 592 of that Act in relation to its provision of pension benefits to
those members of the clergy who are living in Northern Ireland.

The Fund closed to new entrants and to future accruals as at 31 May 2013. A Funding
Proposal to bring the Fund back to full solvency was submitted to and accepted by the
Pensions Authority in 2013. The Funding Proposal included revenue to be raised through
the introduction of a levy of 13% of Minimum Approved Stipend, to be collected through
the dioceses.

2 FORMAT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements summarise the transactions and net assets of the scheme. They
do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits expected to become
payable in the future. The actuarial position of the Fund, which takes account of such
obligations, is dealt with in the Trustee's report, the actuarial funding certificate and the
actuary's annual certificate within this report. These financial statements should be read
in conjunction with these certificates and reports.

3 SUMMARY OF CONTRIBUTIONS

2019 2018
€'000 €'000
Diocesan levies 2,428 2,316
Representative Church Body 103 101
Sundry 1 -
Total 2,532 2,417

The value of Northern Ireland contributions in sterling is £1.15m (2018: £1.13m) and
was translated to euro at the year end rate of 0.8459 (2018: 0.8989).

The value of Republic of Ireland contributions is €1.17m (2018: €1.16m).
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4 BENEFITS PAID
2019 2018
€'000 €'000
Pensions to retired bishops and clergy 4,752 4,547
Pensions to surviving spouses and orphans 2,060 2,078
Commutation of pensions 417 298
Death Benefits 3 -
Total 7,232 6,923

The cost of Northern Ireland benefits in sterling is £3.39m (2018: £3.33m). This

cost excludes administration charges.

The cost of Republic of Ireland benefits in euro is €3.23m (2018: €3.22m). This cost

excludes administration charges.

5 ANALYSIS OF INVESTMENT INCOME

2019 2018

€'000 €'000
Investment income 2,636 3,191
Interest 40 4
Miscellaneous trust income 1 1
Securities Lending 15 19
Total 2,692 3,215

The investment income above relates to the income paid to the Clergy Pensions
Fund by investments managed by the Representative Church Body (RCB). The
balance of the funds is held in a unitised fund passively managed by Irish Life
Investment Managers (ILIM). The income on these funds is reinvested in the fund

and is not separately reported.
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2019 2018
Market Market
Value % of Value % of
€'000 Fund €'000 Fund

6 INVESTED ASSETS

ILIM managed

Equities
UK 23,099 12.1% 13,959 8.4%
Europe ex UK 23,038 12.1% 13,780 8.3%
Global - 0.0% 15,317 9.2%
Bonds
European 15,048 7.9% 13,609 8.2%
UK 17,278 9.1% 14,810 8.9%
78,463 41.2% 71,475 42.8%
RCB in-house managed
Property 13,976 7.3% 15,063 9.0%
Precious Metals/Mining 11,387 6.0% 8,075 4.8%
Bonds and Bond Substitutes 31,440 16.5% 35,361 21.2%
Equities 8,891 4.7% 8,727 5.2%
Other 23,620 12.4% 17,119 10.3%
Cash on deposit 22,504 11.8% 11,026 6.6%
111,818 58.8% 95,371 57.2%
190,281 100.0% 166,846 100.0%

The above analysis for RCB in-house managed has been reclassified to show
Precious Metals/Mining as a separate sub group with the prior year figures for
Property, Precious Metals/Mining, Bonds & Bond Substitutes and Equities restated.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PAGE 15

7 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As stated in the accounting policies on page 8 of the Financial Statements,
liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits in the future have not been taken into
account. On that basis, in the opinion of the Trustee the scheme had no contingent
liabilities at 31 December 2019.

8 ADMINISTRATIVE AND INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT EXPENSES

The costs of investment management and administration are substantially borne by
the Fund. The balance of these costs is borne by the Sponsor.

9 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) The Trustee of the Fund is as set out on page 3 of the Financial Statements.

The Trustee does not receive and is not due any remuneration from the Fund in
connection with its responsibilities as Trustee.

(b) The Representative Church Body acts as the Sponsor and Registered
Administrator for the Clergy Pensions Fund. Contributions to the scheme are
made in accordance with funding arrangements agreed with the Actuary from
time to time.

The Registered Administrator of the scheme is remunerated on a fee basis.
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2019 2018
€'000 €'000

10 SUB DIVISIONS
REPUBLIC OF IRELAND

Contributions 1,169 1,162
Net benefits and other payments (3,456) (3,398)
Net transfer between sub divisions - 268
Net (decrease) (2,287) (1,968)
Net returns on investments 14,055 (1,093)
Balance 1 January 81,877 84,938
93,645 81,877
NORTHERN IRELAND
Contributions 1,363 1,255
Net benefits and other payments (4,005) (3,703)
Net transfer between sub divisions - (268)
Net (decrease) (2,642) (2,716)
Net returns on investments 14,362 (1,168)
Balance 1 January 85,057 88,941
96,777 85,057
CONSOLIDATED FUND
Contributions 2,532 2,417
Net benefits and other payments (7,461) (7,101)
Net (decrease) (4,929) (4,684)
Net returns on investments 28,417 (2,261)
Balance 1 January 166,934 173,879

190,422 166,934

11 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Since the year end we acknowledge the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
its impact on the global financial markets. We continue to monitor its impact on
our investments. As of 20 March 2020 we are satisfied that there has been no
material long term effect on the investment portfolio.

12 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved by the Trustee on 10 March 2020.
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REPORT OF THE CHURCH OF IRELAND PENSIONS BOARD
TO THE CHURCH OF IRELAND CLERGY PENSIONS TRUSTEE DAC

Members/Meetings of the Board

There were four meetings of the Board in 2019, two prior to and two after the General
Synod.

Elected by the House of Bishops
Rt Rev John McDowell 2)

Elected by the General Synod

Canon Lady Sheil 4)
Rev Canon John Auchmuty (elected May 2019) 2)
Mrs Cynthia Cherry “)

Elected by the Representative Church Body

Rev Canon Henry Gilmore “)
Mrs Judith Peters 2)
Chairperson — Canon Lady Sheil

Vice-Chairperson — Mrs Cynthia Cherry

Honorary Secretary — Rt Rev John McDowell

Pensions Administration Manager — Mr Peter Connor

Grants Committee

Canon Lady Sheil

Mrs Judith Peters

Rev Canon John Auchmuty

Office: Church of Ireland House
Church Avenue Tel no (+3531) 4978422
Rathmines Fax no (+3531) 4978821
Dublin 6 Email <pensions@rcbdub.org>
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1. INTRODUCTION

Under section 22(3) of Chapter XIV of the Constitution of the Church of Ireland the
Trustee has delegated to the Church of Ireland Pensions Board (“the Board”) certain of
the duties as set out in section 22(1) of the said Chapter including those relating to
membership, contributions and benefits. This report summarises statistical data in
relation to those matters.

The Report of the Church of Ireland Pensions Board on other funds administered by it,
as delegated by the Representative Church Body (RCB), is found in Appendix H to the
Report of the RCB (Church of Ireland General Synod Reports 2020, page 147).

2. MEMBERSHIP OF THE BOARD

The Board consists of seven members who are elected triennially in accordance with
Section 25 of Chapter XIV of the Constitution.

The Board welcomes the return of Reverend Canon John Auchmuty to the membership
of the Board.

3. MEMBERSHIP OF THE FUND

The table below shows the movement during the year across the various membership
categories. The accompanying graph shows the age profile of the active members.

Active Deferred | Pensioners | Spouses on

members | members pension
At 1 January 2019 338 108 304 176
Leavers with deferred benefits ) 9 - -
Leavers taking benefits elsewhere - - - -
Deaths before retirement - - - -
Retirements on pension (11) (@) 18 -
Returned to active service - - -
Deaths on pension - - (18) 17
New spouses’ pensions - - - 10
At 31 December 2019 318 110 304 169!

In addition there were 12 child dependency allowances in payment at 31 December
2019 (12 at 31 December 2018).

! The total of 169 includes 2 widows of members who either retired or died before 1976 and 8 widows
of voluntary members.
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B CPF Members - total 318

All stipendiary Clergy - total 430
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Age distribution of stipendiary clergy

There are five clergy who commenced in the stipendiary ministry before 31 May 2013
who are not members of the Fund having sought and been granted exemption on
entering service and there is one who elected to leave the Fund and make independent

pension arrangements.

RETIREMENT AGE

The revised Normal Retirement Age (NRA) from 1 June 2013 (for contributing
members of the Fund as at 31 May 2013) is in accordance with the following table:

Date of birth Normal Number of members in each
Retirement Age retirement age category at 31
December 2019
31 May 1949 and before 65 3
1 June 1949 to 31 May 1954 66 26
1 June 1954 to 31 May 1959 67 72
1 June 1959 and after 68 217

Members who joined/re-joined the Fund on or after 1 January 2009 have an NRA of

not less than 67.

Under statutory pension regulations Deferred Members will retain the NRA applicable
at their date of leaving the service of the Church of Ireland.
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PENSIONS IN PAYMENT

The annualised pensions etc in payment at 1 January 2020 are:

€ £
Clergy 2,017,102 and 2,295,585
Surviving spouses and orphans 1,053,364 and 849,883
3,070,466 and 3,145,468

The total annualised pensions in payment translated to euro at the year end exchange
rate of 0.8459 are €6,788,952.

CONTRIBUTIONS

A contribution from central funds amounting to €103,198 was made during the year in
accordance with Section 37 of Chapter XIV of the Constitution of the Church of
Ireland.

LUMP SUM BENEFITS

Under the provisions of the Fund a cash lump sum is payable in a number of
eventualities. During 2019, lump sums totalling €101,788 and £266,898 became
payable in respect of 11 members as follows:

Died in service (0); died within five years following retirement (0); paid on retirement
(7); deferred pension (4).

EXTERNAL CONTACTS FOR INFORMATION AND SUPPORT

The Board has compiled a guide towards external sources of information and help to
assist chaplains who support retired clergy and surviving spouses. A copy of the guide
is available on request from the Pensions Administration Manager (email
<pensions@rcbdub.org>).

ADDITIONAL PERSONAL CONTRIBUTIONS (APCs)

With the closing of the Clergy Pensions Fund to future accruals on 31 May 2013, the
additional service which members were purchasing to give them up to a maximum of
40 years’ service at normal retirement age was recalculated to reflect the service
purchased to 31 May 2013.

There remain 68 members in active service who purchased additional service to 31
May 2013.
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10. ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS (AVCS)

Members of the Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Fund are permitted to make
Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC) which are invested with the Standard Life
Assurance Company to provide additional benefits within the overall limits allowed by
the Revenue authorities.

AVCs are unaffected by the closure of the Clergy Pensions Fund to future accruals.

Copies of the Regulations and explanatory memorandum in relation to AVCs may be
obtained on request from the Pensions Administration Manager.

(i) Membership of the AVC Fund as at 31 December 2019

Membership New Deathin  Fund  Retired Membership

31/12/18  Contributors Service Transfers 31/12/19
RI 13 0 0 0 0 13
N T
Total 16 0 0 0 0 16
Previous Year 16 0 0 0 0 16

Standard Life is the provider of the AVC facility. Contributions may be invested
with them in a range of Funds as provided by the Tower Pension Series for those
contributors who reside in the Republic of Ireland or the Castle Pension Series
for those contributors who reside in Northern Ireland.

(ii) AVC Fund Statement of Contributions

2019 2018

€°000 €°000

Contributions received 9 9

Less paid on retirement or death 0) 0)

Less transfers to Clergy DC Scheme 0) 0)
Realised Gain on retirement and

transfers to the Clergy DC Scheme 0 0

9 9

Balance 1 January 215 206

Currency Translation Adjustment 2 0

Balance 31 December 226 215

134



The Representative Church Body — Report 2020

NOTES

1.

A resolution adopted by the General Synod on 12 May 2012 transferred the role
of trustee from the Representative Body to the Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions
Trustee DAC.

Under the Scheme members are permitted to make voluntary contributions which
are invested with the Standard Life Assurance Company to provide additional
benefits within the overall limits allowed by the Revenue authorities. The
balance at the year end represents the net accumulation of members’
contributions which have been transferred to the Standard Life Assurance
Company by the Trustee. The value of the investments underlying these
contributions is not reflected in the statement.

Sterling balances and transactions have been translated to euro at the rate of
exchange ruling at 31 December 2019 €1 = £0.8459 (2017 €1 = £0.8989).
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The Church of Ireland Clergy Pension Trustee Limited
Representative Church Body

Church of Ireland House

Church Avenue

Rathmines

Dublin 6

Dear Sirs

Chartered Accountants’ report on the unaudited financial information of the Church of
Ireland Clergy Pensions Fund Additional Voluntary Contributions

In accordance with our engagement letter dated 27 January 2020 we have compiled the entity’s
financial information which compriscs the Statement of Contributions from the accounting records
and information and explanations you have given us.

The financial information has been compiled on the basis set out in the accounting policies set out in
the finaneial information.

This report is made to you in accordance with the terms of our engagement. Qur work has been
undertaken s that we might compile the financial information that we have been engaged to compile,
for management purposes. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
respensibility to anyone other than you for our work or for this report.

We have carricd out this engagement in accordance with technical guidanee in M48 ‘Chartered
Accountants’ Reports on the Compilation of Historical Financial Information of Unincorporated
Entitics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ircland (ICAT) and have complied with the
ethical guidance laid down by the ICAT relating to members undertaking the compilation of historical
financial information.

You have approved the financial information for the year ended 31 Deeember 2019 and have
acknowledged your respounsibility for it, including the creation and maintenance of all accounting and
other records supporting it and the appropriateness of the accounting basis on which it has been
compiled, and for providing us with all information and explanations necessary for its compilation.

We have not been instructed to carry cut an audit of the financial infermation. For this reason, we
have not verified the accuracy or completeness of the accounting records or information and
explanations given to us by you and we do not, therefore, express any opinion on the financial
information.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants
Dublin

20 March 2020
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ANNEX 2

CLERGY PENSIONS FUND -
SUMMARY OF FUNDING PROPOSAL
AS AGREED BY THE PENSIONS AUTHORITY

In June 2013 a Funding Proposal designed to bring the Clergy Pensions Fund (‘the Fund’)
back to solvency over a ten-year period was submitted to and agreed by the Pensions
Authority (then An Bord Pinsean).

The main requirements of the Funding Proposal are set out below. Progress is monitored
annually and the Fund is subject to triennial valuation. Any significant variations from
progress towards solvency would result in a further Funding Proposal having to be
submitted.

To return the Fund to solvency by 2023 the following provisions have been put in place:

The Fund has been closed to new entrants and to future accrual of benefits as from
31 May 2013.

The Normal Retirement Age will gradually increase to a current maximum of 68
years for those aged 53 years or younger as at 31 May 2013, with staged increases
for those aged above 53 years on that date.

There will be no discretionary increases to pensions in payment or Pensionable
Stipend during the Funding Proposal period unless the Actuary is satisfied that such
increases would not jeopardise the Funding Proposal.

As the funding of the Clergy Pensions Fund is a responsibility of the whole Church,
an annual levy to contribute towards solvency is being raised from dioceses in respect
of cures and other recognised offices at a rate of 13% of Minimum Approved Stipend.

The Representative Church Body in 2014 completed the transfer of the last of five

tranches of €5m from General Funds in the form of special funding and will further
provide an amount of €0.1m per annum over the life of the Funding Proposal.
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ANNEX 3
ACTUARIAL FUNDING CERTIFICATE

. An tUdarés Pinsean
¥/ The Pensions Authority

SCHEDULE BD Article 4

ACTUARIAL FUNDING CERTIFICATE

THIS CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN PREPARED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 42(1) OF THE PENSIONS ACT
1980 (the ACT) FOR SUBMISSION TO THE PENSIONS AUTHORITY BY THE TRUSTEES OF THE SCHEME

SCHEME NAME: The Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Fund
SCHEME COMMENCEMENT DATE: 01/01/1976

SCHEME REFERENCE NO.: PB16
EFFECTIVE DATE: 30/09/2018
EFFECTIVE DATE OF PREVIOUS 30/09/2015
CERTIFICATE (IF ANY):

On the basis of information supplied to me, having complied with any guidance prescribed under section 42(4)(b)
of the Act and, subject thereto, having regard to such financial and other assumptions as | consider to be
appropriate, | am of the opinion that at the effective date of this certificate:-

(1) the resources of the scheme, which are calculated for the purposes of section 44(1) of the Act to be
€176,367,000.00, would have been sufficient if the scheme had been wound up at that date to provide for the
liabilities of the scheme determined in accordance with section 44(1) of the Act which, including the estimated
expenses of administering the winding up of the scheme, amount to €154,583,000.00, and

(2) €0.00 of the resources of the scheme referred to in paragraph (1) comprise contingent assets, in accordance
with and within the meaning of the guidance issued by the Authority and prescribed under section 47 of the Act.

|, therefore, certify that as at the effective date of this certificate the scheme satisfies the funding standard
provided for in section 44(1) of the Act.

| further certify that | am qualified for appointment as actuary to the scheme for the purposes of section 51 of the

Act. ?
Signature: Q Ay 5 Date: 15/02/2019
e
Name: Mr Liam Quigley Qualification: ESAI
Name of Actuary's: o
Employer/Firm Mercer Limited Scheme Actuary P044
Certificate No.
Submission Details
Submission Number: SR1949365 Submitted Electronically on:  15/02/2019

Submitted by: Liam Quigley
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FUNDING STANDARD RESERVE CERTIFICATE
An tUdards Pinsean
The Pensions Authority
SCHEDULE BE Article 4
FUNDING STANDARD RESERVE CERTIFICATE
THIS CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO SECTION 42(1A) OF THE PENSIONS ACT, 1990 (the ACT)

FOR SUBMISSION TO THE PENSIONS AUTHORITY BY THE TRUSTEES OF THE SCHEME
SCHEME NAME: The Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Fund

SCHEME COMMENCEMENT DATE: 01/01/1976
PENSIONS AUTHORITY REFERENCE NO. PB1667
EFFECTIVE DATE: 30/9/2018

EFFECTIVE DATE OF PREVIOUS
CERTIFICATE (IF ANY): 80/9/2015

On the basis of information supplied to me, having complied with any guidance prescribed under section 42(4)(b)
of the Act and, subject thereto, having regard to such financial and other assumptions as | consider to be
appropriate, | am of the opinion that at the effective date of this cerfificate:

(1) the funding standard liabilities (as defined in the Act) of the scheme amount to €154,583,000.00,

(2) the resources of the scheme (other than resources which relate to contributions or a transfer of rights to the
extent that the benefits provided are directly related to the value of those contributions or amount transferred (DG
resources)), calculated for the purposes of section 44(1) of the Act amount to €176,367,000.00

(3) €16,835,000.00 of the amount referred 1o in paragraph (2) (subject to a maximum of an amount equal to the
funding standard liabilities) is invested in securities issued under section 54(1) of the Finance Act 1970 (and known
as bonds), securities issued under the laws of a Member State (other than the State) that carrespond to securities
issued under section 54(1) of the Finance Act 1970, cash deposils with one or more credit institutions and such
other assels (if any) as are prescribed under section 44(2)(a)(iv) of the Act,

(4) the amount provided for in section 44(2)(a) of the Act (Applicable Percentage x ((1) minus (3)) is
€13,779,000.00,

(5) the amount provided for in section 44(2)(b) of the Act, being the amount by which the funding standard liabilities
of the scheme would increase if the interest rate or interest rates assumed for the purposes of determining the
funding standard liabilities were one half of one per cent less than the interest rate or interest rates (as appropriate)
assumed for the purposes of determining the funding standard liabilities less the amount by which the resources of
the scheme (other than DG resources) would increase as a result of the same change in inlerest rate or interest
rates is €5,873,000.00,

(8) the aggregate of (4) and (5} above amounts to €19,652,000.00 and

(7) the additional resources (as defined in the Act) of the scheme amount to €21,784,000.00 of which, in
accordance with and within the meaning of the guidance issued by the Authority and prescribed under section 47
of the Act, €0 comprises contingent assets and none of such contingen! assels comprise an unsecured
undertaking.

| therefore certify that as at the effective date of the funding standard reserve certificate the scheme holds sufficient
additional resources to satisfy the funding standard reserve as provided in section 44(2) of the Act.
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An tUdarss Pinsean
The Pensions Authority

| further centify that | am qualified for appointment as actuary to the scheme for the purposes of section 51 of the
Act.

Signature: _ﬁav—u Qw-«@,\ Date: 25/03/2019
[/ =

Name: Mr. Liam Quigley Qualification: F.S.A.l
Name of Actuary’'s Scheme Actuary
Employer/Firm: Mercer Limited Certificate No. P0o44
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ANNEX 4

ACTUARY’S STATEMENT

-‘P L] YCFER welcome to brighter

Church of Ireland Pension Fund Annual Statement
Year ended 31 December 2019

Pensions Autherity reference number: PB1667

Actuary’s Statement

| completed a review of the financial position of the Fund as at 30 September 2018. One of the
outcomes of this review was that the scheme satisfied the Funding Standard (Section 44(1) of the
Pensions Act, 1990) and the Funding Standard Reserve (Section 44(2) of the Pensions Act, 1990)
Certificates confirming this cutcome have been completed.

A Funding Proposal is currently in place with the objective of putting the scheme in a position to satisfy
the Funding Standard and Funding Standard Reserve by 31 December 2023. This extended date was
granted by the Pensions Authority at the request of the Trustees. | have undertaken a review as at 31
December 2019 to consider whether the funding proposal remains on track to achieve its objectives.
This assessment was undertaken in accordance with guidance set down by the Society of Actuaries in
Ireland. It reflects known developments in relation to the assets and liabilities and assumptions about
the future. Based on the assumpticns employed, the Scheme’s assets are projected to exceed the
projected Funding Standard Liability and Funding Standard Reserve at 31 December 2023. Accordingly,
| can confirm that | am reasonably satisfied that, as at 31 December 2019, the funding proposal
remained on track to achieve its objective.

The period since 31 December 2019 to end March 2019 has seen a substantial decline in asset values
as a result of the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic. The impact of these falls is not reflected in the
assessment above but will be considered in the next review, which is due to be completed as at 31
December 2020.

Liam Quigley

Fellow of the Society of Actuaries in Ireland
Certificate number: P044

Date: 30 March 2020

Mercer {ireland} Limited, trading a5 Mevcer, is renulated by the Cemtral Bark of Ireland
Registered Office: Charlette Ho arlement Street, Dualin 2. Registered in reland Rio. 28158 m MéPSLH giM;LENNAN
COMPANIES

Directars: Brian Caulfield, lohn Mercer, Mary 0'Malley, Cara Ryan and Vincent Sheridan
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ANNEX 5

STATEMENT OF RISK IN RELATION TO THE
CHURCH OF IRELAND CLERGY PENSIONS FUND (THE “FUND”)

Under law, the Trustee is required to describe the condition of the Fund and the risks
associated with the Fund, and disclose these to members.

The Fund operates on a ‘defined benefit’ basis and has been closed to future service accrual
and to new members with effect from 31 May, 2013. The Fund is subject to a Funding
Proposal agreed with the Pensions Authority with the intention of returning it to solvency
by 2023. The risks in such an arrangement are generally classified as financial or
operational. In any defined benefit arrangement, the main risk is that there will be a
shortfall in the assets (for whatever reason) and the employer/sponsor will not be willing
or able to pay the necessary contributions to make up the shortfall. If that occurs, members
may not receive their anticipated benefit entitlements. Some of the reasons why a shortfall
could occur are as follows (this list may not be exhaustive):

e The assets of the pension fund may grow more slowly than expected, or even fall in
value, depending on the performance of underlying markets and the securities chosen.
Where the scheme is subject to a Funding Proposal and, being closed to future service
accrual, has an ageing profile, the requirement to invest in assets to match the future
liability leads to a reduction in the opportunity to invest in growth assets.

e Similarly, the liabilities may grow faster than expected due to higher salary or pension
increases, or due to unfavourable movements in interest rates, or due to mortality and
other elements of the fund’s experience varying from the assumptions made.

e The administration of the fund may fail to meet acceptable standards. The fund could
fall out of statutory compliance, the fund could fall victim to fraud or negligence, or
the benefits communicated to members could differ from the liabilities valued by the
Actuary.

In these circumstances, there may be insufficient assets available to pay benefits, leading
to a requirement to change the benefit structure or to seek higher contributions. The
employer/sponsor may decide not to pay these increased contributions.

Another risk is that the employer/sponsor may for some reason decide to cease its liability
to contribute to the pension fund. In this event, the fund may be wound up and accrued
entitlements would be discharged from the available assets (which may or may not be
sufficient to discharge member benefit expectations, as outlined above). In accordance with
Section 20 of Chapter XIV of the Constitution of the Church of Ireland it would require a
decision to be taken at the General Synod for the Fund to be wound up.
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Various actions have been taken by the Trustee to mitigate the risks. The investment
strategy is reviewed regularly to ensure that it is consistent with the needs of the Fund as
well as meeting the requirements arising under the Funding Proposal. Professional
investment managers have been appointed to manage the Clergy Pensions Fund assets,
which are invested in a range of diversified assets. There is regular monitoring of how these
investments are performing. An actuarial valuation of the Fund is carried out at least every
three years to assess the financial condition of the Fund and determine the rate of
contributions required to meet the future liabilities of the Fund. In addition, an annual
review of the solvency position of the Fund is carried out on the assumption that it is wound
up at that time.

The Trustee is satisfied that it is taking all reasonable steps, including the appointment of
experienced professional advisers and administrators, to protect the members of the Fund
from the effects of these risks. However, it is not possible to guard against every
eventuality, and it is necessary to take some investment risk and other risks in order to
manage the affordability of the Plan benefits and the capacity of the employer/sponsor to
meet this commitment.

Last updated September 2015
Reviewed December 2019
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ANNEX 6
CHURCH OF IRELAND CLERGY PENSIONS FUND
STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICY PRINCIPLES
1. Introduction

The Church of Ireland Clergy Pensions Trustee DAC (the “Trustee”) of the Church of
Ireland Clergy Pensions Fund (the “Fund”) has prepared this Statement of Investment
Policy Principles (the “Statement”) to document the policies and guidelines that govern
the management of the assets of the Fund. The Statement complies with the
requirements of Section 59 (1B) of the 1990 Pensions Act (the “Act”) and the
Occupational Pensions Schemes (Investment) Regulations 2006 and 2007 (the
“Regulations”). The Trustee, which is a designated activity company, has as its sole
member the Representative Church Body (the “RCB”).

The Fund provides defined benefit pension arrangements for members who were in
service, or already retired and in receipt of benefit, on 31 May 2013 when the Fund
was closed to new entrants and future accrual of service. The Trustee takes the nature
of the Fund into account when setting the investment objectives and when agreeing the
investment strategy required to achieve the objectives with the Sponsor of the Fund.

2. Investment Objectives

The overall investment objective of the Trustee is to maximise the level of investment
return at an acceptable level of risk, consistent with the Funding Proposal agreed with
the Pensions Authority and the Fund Sponsor, through adopting a prudent, carefully
funded and well-executed investment policy. This will in turn assist the Trustee in
providing sufficient assets to meet the Fund’s long-term commitment to provide
pensions and other benefits for fund members and their dependants. To achieve the
objectives, the Trustee has set out an investment strategy which has been agreed with
both the Sponsor and the investment managers chosen to manage the Fund assets on a
daily basis.

3. Investment Strategy

In order to meet the investment objectives the Trustee has adopted an asset allocation
strategy designed to maintain a prudent approach to meeting the Fund’s liabilities,
taking account of the nature and duration of the liabilities, the Sponsor’s willingness to
adopt such a strategy, and the requirements of the Pensions Authority in working
towards a successful attainment of the targets laid out in the Funding Proposal.

When choosing the asset allocation strategy for the Fund’s assets, the Trustee policy is
to consider

o A full range of asset classes
e The risk and reward of a range of alternative asset strategies
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o The suitability of each asset class

o The need for appropriate asset diversification

e The views of the actuary in setting the liability valuation basis

e The requirements of the Pensions Authority for certain minimum proportions of
assets to be held in fixed-interest type assets over time

e The requirements of the Sponsor to maintain contributions to the fund at an
appropriate level

4. Investment Management

The RCB is deemed to be the Sponsor of the Fund. The Trustee has delegated the
investment management of the Fund’s assets to the Investment Committee of the RCB.
The management of the assets takes place within the framework of the investment
strategy, including the asset allocation guidelines, agreed from time to time by the
Trustee with the Investment Committee on behalf of the Sponsor.

The Investment Committee of the RCB has delegated the day to day investment
management of distinct elements of the Fund’s assets internal and external investment
managers. The Investment Committee oversees and monitors the performance of the
Fund’s investments against pre-agreed performance benchmarks.

The Sponsor employs an in-house investment management team. This in-house
investment manager and one or more external investment managers may be appointed
by the Trustee on the recommendation of the Investment Committee to act on behalf
of the Trustee. The appointment(s) may be made on a passive or active mandate basis
(or a combination of the two).

Subject to such guidelines and restrictions imposed by the Investment Committee,
which have been pre-agreed by the Trustee, the investment manager(s) with an active
mandate will be responsible for making all investment decisions on a discretionary
basis and will be evaluated on their ability to achieve the performance objectives set
for them as pre-agreed by the Trustee.

Subject to such guidelines and restrictions imposed by the Investment Committee,
which have been pre-agreed by the Trustee, the investment manager(s) with a passive
mandate will be responsible for adopting the percentages and relevant indices agreed
from time to time by the Investment Committee on behalf of the Trustee, will make all
investment decisions in order to track efficiently the agreed index/indices, and will be
evaluated on their ability to achieve the performance objectives set for them with
minimal tracking error.

All investment managers of the Fund are appointed by the Investment Committee on
behalf of the Trustee and are subject to termination at any time. The Trustee expects
the fund managers to manage the assets delegated to them under the terms of their
respective contracts and within the principles set out in this Statement so far as is
reasonably practical.
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The Trustee has appointed Northern Trust as the custodian of the Fund. The custodian
provides safekeeping for all the Fund’s assets and performs the associated
administrative duties, such as the collection of interest and dividends and dealing with
corporate actions. These duties are documented under separate contractual agreements
with the custodian.

Risk Management

Risk management forms an integral part of the Investment Strategy that is agreed by
the Trustee with the Investment Committee. The Trustee sets risk parameters on the
recommendation of the Investment Committee and in-house investment team. These
include various limits and restrictions with regard to each asset class and the proposed
implementation of investment strategy. The parameters are formally reviewed and
agreed on an annual basis by the Trustee while the Investment Committee oversees,
monitors and when necessary, recommends change to the Trustee.

With direction from the Trustee with regard to the various constraints on overall risk
tolerance, the Investment Committee seek to recommend a prudent, diversified and
balanced approach to achieve the Trustee’s objectives. The risks in the Fund are
monitored by the Trustee through regular, at least twice yearly, reports received from
the Investment Committee. The regular review of the Investment Strategy and the
production of the bi-annual reports are essential inputs for the Trustee in its oversight
of the implementation of the principles in this Statement.

Review
This Statement will be reviewed by the Trustee with the Investment Committee, at least
every three years and also following any change in investment policy which impacts

on the content of the Statement.

Last updated September 2015
Reviewed December 2019
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APPENDIX H

THE CHURCH OF IRELAND PENSIONS BOARD

Funds administered by the Board as delegated by the Representative Church Body

THE SUPPLEMENTAL FUND

1. ADMINISTRATION OF THE FUND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

2019

The Supplemental Fund is held by the Representative Church Body (RCB) for the
provision of assistance to retired clergy of the Church of Ireland and to surviving
spouses, orphans and other dependants of clergy of the Church of Ireland and is
administered by the Church of Ireland Pensions Board.

The income is derived from the investments representing the capital of the various
Funds comprising the Supplemental Fund and grants allocated to it by the General
Synod.

Last year the following assistance was provided by means of ex gratia payments:

(@

Minimum Income of Surviving Spouses and Orphans

Grants to ensure each has a minimum income from all sources in the year
commencing 1 January 2019 of not less than:

Resident in the:

United Republic

Kingdom of Ireland

Surviving spouse under 80 £13,913 €17,792
Surviving spouse 80 or over £14,442 €18,468

On 31 December 2019, pensions were in course of payment to 161 surviving
spouses (excluding widows of voluntary members) of clergy of the Church of
Ireland. Two surviving spouses required a grant to bring their total income up to
the relevant figure in the table.

During 2019, each surviving spouse who was in receipt of a grant from the
Supplemental Fund also received:

(a) agrant twice yearly towards basic housing costs of £1,500 from the Housing
Fund;

(b) a grant of £400 from monies allocated from the Priorities Fund.

As a result of these grants, the actual minimum income of surviving spouses
during 2019 exceeded the figures in the Table by £3,400.
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(ii) Removal Grants

A grant to a surviving spouse towards the cost of removal, if his/her
wife/husband was in the service of the Church of Ireland at the time of death, of
the total amount involved up to a sum of £2,124 if he or she died while holding
office in Northern Ireland, or €4,044 if he or she died while holding office in the
Republic of Ireland.

Should death occur less than two months after date of retirement and before
vacation of the glebehouse a similar grant will be paid.

(iii) Immediate Grants to Surviving Spouses

On the death of clergy in the service of the Church of Ireland who are survived
by a spouse, an immediate grant of £4,780 if they died while holding office in
Northern Ireland or €6,066 if they died while holding office in the Republic of
Ireland shall be paid.

On the death of clergy in retirement from the service of the Church of Ireland
who are survived by a spouse, an immediate grant of £1,593 if they resided in
the United Kingdom or €2,022 if they resided in the Republic of Ireland shall be
paid.

(iv) Other Grants

Certain other grants which, in the opinion of the Board and in the particular
circumstances of each case, merited special consideration.

In addition to the grants allocated under the above headings retired clergy,
surviving spouses and dependants in need, received help from other sources. The
Board would like to record its thanks to the Priorities Fund, the Corporation of
the Sons of the Clergy, the Friends of the Clergy Corporation and the other
charities and funds which provided this help.

2. GRANTS 2020

Due the unexpended surplus for 2019 and expected dividend income for 2020 it is not
necessary to request General Synod for an allocation to the Fund for 2020.

The unexpended surplus for 2019 and dividend income for 2020 will enable the Board
to continue the schemes of ex gratia payments to the surviving spouses who were in
receipt of such payments as at 1 January 2020 as follows:

(i) Minimum Income of Surviving Spouses and Orphans

Resident in the:
United Kingdom  Republic of Ireland
Surviving spouse under 80 £14,192 €17,970
Surviving spouse 80 or over £14,731 €18,653

It is estimated that the cost of this scheme will be £5,268.
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(ii) Removal Grants

Northern Ireland £2,152
Republic of Ireland ~ €4,097

(iii) Immediate Grants to Surviving Spouses
In service:

Northern Ireland £4,842
Republic of Ireland ~ €6,145

In retirement:

Northern Ireland £1,614
Republic of Ireland ~ €2,048

RULES
Copies of the rules are available on application to the Pensions Administration Manager.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Financial Statements of the Supplemental Fund are set out in the following pages.
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THE SUPPLEMENTAL FUND

31 DECEMBER 2019

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

INCOME
General Synod Allocations

Investment Income
Income from Trusts and Donations

EXPENDITURE
Augmentation — Surviving Spouses and Orphans

Grants to Surviving Spouses
Expenses

OPERATING SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR
Balance 1 January

New Investment

Revaluation movement

Currency translation adjustment

Balance 31 December

FUNDS EMPLOYED

Investments
Cash held with the RCB

150

2019
€°000

1,082
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€°000
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THE SUPPLEMENTAL FUND

ANALYSIS OF FUND ASSETS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

2019
€°000

Investments at Valuation
RB General Unit Trusts 1,710
1,710

Notes

2018
€°000

1,027

1,027

1. The Supplemental Fund is vested in The Representative Church Body, as Trustee,
for the provision of assistance to retired clergy of the Church of Ireland and to

spouses, orphans and dependants of clergy of the Church of Ireland.

The Fund is established under Chapter XV of the Constitution of the Church of

Ireland and administered by the Church of Ireland Pensions Board.

2. Accounting Policies are the same as those adopted for the Clergy Pensions Fund.
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pwc

The Church of Ircland Supplemental Fund
Representative Church Body

Church of Ircland House

Church Avenue

Rathmines

Dublin 6

Dear Sirs

Chartered Accountants’ report on the unaudited financial information of the Church of
Ireland Supplemental Fund

In accordance with our engagement letter dated 27 January 2020 we have compiled the entity’s
financial information which compriscs the Income and Expenditure Account, the Analysis of Fund
Assets and the related notes from the accounting records and information and explanations you have
given us.

The financial information has been compiled on the basis set out in Note 2 of the financial
information.

This report is made to you in accordance with the terms of our engagement, Cur work has been
undertaken so that we might compile the financial information that we have been engaged to compile,
for management purposes. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assuine
responsibility to anyonc other than you for our work or for this report.

We have carricd out this engagement in accordance with technical guidanee in M48 ‘Chartered
Accountants’ Reports on the Compilation of Historical Financial Information of Unincorporated
Entitics’ issucd by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ircland (ICAT) and have complied with the
ethical guidance laid down by the ICAI relating to members undertaking the compilation of historical
financial information.

You have approved the financial information for the year ended 31 December 2019 and have
acknowledged your responsibility for it, including the ereation and maintenance of all accounting and
other records supporting it and the appropriateness of the accounting basis on which it has been
compiled, and for providing us with all information and explanations necessary for its compilation.

We have not been instructed to carry cut an audit of the financial information. For this reason, we
have not verified the accuracy or completeness of the accounting records or information and
explanations given to us by you and we do not, therefore, express any opinion on the financial
information.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants
Dublin

20 March 2020
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OTHER FUNDS ADMINISTERED BY THE BOARD
1. Sundry Diocesan Widows’ and Orphans’ Funds

Grants are paid on the recommendation of the patron, who is usually the Bishop. The
total of grants paid in 2019 was €24,420 and £2,233.

2. Housing Assistance Fund

The Housing Fund has been created by the Representative Church Body mainly from
the income of certain endowments and bequests received by it from generous
benefactors and where the terms of trust permit.

The Fund is being administered under a Scheme prepared by the Board and approved
by the Representative Church Body. Grants amounting to €61,626 plus £80,635 were
allocated in 2019018. Many expressions of thanks and appreciation have been received
from the recipients.

The Board is most grateful for these donations and hopes that this Fund, which has
already been of considerable help to retired clergy and surviving spouses with financial
outlay arising from the provision and/or upkeep of housing accommodation, will be
given further support by donations or bequests.

Two houses were bequeathed to the Representative Church Body, one of which is let
to a member of the clergy and the other let to the surviving spouse of a clergyman.
These are administered by the Board.

3. Priorities Fund — additional income for the most elderly and needy

A further grant was allocated by the Standing Committee from the Priorities Fund in
2019 to provide additional income for the most elderly and needy surviving spouses of
clergy. This enabled the Board to give an additional grant of £400 to each surviving
spouse irrespective of age who needed a grant from the Supplemental Fund to ensure
a minimum income under the scheme in operation for that purpose. Two surviving
spouses benefited from the allocation.

The Board has applied to the Priorities Fund Committee for a grant for 2020.
4. Mrs E Taylor Endowment

The Representative Body requested the Board to administer the Endowment “to
provide additional benefits over and above the normal pensions for retired clergymen
of the Church of Treland who should be residing in the 26 counties of Southern Ireland”.

The Board has decided that the income from the Endowment should be allocated in the
first instance for the benefit of those retired clergy in the Republic of Ireland who
required nursing/home care either for themselves or their spouses including health and
paramedical expenses.
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During 2019, grants totalling €18,700 were paid to 7 retired clergy.
Rev Precentor RH Robinson Bequest

The income of this bequest, currently circa €10 per annum, had been allow to
accumulate to provide a reasonable grant level. In 2019 the Board agreed that the
accumulated income of €94.50 be paid to one recipient and that the income again be
allowed to accumulate until a similar grant level can be allocated.

Rev GJ Wilson Bequest

The income of this bequest is available for the benefit of retired clergymen of the
dioceses of Dublin, Glendalough and Kildare. The Board allocates the income having
sought recommendations from the Archbishop of Dublin and the Bishop of Meath and
Kildare.

In 2019, the total of grants paid was €1,676.
Discretionary Fund — Retired Clergy/Surviving Spouses

This Fund is available to provide (i) discretionary grants unrelated to Housing, to
surviving spouses of clergy to be administered in a similar fashion to that of the
Housing Fund and (ii) greater support for retired clergy resident in Northern Ireland or
outside Ireland.

An allocation of £10,000 was made in 2019 which, together with income from bequests
allocated to the Fund by the Representative Body, enabled the Board to make grants
totalling €2,850 and £3,105 to five surviving spouses and grants totalling £4,000,655
to one retired member of the clergy.

The Board would welcome donations and bequests in order to provide a permanent
income for this Fund.
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APPENDIX I
ARCHIVE OF THE MONTH 2019
Strokestown (Bumlin) Parish Registers and Monuments
Earliest Parish Register in Ireland 400 Years Old in February 2019

An Even Wider Window to an Ecclesiastical World — More Architectural
Drawings Digitized

Finding the Kinmonths in Shandon, Cork — A Genealogical Mystery Solved
in the RCB Library

Bicycles, Long Coats and Shooting Jackets. Fashion Changes Recorded by
the Church of Ireland Gazette

“Earl’s Gift” Map Conserved and Showcased at the Visual Window to an
Ecclesiastical World Exhibition

Archbishop John Alen of Dublin & Glendalough (c. 1476-1534) and his
Register

A Month is a Long Time in Politics: Disestablishment as Covered by the
Church of Ireland Gazette, 1869

Parish Record Accessions to the Library During 2018 and the Updated List
of Parish Registers

Parochial History of Mullingar, compiled by the Revd William Reynell,
13th — 19th Centuries — Digitised

A Little Map with a Big Story. An early history of St John the Evangelist,
Sandymount From a Deed Map

The Last Established Church Clergyman: Tracing the Life of William
Somerville-Large
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APPENDIX J

ACCESSIONS OF ARCHIVES AND MANUSCRIPTS TO THE
REPRESENTATIVE CHURCH BODY LIBRARY, 2019

The inclusion of material in this list does not necessarily imply that it is available to
researchers. Parish registers (of baptism, marriage and burial) are not subject to any access
restrictions, but vestry minutes and other categories of records are subject to 40-year
closure, while materials containing personal or sensitive information are normally closed
for 100 years.

1. ARCHIVES
(i) Parish Records

Arklow Group (Glendalough)

Arklow: Registers of baptisms, 1871-2002; Registers of marriages, 1845-2007; Petition
from parishioners to the rector, 1871.

Kilbride: Register of baptisms, 1834-1970; Registers of marriages, 1845-2006; Register of
burials, 1835-1897; Miscellaneous volume containing extracts from the minutes, lists of
churchwardens, draft sermons and accounts, 1821-1941 (compiled c. 1941).

Cairncastle & Kilwaughter (Connor)

All Saints: Register of baptisms, 1957-2000; Register of marriages, 1963-1973; Preachers’
book, 1987-2005

St Patrick’s: Register of baptisms, 1930-2000; Register of burials, 1882-1990

Cloyne Union (Cloyne)

Cloyne: Register of baptisms 1855-1863; Register of burials 1964-2001; Vestry minute
books, 1932-2004 and 1967-1978; Preachers’ book, 1966-1981; Confirmation register,
1912-2002; Miscellaneous loose papers, 2004-05

Aghada: Vestry minutes, 1932-61

Corkbeg: Vestry minutes, 1932-61

Dungourney: Register of baptisms, 1817-1970 including seven marriage entries, 1821-
1823; Register of burials, 1819-2002

Garranekinnefeake: Registers of marriages, 1859-2007

Midleton: Registers of baptisms, 1883-2001; Registers of marriages, 1845-2006; Register
of burials, 1883-2001; Preachers’ book, 1969-1999; Miscellaneous loose papers, 2001-
2006; Copy notebook containing extracts from early parish vestry minutes and other
sources, compiled late 19 century.

Cregagh, St Finian’s (Down)
Preachers’ books, 1932-2012; Register of vestrymen, 1929-1962
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Donaghadee (Down)

Registers of baptisms, 1868-1992; Registers of marriages, 1868-2004; Registers of burials,
1881-2000; Vestry minute books, 1870-2004); Account book, 1874-1953; Preachers’
books, 1891-2016.

Dromod Chapel of Ease (Ardagh)

Vestry minute book, 1958-1972; Records of the Dromod School and Warren Endowment,
1912-1998.

From the family of the late Dorothy Burns (died 2014)

Ferns & Kilbride (Ferns)
Register of baptisms, 1854-1925

Durrow (Ossory)

Three part books containing various anthems, canticles and other music, which belonged to
Henry Jeffrey Flower, 4th Viscount Ashbrook of Castle Durrow. A number of pieces are by
M.M Crowley, and it is likely the volumes were also transcribed by Crowley. Mathias
Crowley, who an eminent professor of music who served as organist of Durrow in the 1840s.

Holmpatrick (Dublin)

Holmpatrick: Commemorative materials marking the 150th anniversary of Holmpatrick
Church, including a booklet of photographs, a DVD with photographs by Dorothy Hyland,
and a commemorative card, 2018.

Kenure: DVD of images compiled by Dorothy Hyland to mark the 150th annivesary of
Kenure Church, 2016.

Howth (Dublin)

Copy of the published "Notes on the Ecclesiastical Antiquaries in the Parish of Howth, Co.
Dublin" by Robert Cochrane, from the Proceedings of the Royal Society of Antiquaries
Ireland, 1893.

Kildare & Newbridge Union (Kildare)

Kildare: two copies of alphabetical lists of the grave plots in St Bridget’s Graveyard c.
1917-18; Typescripts of the cathedral magazine compiled during the incumbency of the
Very Revd AD Buchannan, 1963-78; Miscellaneous papers relating to the school transport
scheme, 1977-1987.

Ballysonan: Preacher’s book, 1942-1967.

Curragh Camp: Preachers’ books, 1935-1989; Minutes of the Curragh Camp Church
Committee, with related correspondence, expenditure and income ledgers, and materials
concerning fund-raising activities to keep this church maintained. The files include copies
of the original deeds of conveyance as a Weslyian chapel (c. 1912), 1994-2012.
Kilmeague: Materials relating to Kilmeague School and the Perceval Endowment as
follows: Minute book of governors, 1897-1965; Two account books, 1942-59 and 1948-
88; loose abstracts of accounts, 1948-87; deeds and tenancy agreements concerning the
school-house, 1909- 1987; and related miscellaneous correspondence, 1897-1988.
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Kildrumferton (Kilmore)

Kildrumferton/Crosserlough: Combined registers of baptisms, marriages and burials 1801-
1939; Registers of baptisms, 1842-2018; Registers of marriages, 1845-1877; Register of
burials, 1937-2012; Vestry minute books, 1789-1988; Register of vestrymen, 1870-2005;
Account books, 1885-1926; Preachers’ books, 1853-1985; Confirmation register, 1915-
2018; Sunday School register, 1896-1900 and Miscellaneous loose papers, 1908-1988.
Ballyjamesduff: Combined register, 1875-2016; Registers of marriages, 1845-2005;
Registers of vestrymen, 1871-1990; Confirmation register, 1918-1993.

Ballymachugh: Register of baptisms, 1932-2019; Register of burials, 1884-2018; Vestry
minute book, 1944-1961; Register of vestrymen, 1870-2002

Castlerahan: Register of baptisms, 1879-2015; Register of burials, 1880-1900; Register of
vestrymen, 1870-2001

Killaloe Union

Killaloe: Register of burials, 1846-2017

Castletownarra: Register of baptisms, 1836-1961

Iniscaltra: Register of baptisms, 1851-2013 including a list of Protestants, 1855 and
confirmations, 1858, 1890 & 1898; burials, 1851-2017

Kiltenanlea: Register of baptisms, including confirmations, 1891-2009; Register of burials, 1881-
2008; Vestry minute book, 1817-1870; Account book, 1958-1971; Preachers’ book, 1967-2009
Stradbally: Register of baptisms, 1850-2016, including confirmations, 1860-1887; Register
of burials, 1850-2014; Preachers’ book, 1958-1995

Tomgraney: Register of baptisms, 1878-2008

Killymard (Raphoe)
Draft deed, being a fee-farm grant of site of Killymard School, 1823
From Canon David Crooks, Diocesan Registrar

Kilternan (Dublin)

Account book, 1944-1951; Church collection notebooks, 1868-1898; Preachers’ book,
1973-1983; Registers of church members, 1920; 1934-40; Deeds, including materials
relating to the parochial school, and various bequests, most extensively the Brennan and
Crofton bequests, 1819-1941; Sunday School registers, 1965-73; Orders of service, 1897-
1985; Annual Reports, 1891-1940; Tithe applotment returns by townland, 1831-1833;
Miscellaneous loose papers including materials relating to the burial ground and burials,
and other parish business, 1844-1951; Signed printed copy of “Kilternan” poem, read at
the Christmas tree, 1882, by Revd Edward Hughes, rector, with transcript of same; Papers
relating to the Auxiliary Fund, 1879-1884.

Mohill Union (Ardagh)

Cloon: Register of baptisms, 1880-2013; Register of burials, 1888-2012

Kilmore: Register of baptisms, 1879-1977

Kilronan: Register of baptisms, 1877-1939; Register of burials, 1877-2004

Kiltubrid: Register of baptisms, 1883-2009; Register of marriages, 1965 only; Register of
burials, 1883-2017.

Outeragh: Register of baptisms 1960 only.

Tarmonbarry: Vestry minute book, 1811-1872
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Mount Merrion, Church of the Pentecost, Belfast (Down)

Registers of marriage, 1963-1976; Vestry minute books, 1962-1994; Preachers’ books,
1956-1998; Account books, 1964-2005; Annual reports, 1966-2011; Parish magazines,
1963-2000; Miscellaneous loose papers and volumes including a secretary’s manual
detailing the role and responsibilities of incoming secretaries of the select vestry, compiled
in 1989; Index to vestry minutes, from c. 1962 and volume containing chronological lists
of clergy, officers and their roles, and members of the select vestry, 1962-1998.

Moville (Raphoe)

Moville Upper: Register of baptisms, 1875-1990; Register of marriage, 1881-1931;
Register of burials, 1984-2006; Register of vestrymen, 1870-1990

Moville Lower: Register of baptisms, 1876-2018; Registers of marriages, 1936-1955; Register
of burials, 1893-2018; Register of vestrymen, 1870-2017; Transcript volume containing copy
baptisms, 1893-1895 and notes extracted from other sources on the parish history, c. 1887-1930
Donagh: Sunday School register, 1995-2010;

Gleneely: Vestry minute book, 1988-1990.

Sandymount (Dublin)
Deeds including the act of consecration of the church, 1850-1997; Miscellaneous loose
papers, 1900-2019.

St Bartholomew (Dublin)
Orders of service, 2009-2017 including the choral evensong with ecumenical guests to
mark the 150 anniversary of the parish, 2017.

Additionally received by Dr Kenneth Milne, Church of Ireland historiographer and author of
the parish history: Printed item, being 'An Address to the Inhabitants of the New Parochial
District of S. Bartholomew, Dublin' by the Revd Arthur A. Dawson, incumbent (Dublin, 1865).

St Ann (Dublin)

Draft vestry minutes with related correspondence, created by Dr Valerie Jones, vestry
member, 2002-2013,

From Dr Heather Jones, London

Templemichael (Lismore)

Vestry minute books, 1795-1921; Tithe applotment books and accounts, 1826-1833; Copy
register of baptisms, marriages & burials, 1801-1876; Miscellaneous loose papers; 1829-1967.
From Whyte’s & Sons Auctioneers, Dublin, prior to the sale of the Mount Cashell Archive
at public auction

Taughboyne Union (Raphoe)

Taughboyne: Miscellaneous loose papers relating to the original glebe land including a copy
deed for 1823; materials relating to the Bowen and other parish endowments 1879-1930;
specifications and invoices for building the glebe house, 1880-1889; records relating to Colonel
Robertson's Schools, including indenture for a teacher's residence, 1846-1907; a faculty, 1898
and acts of institution, 1917 and 1946; with other miscellaneous items, 1823-1964.
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Craigadooish: Papers relating to 'the building of a new church at Crahadoone in the parish
of Taughboyne' commencing with a letter from the bishop of Raphoe, the Rt Revd William
Bissett, confirming the Board of First Fruits grant to building the church, in 1829, and
continuing with deeds, specifications and invoices for building, 1829-1834, with a later
summary about the Bowen Endowment which assisted the salary of the incumbent, 1885.
Killymard: Draft Fee-Farm Grant of the site for the parish school, 1823

Tullow (Dublin)
Account books, 1981-2015; Annual reports, 1990-1998; Miscellaneous loose papers
relating to finance and income, 1998-2011.

Whitechurch (Dublin)

Orders of service and other printed materials; photographs of the Big Snow in March 2018,
and speech delivered by Canon Horace McKinley at the launch of the autobiography
entitled Sailor, Airman, Spy, by Ted Hayes, parishioner, in September 2018, 2017-2019.

Youghal (Cork)

St Mary’s Youghal: Vestry minutes and related correspondence, 2008-13; Preachers’ book,
1846-1856; Youghal Protestant Relief Society records, including minute book, payments
book, reports and miscellaneous loose papers, 1883-1925; Annual reports, 1998-2006;
Visitors’ books, 1970-2009; Poor money payments book, 1848-90; Book of Remembrance
for the Festival of All Souls, 2004-10.

Castlemartyr: Register of marriages, 1845-1955; Miscellaneous papers relating to
application for conservation grant, 2001-03.

Kilcredan: Vestry minute book, 1803-36.

(ii) Cathedral Records

St Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin

Copy of the printed Souvenir Programme for the Dublin Theatre Festival, Sept.-Oct. 1962, at
which Murder in the Cathedral was performed in the cathedral, together with a copy of the
Novello Original Octavo Edition of Handel’s Messiah, originally owned by Robert
McCullagh, to which the programme of the Messiah Bicentenary, 1942, and a printed notice
about the old Music Hall, Fishamble Street are affixed, together with the original signatures
of choristers and organists who performed at this commemorative event, 14 April 1942.
From the Very Revd Niall Sloane, Limerick

(See also the entry for the Society of Friends of St Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin, in the
Manuscripts section below).

Christ Church Cathedral (Dublin & Glendalough)

Preachers’ books, 1971-85; 2008-10; 2018 only; Annual Reports, 1891-1968 inclusive;
Printed Statements of Account with Lists of Subscribers, 1869-1913; Cash receipt book for
the Restoration Appeal Fund, 1982; Receipt book for the Bishop George Otto Simms
Memorial Fund, 1994; Sunday Service Lists in bound volumes; Visitors’ Book, 1959-62; 1;
Scrapbook entitled “Restoration of Christ Church Cathedral by Henry Roe Junr. Esqr 1871-
78”’; Minute Book of the Re-Opening of Christ Church Cathedral Committee of Management,
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including correspondence from a large number of clerical and lay invitees to the —re-opening,
tickets, seating plans, and other memorabilia 1878; Scrapbook containing printed orders of
service and prayers for special occasions for various services and memorial dedications held
in the cathedral, 1881-1913; Volume of press cuttings and occasional orders of service mostly
relating to memorial services and fabric changes in the cathedral, 1908-1912; Photographs of
the chapter house excavation, 1886; Handwritten paper entitled “An Old Boy’s recollections
of the choir school as it was during the closing days of the last century”, by Wm. T. Grey,
1961; Photograph of choir and clergy, undated but early 20" century; Four catalogues of the
cathedral library and archives, 1873, 1875-1908, 1909, and undated; Condolence Book for
victims of the Manchester Bombing, 22 May 2017.

Music as follows: Organ Books, six volumes [undated, 19" century]; Organ Chant Book,
1867; 19th-century Chant Book, unbound [n.d.]; Chants Selected and Arranged by James
F. Fitzgerald, Organist & Master of the Choristers, 1907; Copy of Fitzgerald Chant Book
by the Revd Robert J. Ross, 1930; Order for Morning & Evening Prayer Throughout the
Year (score book), 1858; Limited Edition Printed Music, as follows: Cathedral Music
Selected and Carefully Revised by William Boyce, Vol. 1 only, 1760; Cathedral Music
Selected by Samuel Arnold, Vols 1,2 & 3, 1790; Registers of Daily Services and Anthems,
recording daily music sung throughout each year, for each year 1846-1853 inclusive;
Catalogues and index of anthems with authors alphabetically arranged, 1821; Catalogue of
music in use at the cathedral, [n.d. 20th century].

Kildare Cathedral (Kildare)

Miscellaneous papers including correspondence with plans about heating and lighting,
1936-86; copies of survey drawings, mid-1980s; extensive materials relating to the
Restoration Fund, 1986-88; and B&W aerial photographs of the cathedral taken from a
military plane, undated [1970s or 1980s?]. Additionally, printed Festival Books of the
music and order for the annual service of the Kildare and Glendalough Diocesan Choral
Association, held each year in Kildare Cathedral, incomplete run, 1912-1939.

Limerick Cathedral (Limerick)
Service Sheets and Concert Programmes, 2016-2019; Doorways: The Newsletter of the
Friends of St Mary’s Cathedral, vol. 1,2018

(iii) Diocesan Records

Ardagh

Board of Education income and expenditure account book, 1914-88; Mary Murray Charity
records including minute book, 1906-2003; cash book, 1906-2007 and miscellaneous loose
papers, 1965-2002

From the family of the late Dorothy Burns (died 2014)

Kilmore

Board of Religious Education account book, 1904-1984
From the Revd Simon Scott, Kildrumferton Rectory
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(iv) General Synod Records

Board of Education (N.I.)
Two ledgers of accounts, 1961-2007 and 2008-1016

(v) Representative Church Body Records

Handwritten volume entitled “Index of Cases before the Legal Committee and other
papers” containing an alphabetical list of cases, some of which relate to volumes Legal
Opinions, undated, covering 1873-1892.

File of correspondence and related opinions concerning the request of the Roman Catholic
Archbishop of Cashel’s special request to conduct a high mass and preach a sermon on the
Rock of Cashel, February-April 1961.

Papers collated arising from the meeting of the Legal Advisory Committee’s meeting to
discuss the three questions raised by way of motion passed at the General Synod on 16
May 2000 relating to the governance of the Theological College, 18 October 2000

From Church of Ireland House, Dublin

2. MANUSCRIPTS

Athey, Canon Rowland (1898-1956), Incumbent of Trim, 1933-56

Sermon preached in two parts, at St Patrick’s Church, Trim, on St Patrick’s Day and the
5% Sunday in Lent, 17 and 18 March 1934, by the rector Canon Athey, together with a
photograph of Athey at his desk, undated.

From his daughter, Elizabeth Rushton, Edmonton, Canada

Baird, Venerable Thomas (1883-1967)

Collection of correspondence, dated 1906 concerning his training and ordination, together
with a copy of baptismal certificate, 1883, his Trinity degree certificates, 1904 & 1906,
episcopal mandates and letters of appointment documenting the clerical career of Canon
Thomas Baird, who variously served as rector of St Augustine’s Londonderry, 1909-18
and Camus-juxta-Mourne, 1918-56, and archdeacon of Derry, 1932-55, with teacher’s
agreements for staff at Abercorn School, Strabane, 1918-51.

From Canon David Crooks, Diocesan Registrar, Derry & Raphoe

Bennet, Revd John (1853-1923)

Family bible of the Revd John Bennet, ordained deacon in Leighlin church on 3 August
1883, and which passed to his son William Ryland Rainsford Moore Bennet, containing
details of the Bennet family of Pontzpass, Co. Armagh and the Moore family of Terenure
Co. Dublin. Bennet married Mary Moore in 1881.

From Olive Buckley, Doneraile, Co. Cork
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Chavasse, Revd Canon Claude Lionel (1897-1983)

Correspondence received by Chavasse following his decision to go forward for holy orders,
1927-32; and later as rector of Baltinglass & Ballynure with Stratford-on-Slaney (Leighlin),
1960-67 revealing deep ecumenical relationships with the monks at Bolton Castle, Moone,
Co. Kildare; Presentation College, Carlow and the Presentation Sisters at Baltinglass, with
three scrapbooks of press cuttings kept throughout his career, including articles or letters by
him on ministry, ecumenism and remarriage after divorce, as published, sometimes with
letters of response from other correspondents interleaved, 1938-1980.

From his daughter, Mrs Gabrielle McCracken, Kilmarnock, Scotland

Church of Ireland Theological College/Institute

Preachers’ Books, from the Theological College (which became the Institute in 2009)
Sacristy, 1998-2002; 2002-06; 2006-10; 2010-19.

From The Theological Institute

Friends of St Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin, Society of

Minute book of the Council of the Society of the Friends of St Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin,
with  copies of the printed annual report interleaved, 1945-1982
From St Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin

French Huguenot Fund

Accounts, administrative papers, and correspondence, including correspondence to and
from annuitants, and other applicants for financial support, 1908-1997; also a file of
materials including correspondence, plans and photographs relating to the administration
and maintenance of the Huguenot Cemetery, Merrion Row, by the French Huguenot Fund,
during the treasurership of Derek Pearson, 1965-1998.

From Tim Pearson, son of the late Derek Pearson, Co. Dublin.

Irish Clergy Sons Education Society
Minute Book, 1953-1978
From St Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin

Gilmartin, Dr John Patrick Maiben (1939-2019)

Papers including research notes, photographs, correspondence, some drawings, daily
diaries, pedigrees and family materials spanning his career as an art historian and as
president of both the Friends of the National Collections of Ireland, 2005-2008 and of the
Huguenot Society of Great Britain (Irish Section) from 2011.

From his executors

High Support Special School, Kilkenny

Miscellaneous administrative files and roll books, late 20 century and to 2019
From the Bishop of Cashel, Ferns & Ossory
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Jones, Dr Valerie (1943-2014), Dublin & Glendalough Diocesan Communications
Officer, 1991-2003

Files including press releases and draft statements during Dr Jones’ time as diocesan
communications officer between 1991 and 2003; photographs of ordinations and other
diocesan events and services; together with media training lectures and guidelines for clergy;
papers relating to her membership of the Board of the Church of Ireland Gazette, from 2006,
her research interest in Colaiste Moibhi; her membership of the diocesan synod; General Synod
and church organizations including Cumann Gaelach na hEaglaise and Changing Attitude.
From her daughter, Dr Heather Jones, London

Kirwan House, Dublin

Original copy of the Hibernian Chronicle newspaper containing details of the charity
sermons preached for female orphans by the Rev. Walter Blake Kirwan and others, 29
February, 1796; and draft and printed copies of the final printed Scheme for the regulation
of the charity known as Kirwan and Pleasants School incorporated under the name of the
Female Orphan House, North Circular Road, dated 14 July 1958.

From Mrs Daphne Rowell (nee Carter), Dublin

Legge, Curtis and Wilkinson Family

Family bible that originally belonged to Jeremiah Legge, Clonegam Co. Waterford, who
married Mary Curtis, on 25 May 1829, and subsequently including the genealogical details
of members of the Wilkinson family of Birr, and later Mitchelstown, Co. Cork, 1829-1937.
From Mrs Hazel Crawford, Dublin

Lougheed, Canon Brian Frederick Britain (1938-)

Collection of annual personal diaries, documenting his entire life and clerical career as a curate
in St Peter’s with St Audoen’s (Dublin) from 1961-63, Glenageary (Dublin) from 1963-66, as
rector of Rathmolyon (Meath) , 1966-79 and finally as rector of Killarney, Aghadoe &
Muckross, 1979-2004, 1961-2017; also a visiting book whilst curate in Glenageary, 1963-66;
clerical expenses account book,1984-2004 and miscellaneous photographs.

From Canon Brian Lougheed, Killarney, Co. Kerry

MacCarthy, Robert; Dean of St Patrick’s Cathedral, Dublin, 1999-2012

Letter from Edwin Owen (former Bishop of Limerick) concerning proposal for Mass in St
Patrick’s cathedral, Dublin, undated.

From the Revd Robert MacCarthy, Dublin

McClay, David Alexander, Bishop of Down & Dromore 2020-

Extensive collection of over 1,700 sermons, with index, preached throughout his ministry
to date as curate in Magheralin with Dollingstown, 1987-1990, rector of Kilkeel, 1990—
2001, rector of Willowfield Belfast, 2001-18, with additional roles as priest—in—charge of
Mount Merrion, Belfast, 2007-2011, and curate—in—charge of St Clement’s (Belfast) 2015-
20; together with working papers on leadership and developing the ministry of Willowfield
parish, and related papers, 1987-2018.

From the Rt Revd David McClay, then Bishop Elect of Down & Dromore
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Merchant Tailors’ School, Dublin
Governors’ Minute Book, with incoming correspondence interleaved, 1888-1933
From Mr Arthur Moran, Trustee, Co. Dublin

Mount Merrion (Belfast), Church of the Pentecost

Lectern bible inscribed as a memorial to the life of David Walsh, Select Vestry member
and parish groundsman, detailing his life and contribution to the parish, dedicated in
recognition of his faith witness in the service of the parish, and including the names and
deaths of other prominent members of the Select Vestry, 16 March 1969.
From parish custody

Murlough House (Dromore)

Minute book of the executive committee and annual meeting of the governing body of
Murlough House, Murlough Bay, Dundrum, Co. Down, established as a place of spiritual
retreat, 1958-1974; and additionally, loose handwritten notes about ecumenical matters,
and typescripts of the annual study conference papers 1958-1962.

Volume from the Revd Brian Cadden, Castlewellan (Dromore); and loose papers from
Canon David Crooks, Taughboyne (Raphoe)

Parkes, Susan M. MA, M Litt., FTCD

Papers relating to Church of Ireland national school teacher training in Ireland, including
research notes, correspondence, photographs and printed materials.

1966-2019.

From Dr Susan M. Parkes

Phair, Revd Edgar Neville

Wedding photographs of the Revd E.N. Phair, staff chaplain in the RAF and son of the Rt
Revd John Percy Phair, bishop of Ossory, with Norma Valerie Crozier, at Rathmichael
church (Dublin), 29 April 1946. Bishop Phair officiated at the wedding.

From Mrs Claire Kelly (nee Fenlon), Ashford, Co. Wicklow

Protestant Orphan Society
Administrative files, 1996-2018.
From Ms Jennifer O’Regan, Administrator, POS Children’s Education Fund, Dublin

Ross, Canon Robert James (1909-1980)

Collection of episcopal mandates and letters of appointment documenting the clerical
career of Canon RJ Ross, who served variously as clerical vicar in Christ Church Cathedral,
Dublin, and as Master of the Grammar School of same, and Principal of the Church of
Ireland Training College, 1952-77, and later as Treasurer and then Chancellor of Christ
Church Cathedral, Dublin, 1936-1963.

From his brother-in-law, Cecil Medcalf, Dublin
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Scrapbook Containing Military Images in Rawalpindi, India

Scrapbook containing mostly copied ephemera relating to Dublin city, but with original
photographs of members of the K.R. Rifles, and other Indian scenes in Rawalpindi, c. 1901.
Includes signed notes on the rules of handball by the GAA by Rifleman E. Gillis, some
tables, and later confirmation cards of John J. Stevenson and Christina F. Gillis, confirmed
in St Werburgh’s, Dublin (1929 & 1932).

From the Venerable David Pierpoint, Christ Church Cathedral Group of Parishes (Dublin)

Semple, Patrick (b. 1939)

Personal memoir of the Revd Patrick Semple, in typescript, entitled “The Way and the
How”, charting his faith journey from Church of Ireland priest to Atheism, 1939-2019,
together with 29 unpublished poems and two fictional essays entitled “Hope Springs
Eternal” and “The Law”.

From Patrick Semple, Monkstown, Co. Dublin

Wormell, Daphne (formerly Wallace) (1916-2001)

Scrapbooks containing photographs, letters, invitations, photographs, drawings,
programmes, orders of service, and other materials either created, received or assembled
by champion of the ordination of women to the priesthood of the Church of Ireland, as
founder and chair of the Women's Ministry Group; founding member of the Irish Pre-
School Playgroup Association; wife and mother, 1905-2001.

From her daughter, Julia Turner, Canada, and her son, Stephen Wormell, Bray, Co. Dublin,
2019

3. OTHER MATERIALS

Lantern Slides

Collection of 13 glass plate lantern slides of excavations of graves in St Peter’s burial
ground, Aungier Street (Dublin). Further research has determined these original images
record the ultimately unsuccessful search for the remains of Robert Emmet (1778-1803)
around the time of the 100t anniversary of his execution - in 1903. The parish vestry minute
books record a request for permission ‘to open the ground covering the Emmett [sic] vault
in the Church Yard’ in March 1903.

From Colin O’Riordan, a photographer for Independent News Media, Dublin

Collection of 27 glass plate lantern slides of various churches and cathedrals principally in

the diocese of Leighlin but also Kildare and Osssory, c. 1930
From the Dean of Ossory, the Very Revd David MacDonnell
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APPENDIX K

FUNDS RECEIVED BY THE REPRESENTATIVE CHURCH BODY IN 2019

TO BE HELD IN TRUST FOR PARISHES, DIOCESES ETC

Archbishops Choir Fund - Piano Appeal Fund
Archbishops Choir Fund - Proceeds Organ Recitals
Arthur, Doreen

Ayre, Maria Johnston

Barkman, Josephine

Bishop Stearne's Charities (additional)

Carr, Sarah Jane

Carter, John

Case, Tom

County Clare Protestant Orphan Society

Cox, Joseph & Olivia (additional)

Cox, Olivia (additional)

Crotty, Rev AE (additional)

Donegal Protestant Orphan Society (additional)
Dublin & Glendalough Dioc Bd of Ed General Account (addtl)
General Parish Funds - Lisburn St Paul (Connor)
Henderson, Freda

Hunter, Ruby

Hutton Bury, Bly Mildred

Johnston / Moore

Limerick Killaloe & Ardfert Contingency Fund (additional)
McCrea, Dollores

Melbourne, Samuel (additional)

Mothers Union of Ireland Centenary Fund (additional)
Oliver, Noreen

Orr, Elizabeth

Parish Funds - Clooney (Derry)

Parish Funds - Dundalk (Armagh)

Parish Funds - Kilbride (Connor)

Parish Funds - Kilternan (Dublin)

Parish Funds - Scarva (Dromore)

Parochial Funds - Donoughmore (Glendalough) (additional)
Parochial Funds - Saul (Down)

Poston, Robert

Robertson Endowments Raphoe Diocese

Sundry Trusts - Kildrumferton (Kilmore)

Sweetman, Victor

Trustees St Marks Parish Church - Dundela (Down)
Webb, Ven WP (additional)

Willmott, Richard (additional)
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€ £
2,600.00
3,012.30
8,958.24
2,500.00
25,000.00
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